
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
Regular Council Meeting 

Agenda 
Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 

Thursday February 13, 2020 scheduled to start at 7:00pm 
 

 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Prayer 

 
3. Adoption of Agenda 

 
4. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 

a) 2020.01.09 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Public Hearing:  
a) Proposed Land Use Bylaw #192-2019 
b) Associated Map 

 
6. Delegations: 

a) Steve & Melissa Lybbert – Library Manager Termination 
i. Patricia Michel letter 
ii. Barb Michel letter 
iii. Myrna Layton letter 
iv. Debbie Rowley letter 
v. Twylla Oviatt letter 

 
7. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 

a) Resolution to support online GIS system purchase at ORRSC 
i. Project Description - 2020 Grant 
ii. ACP Council Resolution GIS 2020 

b) Replace damaged headstone at the Cemetery $2600 plus GST – not covered by 
insurance 

c) Tax Installment Payment Plan Bylaw Approval 
 

8. Councillor Reports: 
 

9. CAO Report: 
 

10. Financial Reports: 
a) Accounts Payable Cheques for January 2020 (attachment corrected 3.23.2020) 

 
11. Correspondence: 

a) 2019 AlbertaSW Board Minutes 12-04 approved 
b) 2020 AlbertaSW Board Minutes 01-08 approved 



Page 2 of 2 

c) 2020-01 Bulletin AlbertaSW 
d) 2020-02 Bulletin AlbertaSW 
e) AHS MOH Information for Municipalities EET cover letter_Final 
f) Assessment Year Modifier (AYM) Tables 
g) Board Report - December 2019 
h) DM Signed Letter to CAO'S_AR 99654 
i) February 7, 2020 Highway 3 TDA Report by Bill Chapman 
j) January 3, 2020 M&R Minutes 
k) Letter Minister Schweitzer - Policing 
l) M&R Agenda,February 7, 2020 
m) Mayors and Reeves December 2019 - SouthGrow 
n) Mayors and Reeves January 2020 
o) Message from the Minister 
p) Minister letter to Mayors and Reeves 
q) MINUTES Jan 9, 2020 
r) ORRSC Executive Minutes - November 21 2019 
s) Resource - Legalization EET-Information for Municipalities- final 
t) RMA District Update - February 2020 
u) Update to Mayors & Reeves February 7, 2020 

 
12. Adjournment: 





11:33:42AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-23Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20190558 2020-01-02 GOETZ , CALVIN


 20190574 2020-01-23 HOLTHE, ELIZABETH REPL-20190563 Replacement Cheque  650.00  650.00


REPL-20190563 Replacement Cheque


 20190575 2020-01-23 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL SERVICES CORPORATION PAYMENT  4,198.33


20-1032151 2020 UTILITIES  4,198.33 


 20190576 2020-01-23 ALBERTA SERVICE - LAND TITLES PAYMENT  20.00


ROLL 8300 LAND TITLE CHECK  20.00 


 20190577 2020-01-23 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD PAYMENT  1,477.16


0172-10 JAN EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  1,477.16 


 20190578 2020-01-23 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  895.55


2020 - JAN LGAA MEMBERSHIP & CONF., OFFICE  895.55 


 20190579 2020-01-23 AUMA PAYMENT  1,155.29


20200226 AUMA MEMBERSHIP  1,155.29 


 20190580 2020-01-23 CAMPBELL, MARILEE PAYMENT  58.68


2020-01-31 PULL CART & HASPS  58.68 


 20190581 2020-01-23 CARDSTON COUNTY PAYMENT  4,050.48


IVC000000018227 TRANSFER STATION  4,050.48 


 20190582 2020-01-23 ELEMENT MATERIALS TECH. CANADA INC. PAYMENT  204.25


20-1152822 WATER SAMPLE  204.25 


 20190583 2020-01-23 ELIAS, ALBERT PAYMENT  141.52


2020-01-31 COUNCIL TRAVEL  141.52 


 20190584 2020-01-23 HAGEN ELECTRIC LTD. PAYMENT  2,070.85


75188 ANNUAL TURBINE SERVICE  2,070.85 


 20190585 2020-01-23 KINAHAN, CARRIE PAYMENT  160.22


2020 - JAN WTP., COM. HALL, OFFICE  160.22 


 20190586 2020-01-23 MUNICIPAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC. PAYMENT  714.02


20192122 2020 JAN SUPPORT  304.51 


20192331 2020 FEB SUPPORT  304.51 


20192363 ACCOUNTING ASSISTANCE  105.00 


 20190587 2020-01-23 OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMM. PAYMENT  2,478.26


10839 JAN-MAR-2020 PLANNING SERVICE  784.50 


10901 GIS 2020 FEES  1,693.76 


 20190588 2020-01-23 PUROLATOR PAYMENT  236.20


443526780 POSTAGE FOR ACCUFLO METER  236.20 


 20190589 2020-01-23 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  220.36


5008428396 01/29/2020 -02/28/2020  220.36 


 20190590 2020-01-23 WORKER'S COMPENSATION BOARD - ALBERTA PAYMENT  708.52


2415607 JAN-MAR INSTALLMENT  708.52 


 20190592 2020-01-30 HUNSPERGER, PERRY


 20190593 2020-01-30 EDWARDS, JANET


 20190594 2020-01-30 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20190595 2020-01-30 GOETZ , CALVIN


 20190596 2020-01-30 CARTER, GERALD


 20190597 2020-01-30 ELIAS, JONAS


 20190598 2020-01-30 LYBBERT, BART


 20190599 2020-01-30 LYBBERT, MYRON


 20190600 2020-01-30 ROLFSON, DAVID


 20190601 2020-01-30 CAMPBELL, ELIZA M



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190559-20190573 on December 2019 cheque listing



CAO

Typewritten Text

20190591 - on December 2019 cheque listing



CAO

Typewritten Text



CAO

Typewritten Text







11:33:42AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-23Cheque Listing For Council


Page 2 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


*** End of Report ***


Total  31,511.58












 1 


 


Alberta SouthWest Regional Alliance 
Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting 


Wednesday December 4, 2019 –Provincial Buiding, Pincher Creek 
 


 Board Representatives 


Barney Reeves, Waterton Park 


Brent Feyter, Fort Macleod 


Scott Korbett, Pincher Creek 


Jim Bester, Cardston County  


Dennis Barnes, Cardston 


Brad Schlossberger, Claresholm 


 


 


Terry Yagos, MD Pincher Creek  


Ron Davis, MD Ranchland 


Blair Painter, Crowsnest Pass 


Dale Gugala, Stavely 


Resource Staff and Guests 


Bev Thornton, Executive Director, AlbertaSW  


 


1.  Call to Order and welcome- Executive Director called the meeting to order. 


2.  Election of Officers Executive Director called for nominations for the position of Chair. 


Scott Korbett nominated Barney Reeves. 


Dale Gugala moved THAT nominations cease. 


Carried. [2019-12-664] 


Barney Reeves named Chair for 2019-2020. 


 


The Chair called for nominations for the position of Vice-Chair 


Dennis Barnes nominated Jim Bester. 


Brad Schlossberger nominated Brent Feyter. 


Blair Painter moved THAT nominations cease. 


Carried. [2019-12-665] 


Ballot vote named Jim Bester Vice-Chair for 2019-2020. 


 


The Chair called for nominations for the position of Secretary 


Treasurer. 


Dale Gugala nominated Scott Korbett. 


Jim Bester moved THAT nominations cease. 


Carried. [2019-12-666] 


Scott Korbett name Secretary Treasurer 2019-2020 


 


Moved by Blair THAT Brent Feyter be appointed as the additional 


Designated Signing Authority. 


Carried. [2019-12-667] 


 


3.  Approval of Agenda Moved by Scott Korbett THAT the agenda be approved as presented.  


Carried. [2019-12-668] 


 


4.  Approval of Minutes  


 


Moved by Dennis Barnes THAT the minutes of November 6, 2019 be 


approved as presented. 


Carried. [2019-12-669] 


 


5.  Approval of Cheque Register Moved by Scott Korbett THAT cheques #2712 to #2727 be approved 


as presented. 


Carried. [2019-12-670] 


 







 2 


6.  Regional Business License 


 


Board representatives will deliver new 2020 stickers, brochures and 


posters to their municipal offices. In 2020 we will look at posting the 


list of regional licences on the website. 


 


7.  Summer promotional activities  Moved by Scott Korbett THAT AlbertaSW place a display ad of 


AlbertaSW communities on the back cover of the Waterton Guide. 


Carried. [2019-12-671] 


-  


8.  Labour Market Partnership- AlbertaSW will be a supporting partner in the Labour Market 


Proposal led by Lethbridge College to conduct a labour market 


survey. Community Futures Alberta Southwest will contribute 


funding to the project on behalf of the region. 


 


9.  CARES application AlbertaSW has submitted a CARES application for a project titled 


“Building A Successful Tourism Investment Opportunity Network”. 


 


10.  Broadband request-Service Alberta Municipalities are receiving information requests from the province. 


AlbertaSW has reports and information on file that may be helpful. 


 


11.  REDA Chairs meeting with Minister  On December 17th there will be a conference call with the REDA 


Chairs and Managers and The Hon. Tanya Fir, Minister of Alberta 


Economic Development Trade and Tourism. A briefing package has 


been sent to her office and a presentation is prepared. 


 


12.  SouthGrow Quarterly Meeting AlbertaSW Board is invited to join this Board meeting on the evening 


of December 12, 2019 in Lethbridge. 


 


13.  Executive Director Report 


 


Accepted as information. 


 


14.    Round table updates Accepted as information. 


 


 


15.    Board Meetings: 


 


➢ January 1 meeting rescheduled to January 8, 2020-Nanton  


➢ February 5, 2020-TBD 


➢ March 4, 2020-TBD 


Suggested that AGM 2020 be held in Crowsnest Pass 


 


16.    Adjournment  


 


Moved by Blair Painter THAT the meeting be adjourned.  


Carried. [2019-12-672] 


 


    


  Chair 


Approved January 8, 2020 


 


  


  Secretary/Treasurer 
 


 


 








 1 


 


Alberta SouthWest Regional Alliance 
Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting 


Wednesday January 8, 2020 –Fire Department Meeting Room, Nanton 
 


 Board Representatives 


Barney Reeves, Waterton Park 


Brent Feyter, Fort Macleod 


Scott Korbett, Pincher Creek 


Jim Bester, Cardston County  


Brad Schlossberger, Claresholm 


Beryl West, Nanton 


Rick Lemire, MD Pincher Creek 


Albert Elias, Glenwood 


 


Resource Staff and Guests 


Deb Welsh, CAO MD Ranchland 


Shalane Friesen, Alberta Parks 


Yvonne Chau, Travel Alberta 


Levi Feyter, Fort Macleod 


Tony Walker, CFABSW 


Bev Thornton, Executive Director, AlbertaSW  


 


1.  Call to Order and Welcome Chair, Barney Reeves, called the meeting to order. 


2.  Approval of Agenda Correspondence from Town of Granum added as item 8 . 


Moved by Scott Korbett THAT the agenda be approved as amended. 


Carried. [2020-01-673] 


 


3.  Approval of Minutes  


 


Moved by Brad Schlossberger THAT the minutes of December 4, 


2019 be approved as presented. 


Carried. [2020-01-674] 


 


4.  Approval of Cheque Register Moved by Rick Lemire THAT cheques #2728 to #2739be approved as 


presented. 


Carried. [2020-01-675] 


 


5.  EDA Leadership Forum 


 


Moved by Brad Schlossberger THAT the Board formally approve the 


consensus, reached by e-mail, to be a $350 sponsor of the EDA 


Leadership Summit to be held in Calgary on May 8, 2020. 


Carried. [2020-01-676] 


 


6.  Travel Alberta Update  Yvonne Chau provided an overview of the Travel Alberta Annual 


Report and the 10-Year Tourism Strategy Development plan which 


includes stakeholder engagement sessions and on-line survey  


Bev will forward information to our communities and businesses. 


-  


7.  REDA Chairs Meeting with Minister A conference call with The Hon. Tanya Fir included a presentation 


from the REDAs and question/answer with the Minister and MLAs. 


 


8.  Town of Granum The community has voted to become pat of the MD of Willow Creek. 


Bev will follow up with CAO and Board representative. 


 


9.  Financial and Operations Summary Board reviewed a summary of finances and projects as completed in 


the first 3 quarters of the year. All is on track, according to plan. 


 


10.  Energizing Agricultural 


Transformation  


The Resource Round Table met for the second time on the afternoon 


of January 8, 2020. InnoVisions and Associates presented a “what we 







 2 


Heard” report, summarizing interviews and research completed to 


date. Contact Bev if you would like a copy of the presentation. 


 


11.  EDA Conference 2020 Moved by Jim Bester THAT AlbertaSW pay the registration fee for 


up to 4 Board representatives to attend. 


Carried. [2020-01-677] 


 


12.  Update from meetings: 


o Mayors and Reeves 


o Highway 3 Twinning 


 


Accepted as information. 


 


13.  Executive Director Report Accepted as information. 


 


14.  Round table updates Accepted as information. 


 


 


15.  Board Meetings: 


 


➢ February 5, 2020-Fort Macleod 


➢ March 4, 2020-Stavely 


April 1, 2020: NO MEETING (EDA conference begins April 1) 


May 6, 2020-TBD 


June 3, 2020-AGM-tentatively Crowsnest Pass 


 


16.    Adjournment  


 


Moved by Brent Feyter THAT the meeting be adjourned.  


Carried. [2020-01-678] 


 


    


  Chair 


Approved February 5, 2020 


 


  


  Secretary/Treasurer 
 


 


 








Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development Alliance 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC) Accredited Economic Development Organization (AEDO) 


Green Destinations Top 100 Sustainable Global Tourism Destination 
Box 1041 Pincher Creek AB T0K 1W0 
403-627-3373 (office) 403-627-0244 (cell) 
bev@albertasouthwest.com 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


Alberta SouthWest Bulletin January 2020 
                     Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA) Update 


 


Regional Business License Program 
AlbertaSW Regional Business License Program, in place since 2003, will be entering its 18th year of 


successful operation. Businesses in the partner communities are eligible to purchase a regional 


sticker, which is added on to the regular municipal license, to support doing business in 


AlbertaSW communities without paying an out-of-town fee. 363 licenses were purchased in 2019.  


(The municipality keeps a portion of the fee and remits the balance to support regional projects.)  
 


“Energizing Agricultural Transformation” (EAT) Resource Roundtable met January 8, 2020 


InnoVisions and Associates summarized research and interviews, to date, providing a 


comprehensive “What we heard” report. The conversations moved to identifying next steps, 


short term tactics and longer-term strategies.  


Also: Alberta Ag and Forestry is conducting “Farmer-led Research” sessions and providing an 


opportunity for on-line input. More information at https://www.alberta.ca/farmer-led-research-engagement.aspx  
 


Alberta 10-Year Tourism Strategy Stakeholder Survey closes January 17, 2020 


Travel Alberta, in partnership with the Ministry of Economic Development, Trade and Tourism, is developing a 10-


Year Tourism Strategy (10YTS) for the province. The primary goal is to grow business and new destinations by 


attracting more private sector investment to create jobs and grow the visitor economy to $20 billion by 2030.  


As part of the process, tourism stakeholders are invited to share perspectives on challenges and opportunities to 


building Alberta’s tourism industry by participating in a survey that will take about 15 minutes to complete.  


https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/10YearTourismStrategy 
 


SAAEP Renewable Energy Economic Impact Report released in December and receives positive attention 


The Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Partnership (SAAEP), which includes AlbertaSW, SouthGrow and 


Economic Development Lethbridge, commissioned a report to quantify the value of current renewable projects in 


southern Alberta. The report calculated the projected regional economic benefits of 9 renewable energy projects (3 


wind and 6 solar) that are under construction or anticipated to begin in 2020 and 2021. This investment of about 


$1.56B, will generate economic impacts of $239M from taxes, land leases, employment, supplies and services from 


now until 2022. Enjoy the full report at www.saaep.ca under the “About Us” tab. 


 


“Invest in Alberta” magazine 2020 is available in hard copy and two on-line versions 


The magazine features stories about activities and opportunities in the regions, 


communities and projects in Alberta. (“Peaks to Prairies” display ad on page 88!) 


Flip through the pages of the magazine at http://www.edaalberta.ca/Invest-In-Alberta  


or visit the microsite at https://investalbertamag.ca/ 
 


Economic Developers Alberta (EDA) Conference 


The annual conference will be held in Kananaskis, April 1-3, 2020.  


Early bird registration until January 18, 2020. 


This is a valuable learning and networking opportunity for elected officials and municipal 


staff as well as economic development professionals. Information about the 


conference can be found at www.edaalberta.ca 



mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

https://www.alberta.ca/farmer-led-research-engagement.aspx

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/10YearTourismStrategy

http://www.saaep.ca/

http://www.edaalberta.ca/Invest-In-Alberta

https://investalbertamag.ca/

http://www.edaalberta.ca/






Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development Alliance 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC) Accredited Economic Development Organization (AEDO) 


Green Destinations Top 100 Sustainable Global Tourism Destination 
Box 1041 Pincher Creek AB T0K 1W0 
403-627-3373 (office) 403-627-0244 (cell) 
bev@albertasouthwest.com 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


Alberta SouthWest Bulletin February 2020 
Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA) Update 


 


❖ Meeting with Livingstone-Macleod MLA 
AlbertaSW was pleased to welcome MLA Roger Reid to join the board meeting on February 5. He shared some 


important perspectives from the province. The discussion, covering a wide range of topics and issues, served to 


identify common goals and shared vision for the region. AlbertaSW looks forward to working with “MLA #935” … 


yes, another interesting fact of the evening: Roger is the 935th MLA to be elected in the province of Alberta! 
 


❖ “Energizing Agricultural Transformation” (EAT) Resource Roundtable  


The second “Resource Round Table” meeting was an opportunity to review the extensive research conducted by 


InnoVisions and Associates. Below are some key points gathered from those interviewed. 


Top five challenges facing agri-businesses in AlbertaSW: 
1) Labour Availability (51% of respondents); 


2) Government Policies and Regulations (40%); 


3) Access to Market (40%); 


4) Lack of data (10%);  


5) The cost of new technology (9%) . 


Top five identified opportunities in the ag-industry: 
1) Increasing trend to “buy local” (40%); 


2) Increasing interest in, and consumer demand for, plant proteins (40%); 


3) Collaboration and sharing of knowledge – peer groups to help productivity (21%);  


4) Increasing interest/awareness of environmental stewardship (20%). 


5) A majority of respondents (60%) offered a variety opportunity of ideas, such as: leverage assets; form academic/industry 


partnerships and support further innovation, technology, research and development. 


Please contact bev@albertasouthwest.com to request a copy of the full report. 
 


❖ SouthWest Succession Partnership: a NEW initiative of AlbertaSW, Community Futures Crowsnest Pass and 


Community Futures Southwest … combining resources to meet the following objectives:  


o Provide education on succession planning fundamentals to support business continuity;  


o Raise awareness, attract investors and help businesses and farms for sale to be matched with the right buyer. 


SXNM SuccessionMatching Ltd. has been engaged to help facilitate buyer-seller introductions, as well as 


o Design and deliver a Succession Planning Summit: one week of on-line webinars; 


o Design and deliver a business continuity workshop (proposed: March 24th) in a location to be determined; 


o Schedule one-on-one coaching with identified businesses; 


o Provide coupon codes and support for on-line buyer-seller matching. 


Contact bev@albertasouthwest.com for more details and find out how to participate. 
 


❖ Economic Developers Alberta (EDA) Conference … April 1-3, 2020 in Kananaskis  www.edaalberta.ca 
 


❖ Business of Outdoor Recreation Summit …September 14-16, 2020, Civic Center, Great Falls, Montana. 


o The inaugural Summit, initiated by the Montana Governor’s office in December 2018, was a great success.  


o In 2019 the event was held as a “Recreation Innovation Lab” to operationalize the key learnings from 2018.  


o The 2020 event will be an enhanced, full format Summit. The Montana Office of Outdoor Recreation, the Crown 


of the Continent Geotourism Council and the Montana Trails Coalition are co-hosting.  


The Summit is in the planning stages, so please mark your calendar and watch for details! 



mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.edaalberta.ca/

https://crownofthecontinent.natgeotourism.com/

https://crownofthecontinent.natgeotourism.com/

https://www.montanatrailscoalition.org/






 
 


Medical Officer of Health 


801 – 1 Avenue South 
Lethbridge, AB   T1J 4L5  
 


Telephone: 403-388-6007    
Facsimile: 403-320-0145    


 
 


 


January 10, 2020 
 
Dear Municipal Elected Officials and Leaders  
 
Re: Legalization of Edibles, Extracts and Topicals (EET) - Information for Municipalities 
 
I am pleased to provide you with the attached resource titled: Phase Two of Cannabis Legalization - 
Edibles, Extracts and Topicals, Public Health Information for Municipalities.  Phase 2 of the federal 
government plan to legalize and regulate Edibles, Extracts and Topical (EET) forms of cannabis began 
on October 17, 2019, when the Cannabis Act was amended. Legal EET products are expected to be 
available in regulated cannabis retail stores by mid-January 2020. The legalization of EETs, three new 
and/or expanded classes of cannabis products, will have an impact on your existing local bylaws 
regarding consumption of cannabis in public places.   
 
Alberta Health Services (AHS) advises that a precautionary approach be taken to minimize substance 
use harms and unintended consequences. This approach recognizes that it is easier to relax or 
remove restrictions at a later date than to tighten them after decisions have been announced, bylaws 
have been enacted, and investments have been made. This precautionary approach is consistent with 
the recommendations of the Federal Task Force on the Legalization and Regulation of Cannabis 
(Government of Canada, 2016). It applies the wisdom and lessons learned from alcohol and tobacco 
policy, which is to begin with more restrictive regulations and ease restrictions only as evidence 
becomes available.   
 
AHS has developed the attached resource for municipalities to provide relevant information to assist 
in developing or revising local bylaws.  This document outlines how EET may impact local regulations 
and how you can use this opportunity to strengthen or create new bylaws, based on a public health 
approach. It addresses consumption in public places, medical exemptions, multi-unit housing and 
festivals.    
 
The location, method and accumulated volume of cannabis consumption can create a number of 
concerns, including increased youth access and increased normalization among youth due to 
increased visibility and exposure. Public consumption bylaws have the potential to protect the 
community and its citizens. Effective regulation, as identified in the intent behind federal legalization, 
supports federal and provincial goals to keep cannabis out of the hands of youth and to protect public 
health and safety. 
 


AHS recognizes municipalities as important partners in public health. If you would like more 
information or support as you and your Council consider the impact of EET on your local bylaws, 
please feel free to contact me directly.   
 
Sincerely, 


 
 
 
 
 


Shobhit Maruti, MD, MPH, FRCPC, DABPM 
Medical Officer of Health, South Zone 
Alberta Health Services 
 
Attached:  Phase Two of Cannabis Legalization - Edibles, Extracts and Topicals, Public Health 
Information for Municipalities 








 
 
 
Attachment – Assessment Year Modifier (AYM) Tables 
 


Property Type 2018 Assessment 
Year (2019 Tax 


Year) AYM 


2019 Assessment 
Year  (2020 Tax Year) 


AYM 


Percent 
Change 


Wells 1.200 1.192 -0.67 
Pipelines 1.019 1.024 0.49 
Electric Power Systems 1.470 1.471 0.07 
Telecommunication Carriers 1.150 1.154 0.35 
Cable Distribution 
Undertakings 


1.389 1.394 0.36 


Railway 1.410 1.460 3.55 
Machinery & Equipment 1.40 1.41 0.71 
Farm land 
(Dry Arable, Dry Pasture, 
Woodlot) 


1.00 1.00 0 


Farm land (Irrigated Arable) 1.03 1.03 0 
 
 








The Board would like to acknowledge 
the significant contributions of three 
departing trustees: Howard Paulsen 
(Town of Stavely), Kathy Davies (Town of 
Claresholm), and Gordon Given (Town 
of Nanton).  
 
Howard Paulsen was on the board 
for nearly 12 years, chairing several 
standing committees before serving 
two terms as Board Chair, and then 
sitting on the Executive Committee as 
Past Chair. Howard was instrumental 
in the successful campaign to lobby 
the Government of Alberta for the 
much-needed infrastructure funds to 
upgrade the Chinook Arch facility.


Gordon Given has also been on the 
board for many years, while also 
chairing the Nanton Library Board. 
Gordon was active on the Finance/
Personnel and Executive Committees, 
and has long been a strong advocate 
of the public library as a vital 
community service.
 
Kathy Davies joined the board upon 
her retirement as the manager of the 
Claresholm library, where she worked 
for 38 years! Kathy’s knowledge of 
rural libraries was instrumental in 
the board’s planning and decision-
making. Kathy was on the Executive 
Committee and chaired the Planning/
Facilities Committee. Thank you all for 
your service to southern Alberta public 
lbiraries!


BOARD 
REPORT
CHINOOK ARCH LIBRARY BOARD MEETING - DECEMBER 5, 2019


SAYING FAREWELL TO 
LONG-TIME TRUSTEES


The December meeting of the Chinook Arch Library 
Board is the annual organizational meeting, where the 
Executive Committee is elected for the following year. 
Congratulations to the following trustees who comprise 
the Executive Committee for 2020:


DeVar Dahl (Town of Magrath): Chair 
Marie Logan (Village of Lomond): Vice-chair 
Lloyd Kearl (Cardston County): Treasurer 
Tony Hamlyn (Town of Claresholm): Director 
Wendy Kalkan (LPL Resource Centre): Director 
Doug Logan (Vulcan County): Director 
Vic Mensch (Ministerial Appointment): Director 
Chirstopher Northcott (Village of Milo): Director 
Quentin Stevick (Pincher Creek MD): Director 


According to the Committees and Committee Mandates 
policy, the Executive Committee is responsible for 
the smooth operation of the System between board 
meetings. Thanks to everyone who put their names 
forward!


CHINOOK ARCH LIBRARY BOARD
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 2020







BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
Arrowwood    Wendy Williams
Barons     Ron Gorzitza
Cardston County    Lloyd Kearl
Carmangay    Joanne Juce
Claresholm    Tony Hamlyn
Coaldale    Briane Simpson
Coalhurst    Heather Caldwell
Fort Macleod    Jim Monteith
Glenwood    David Rolfson
Hill Spring    Suzanne French
Lethbridge     Heather Woodruff
Lethbridge County   Tory Campbell
Lomond     Marie Logan
Magrath    DeVar Dahl (Chair)
Milk River    Margaret McCanna
Nanton     Marie Schooten
Picture Butte    Teresa Feist
Pincher Creek     Mark Barber
Pincher Creek MD   Quentin Stevick
Raymond    Joan Harker
Stavely     Howard Paulsen
Stirling     Rob Edwards
Taber      Carly Firth
Vauxhall     Kim Cawley
Vulcan     Liz Hammond
Vulcan County    Doug Logan
Warner       Colette Glynn
Warner County    Morgan Rockenbach
LPL Resource Centre   Wendy Kalkan
Ministerial Appointment   Vic Mensch


Regrets:
Barnwell     Jane Johnson
Cardston    Dennis Barnes
Crowsnest Pass    Doreen Glavin
Milo     Christopher Northcott
Taber MD    Jennifer Crowson
ID of Waterton    Lesley Little
Willow Creek MD   Maryanne Sandberg


Absent:
Champion    Trevor Wagenvoort
Coutts     Marvin Bohne
Granum     Vacant
Kainai Board of Education  Linda Weasel Head


CONTACT US
Chinook Arch Regional Library System
2902 7th Avenue North
Lethbridge, AB  T1H 5C6  |  403-380-1500
www.chinookarch.ca  |  arch@chinookarch.ca


facebook.com/
chinook.arch7


@chinooklibs @chinooklibs


Provincial funding for Alberta’s public 
libraries was maintained in the 
Government’s 2019-2020 Budget. 
As such, no significant adjustments 
were required to Chinook Arch’s 
2020 budget. Changes for 2020 
include the discontinuation of the RISE 
Videoconference network. RISE, originally 
funded by a grant from Rural Alberta’s 
Development Fund, played a significant 
role in delivering programming to rural 
libraries across Alberta. Other changes 
to the budget include restrictions on 
spending for the hoopla service that 
allows patrons to download audiobooks, 
movies, and more. While a popular 
service, the pricing model has proven 
unsustainable in the long run.


WOWZERS!
2020 REVISED 


BUDGET APPROVED


The Board reviewed and approved the following updated policies:
POLICY REVIEW


Annual Vacation Memberships Grievance Procedures


A LOOK AT OUR LIBRARIES


MILO


COALDALE


PINCHER CREEK

















1 | H 3 T D A  
 


Highway 3 Twinning Development Association 


Report for Mayors and Reeves 


February 7, 2020 
 


On January 6, 2020, Alberta Motor Transport Association announced that they have become a reciprocal member, including 
Highway 3 twinning into their top five Infrastructure Policy positions.  AMTA is the voice, standard, and resource of the commercial 
transport industry in Alberta.  We are truly grateful for their advocacy as they certainly have a powerful voice! 


Our work and correspondence with the Piikani Nation is growing.  H3TDA provided a presentation to Piikani Council and provided a 
letter to the Minister of Transportation and Minister of Indiginous Relations in support of funding for Piikani Nation Hwy 3 feasibility 
study. Piikani Nation CEO Byron Jackson will be presenting the vision for the Piikani Nation Travel Centre to the Highway 3 TDA 
Board on February 7.   


Over the past six months our membership has grown.  As of January 30, 2020, we are at 33 members, including Rogers Sugar, 
Gateway Carriers, Potato Growers of Alberta, all of the Chambers of Commerce along the corridor, REDA’s, Municipalities including 
the City of Lethbridge and the City of Medicine Hat.   


One of our latest reciprocal members, Alberta Sugar Beet Growers has written Minister of Transportation Ric McIver to advocate for 
the need to twin Highway 3, to include predictable funding for engineering and design, to focus on the section of highway east of 
Taber, and to work with the Highway 3 Twinning Development Association in their advocacy for twinning.  Collectively, their industry 
trucks over 17,000 tonnes of sugar beets along Highway 3 between Burdett and Taber.  This is on top of many other agriculture and 
commercial goods that are annually transported.     


In our need to update our Logo, our Director of Advancement connected with Lethbridge College students in the design program to 
propose ideas and recommendations to our Executive.  As you will note, from nine exuberant presentations, the above Logo was 
chosen, and we thanked each student who supplied their design with a gift card.   


Communications with various components of Alberta Transportation is ongoing.  We are meeting monthly with Darren Davidson 
who conducts the regional office in Lethbridge.  Further to this, we are planning a trip up to Edmonton to meet directly with  the 
Hon. Ric McIver, Minister of Transportation.  They have set a meeting date for February 27 with several of our Executive.   


We have connected with BC Highway 3 Association for collaboration.  They have more success with Hwy 3 construction progress 
and meeting with their Premier on Hwy 3 priorities.  Mayor Don Anderberg of Pincher Creek and Mayor Blair Painter of Crowsnest 
Pass have assisted us in making connections with their Association.  Hwy 3 BC Chair David Wilks, Mayor of Sparwood, is also a 
former Member of Parliament, and has indicated Hwy 3 BC has an interest in collaboration for further advocacy on both sides of the 
border.   


Highway 3 TDA is grateful for Team Lethbridge meeting with government, Rural Municipalities Association advocacy messages, and 
others who are showing interest.  We are also noting a couple of independent Petitions through who are expressing their deep 
concerns and in particular to the safety issues, increasing traffic loads, mix of commercial truck with automobiles, growing 
agriculture and commercial movements along the corridor, ultimately compounding the pressures on the total of Highway 3.  Now 
that a large windmill holding yard has been constructed by Foremost, it will certainly increase further dynamics in transport! 


Highway 3 Twinning Development Association has been interviewed several times in recent months about a number of activities and 
announcements we have undertaken or been noted for.  Director of Advancement Victoria Chester continues to meet with various 
stakeholders, potential members, and MLAs.  SouthGrow Regional Initiatives has invited us to join them at Ag Expo at the end of 
February, so that will present us a new opportunity to get out our messaging.   


As we close out another year, the Highway 3 Twinning Association is going strong and making excellent progress on its Strategic 
plan. 


Our Executive: 


President – Bill Chapman 
Vice-President – Mayor Brent Feyter 
Secretary – Mayor Gordon Reynolds 
Treasurer – Councillor Jack Brewin 
Director of Advancement – Victoria Chester 
Director-at-large – Peter Casurella 








 
 


PRESENT:    
Reeve Lorne Hickey, Chair Lethbridge County Mayor Ed Weistra Village of Barons 
  Mayor Jim Willett Village of Coutts 
  Councillor Gerald Carter Village of Glenwood 
Mayor Maggie Kronen Town of Cardston Mayor Dwight Davis Village of Hill Spring 


Mayor Dennis Cassie Town of Coalhurst Mayor Katie Wight Village of Longview 


Deputy Mayor Brian Oliver Town of Magrath Mayor Trevor Lewington Village of Stirling 


Mayor Peggy Losey Town of Milk River Deputy Mayor Colette Glynn Village of Warner 


Mayor Cathy Moore Town of Picture Butte   


Mayor Don Anderberg Town of Pincher Creek Reeve Randy Bullock County of Cardston 


Mayor Jim Depew Town of Raymond Reeve Jason Schneider County of Vulcan 
Mayor Margaret Plumtree Town of Vauxhall Deputy Reeve Phil Jensen County of Warner 


Mayor Thomas Grant Town of Vulcan   


    


    


  
Barney Reeves I.D 04 Waterton 


International Park  


Guests:  Reeve Larry Spilak MD of Foothills 
  Reeve Brian Hammond MD of Pincher Creek 


Joseph Schow, MLA Cardston-Siksika Reeve Merrill Harris MD of Taber 
Grant Hunter, MLA Taber-Warner Reeve Maryanne Sandberg MD of Willow Creek 


Brian Brewin RMA   


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


MINUTES 
Friday, January 3, 2020 


Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall 
910 – Fourth Avenue South, Lethbridge 


 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  
January 4, 2019 Minutes 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:03pm. 
: 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 7.7 Enhanced Policing issues – Mayor Maggie Kronen 


Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra - Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
  Moved by Mayor Maryanne Sandberg - Carried 


  
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 REPORTS 
 


  5.1 MP Reports – No reports 
   


5.2 MLA Reports – 
  
 MLA Joseph Schow –  


• Discussed the difficult decisions the provincial government had to make in regards to the 
Budget cuts. 


 
MLA Grant Hunter –  


• Is looking into the questions regarding policing from December’s meeting.  
 


 


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  
January 4, 2019 Minutes 


 
 


    
  
   
 


 
6.0    PRESENTATION  – Dr. Samantha Myhr 
 


• Discussed her concerns regarding the proposed changes to health care, including; 


o The potential impacts to rural health care and the sustainability of rural hospitals. 


o The impact of changes to the complex care modifier. 


o Relationships between doctors and patients will be affected negatively. 


• Understands there needs to be healthcare savings but feels there is a better way to do 
so. 


 


7.0 REPORTS 


 
7.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves, Bev Thornton 


• No report 


 


7.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• See electronic report sent out in agenda package. 


 


 7.3 RMA – Brian Brewin 


• Asks that you complete the survey for unpaid property taxes if you have not already 
done so. 


• An advisory board has been assembled with representatives from RMA, AUMA and the 
Alberta association of police in regards to the Police funding model. 


 


           7.4    AUMA – Mayor Margaret Plumtree 


• January 23,24 in Edmonton 


 


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


• No report. 


 
        7.6       Highway #3 Association- Mayor Blair Painter 


• No scheduled meetings until April, 2020 


 


 7.7  Enhanced Policing Model – Mayor Maggie Kronen 


• Concerned about the credit municipalities will be receiving, only if they recruit RCMP 
officers. 


• The town of Cardston had hired CPO’s level 1 because of the lack of RCMP recruits, 
but CPO’s do not qualify municipalities for the provincial credit. 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 4  
January 4, 2019 Minutes 


• The Credit is only applied to communities that have enhanced policing. 


• Mayor Jim Depew : Motion – draft a letter to the Minister of Justice expressing our 
concerns regarding the police funding model. What will communities be getting in 
return for the money spent on policing?  - Carried 


 


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, February 7, 2020 – Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall – 1:00pm 
 
9.0 ADJOURNMENT:  
 
  Moved Mayor Ed Weistra to adjourn meeting at 2:52 pm.  Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fu  








 
 
 
January 27, 2020 
 
The Honourable Doug Schweitzer 
Minister of Justice and Solicitor General, Deputy House Leader 
424 Legislature Building 
10800 – 97 Avenue 
Edmonton, AB 
T5K 2B6 
 
Dear Minister Schweitzer, 
 
At the January the third meeting of the Southwest Mayors and Reeves we had a lengthy discussion on the new policing 
model which will be implemented on April the first of 2020. The concerns were from both rural and urban municipalities. 
As we understand billing will not commence until January of 2021, the issues go far deeper. The downloading from the 
provincial government affects all aspects of the municipal budget and with shrinking revenue sources, just like that of 
the province, we have very little choice  other than raising taxes at a time when unemployment numbers are rising and 
businesses are struggling to keep their heads above their continually rising costs of remaining in business.  
 
Mayor Jim Depew of Raymond made a motion to send a letter to your department, the motion was carried unanimously 
and contains the following points. 
 
1 – lack of communication and input regarding the policing model and its effects on smaller municipalities both 
financially and the level of service provision. 
2 – RCMP detachments currently struggle to maintain a full complement of officers. 
3 - will the addition of 500 new positions actually put more boots on the ground, and will it be possible to get these 500 
officers given that recruitment numbers for the RCMP are low, as well as retirement of some of the current members. 
Will it be possible to increase the number of officers required?  
4 - under the implementation of the enhanced policing model, municipalities will receive a credit for that provision. 
Unfortunately, it is not always possible to get enhanced services from the RCMP because of the low number of officers, 
and they do not enforce municipal bylaws. Most municipalities have CPO programs to enforce their bylaws and they 
also assist the RCMP by doing a lot of speeding, weights and measures as well as call in the RCMP for criminal 
activities beyond their scope, yet there is not a credit for the work which they perform. 
5 – the RCMP and CPO’s work very hard to catch criminals and yet they are released without consequence. We need 
a justice system that will encourage and work with our policing models. 
 
We look forward to hearing from you at your earliest convenience. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Lorne Hickey 
Chair 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta 
 
CC: Premier Jason Kenney 
       Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta 
       Mayors and Reeves of Southeast Alberta 


 








 
 
 


 
Chairperson – Reeve Lorne Hickey 
 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 1:00 
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
  


3.0 ADDITIONS TO/APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES  
  


4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP and MLA UPDATES 
 5.1 MP Reports  


 5.2 MLA Reports  


 


6.0 Presentation – Southern Alberta Horse Racing, Max Gibb, Rocky Mountain Turf Club 
  
7.0 REPORTS  


 7.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves  


 7.2 SouthGrow - Mayor Jim Willett  


7.3 RMA – Brian Brewin  


7.4 AUMA- Mayor Barry Morishita/Councillor Tanya Thorn 


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


7.6 Highway #3 Association – Councillor Bill Chapman  


 
7.0 NEXT MEETING 


Friday, March 6, 2020 at 1:00 – Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall  


  8.0 ADJOURNMENT  


AGENDA 
FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 7, 2020 - 1:00 PM 


Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall 
910 – Fourth Avenue South, Lethbridge 


 


If you have any community information that you would like to have distributed to the M & R group,  
please send it to me at MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com to be distributed.  



mailto:MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com






 


 


  


 


 


 


Monthly Report 
For Mayors and Reeves 


Feb 


December 2019 | By: Peter Casurella 


SouthGrow Regional Initiative 


P: 403-394-0615 


E: peter.casurella@southgrow.com 


Source: DNV.GL 







 


 


1 


December 2019 
 


Bright  Future for Agri-food and Energy in Southern Alberta  


 


Dear Mayors and Reeves, 
 
As we look ahead to 2020 there is a lot for us to be optimistic about. While the provincial economy experiences a 
general slowdown, the foundational industries that drive the southern Albertan economy continue to show 
extraordinary promise at the macro-economic scale. What this means for us, is that while southern Alberta will 
experience fluctuations in the economic short-term, we are well-positioned to remain a competitive player for our 
foundational industry (agri-food), and for our fastest growing big industry (renewable energy).  The two charts 
below from ourworldindata.org illustrate the fundamental economic forces driving this opportunity.  
 
The first figure shows an aggregated projection of 
world population growth up to 2100. What this graph 
suggests for us is that we will experience a 
sustained increase in global food demand over the 
coming decades. When paired with projections for 
the growth of the global middle class and the 
challenges that many counties will likely face with 
increased agricultural efficiencies due to climate 
change, the economic forecast for food production 
by Canadian companies is very promising. For these 
reasons and more, agri-food promotion and 
investment attraction for the region will remain 
SouthGrow’s highest priority.  
 
The second figure from the same source illustrates 
the rapid increase in renewable energy generation 
as the world edges into the next large-scale energy 
transition. This transition is being driven by a number 
of unstoppable macro-economic forces. First, 
carbon-based energy is increasingly risk-exposed to 
both regulation and disruption by competing 
technologies. Second, renewable technologies have 
reached a cost point where they are competitive 
while input costs continue to decrease and efficiency 
continues to rise. Finally, the global demand for 
energy continues to climb, ensuring a market for 
cost-effective and profitable generation. There are 
numerous opportunities to construct new generation 
capacity in southern Alberta, feeding sustainable 
capital into the local economy, increasing efficiency 
for our agri-food and manufacturing base, and 
investing our region with a high degree of expertise 
in the energy industries of the future.  
 
No matter what 2020 looks like, the long-term future 
for Southern Alberta looks bright.  
 
 
 







Headlines for December  


 
Strategic Collaborations 
 


- Highway 3 Twinning Development Association: Highway 3 has a new logo created by a student competition 
at Lethbridge College. Check it out on their facebook page. We hope to be able to give everyone some good 
news in the new year about dedicated funding for moving forward the prepatory work for twinning.   
 


- Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Association: SAAEP released an impactful report on the economic 
impact of renewable energy in southern Alberta and it was very well received. Anecdotally we heard that it 
went as high as the Premier’s office. We received a letter back from Minister Sonja Savage thanking us for 
the report and confirming her support for this important economic opportunity.  
 


- SAITI: Our foreign direct investment partnership is nearing the end of our ICCI grant funding period and 
SouthGrow will be doing the reporting for year 1 of our project in January.  


 
- Education: SouthGrow was awarded a LARGE Labour Market Partnership Grant along with the Town of 


Taber, Lethbridge College, Economic Development Lethbridge, Alberta SouthWest, and Vulcan County to 
study market and labour trends in the region with the goal of informing both BRE efforts and educational 
programming in the region. This project kicks off in January 2020 and is scheduled for completion in 
September. 
 


- Agriculture and Forestry: Vern Steinborn is back in the field doing educational sessions for counties. If you 
want him to come and talk to your producers about farm and producer efficiency, we can get him there.  
 


- Peaks to Prairies: Ten stations are fully commissioned, several more ribbon cuttings are scheduled, and the 
project should be complete by February, only a month or two behind schedule. 
 


Marketing & Communications 


 
- Branding: Our website has a growing resource section on it that has more documents being added to it 


weekly. With our legacy files being digitized, there will be a LOT of data going up in the coming months.   
 


- Agri-food: SouthGrow is representing southern Alberta at the Calgary Chamber of Commerce’s agri-food 
conference this month, and we are hosting an Innovation Corner at Ag Expo in February where we will have 
numerous speakers talking about relevant topics in value-added ag and ag innovation.   
 


- Newsletters are rolling every two-weeks. Thank you to Marilou Dupray for her work to produce these for us.  
 


Economic Development & Innovation 
 


- Broadband: Our broadband report for Villages and Towns will finally be going out with the details of our 
Broadband: The Last Mile project to incentivize completion of infrastructure in the region. The end of our 
Broadband work is visible, but it will take vision, commitment, and investment to get there.  
 


- Our Cost Benefit Analysis for Rural Broadband was released to wide acclaim. It’s been three weeks and I am 
still answering technical and media calls about it. It continues to make waves.  
 
 
 
 







 


 


3 


 


 


 


Administration 
 


- Don’t forget to email info@southgrow.com if you would like to get signed up for our economic development 
newsletter. This newsletter has been called ‘The Best Economic Development Newsletter in the West’ (mostly 
by us, but that doesn’t make it less true.) It comes packed with great resources for you and your people.  


 
 


 


 


 


southgrow.com 


Economic Development | Government Relations  


All content copyright © 1999 - 2018 SouthGrow Regional Initiative. All rights 


reserved. Corporate Access Number: 5111053608 


About SouthGrow Regional Initiate  


SouthGrow is an economic development alliance of twenty-six south central Alberta 


communities committed to working together to achieve prosperity for the region. 


Representing over 170,000 people, SouthGrow is committed to assisting 


communities, organizations, businesses, and people in the region to further their 


economic development goals and to maintain the high quality of life. 



mailto:info@southgrow.com






 


 


  


 


 


 


Monthly Report 
For Mayors and Reeves 


Feb 


January 2019 | By: Peter Casurella 


SouthGrow Regional Initiative 


P: 403-394-0615 


E: peter.casurella@southgrow.com 


Why YOU should care about Tourism as an Economic Driver  







 


 


1 


January 2020 
 


Tourism a growth industry we can take advantage of .   


 


Dear Mayors and Reeves, 
 
In January, SouthGrow participated in stakeholder consultations with Travel 
Alberta as they map out a 10-year strategy for the tourism sector in Alberta. 
The same macro-economic forces that are driving demand for our agri-food 
industry, also present an amazing opportunity for economic growth in the 
tourism industry. The basic calculus is that as more people enter the global 
middle class, more people want to travel and explore the world. With the 
world becoming wealthier at an incredible rate, this means more people with 
dollars to spend exploring our back-yard. 
 
The province has set a goal of doubling the tourism sector in Alberta by 
2030. The prevailing attitude amongst industry experts and economic 
developers is that this is an unrealistic goal unless the province is willing to 
invest heavily in supporting programs, ecosystem development, product 
development, and infrastructure. However, with the mountain parks filled to 
overflowing, the provincial focus on this sector will mean opportunity for 
prairies communities.  
 
Your council should consider tourism as a real and tangible economic driver 
that has the potential for large growth. Communities that actively take 
advantage of provincial and federal supports, which leverage regional 
partnerships and programs, and which encourage the development of their 
own tourism product will see growth. Now’s the time to create a deliberate 
tourism strategy for your community or region in order to capitalize fully on 
what is to come.  
 
As we receive more information, SouthGrow will be taking a close interest in 
this sector and will work to support regional efforts. Stay tuned for more 
information as it becomes available this spring but start thinking now about 
how your community can take action today to stay ahead of the curve.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Peter Casurella 
Executive Director 
SouthGrow Regional Economic Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Headlines for January  


 
Strategic Collaborations 
 


- Highway 3 Twinning Development Association: Highway 3’s membership is increasing rapidly amongst 
industry partners. Most of the municipal members signed back on for 2020. The organization is in good shape 
and is making excellent progress through its operational plan.    
 


- RINSA: The Regional Innovation Network of Southern Alberta is sponsoring our Innovation Corner at Ag 
Expo at the end of February. Come by and visit all of the RINSA partners at this large space and listen to 
speakers talk about cutting edge innovations in Agriculture.  
 


- Canadian Agricultural Partnerships: We’ve almost reached 3 years of providing vital educational programing 
for farm producers, helping them secure hundreds of millions of dollars in funding to make their operations 
more efficient and more competitive. This spring we will be working with Ag and Forestry to keep the energy 
going. This program has been one of the most successful, but seldom heard of, programs that 
SouthGrow has run.  
 


- Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Association: Greengate power secured investment to fund their massive 
solar farm in Vulcan County. That project is now moving ahead and will bring massive amounts of investment 
to the region and will help catalyze more investment at a critical time.  
 


- SAITI: Our foreign direct investment partnership reported on our ICCI grant funding this month. We have a 
database built, opportunities identified, and are meeting now to start turning the crank and advertising our 
regional offerings world-wide.   


 
- Education: SouthGrow has begun our Labour Market Partnership Study for the region along with our 


partners. This project is due for completion in September of 2020. 
 


- Peaks to Prairies: Ten stations are fully commissioned, several more ribbon cuttings are scheduled, and the 
project should be complete by February, only a month or two behind schedule. 
 


Marketing & Communications 


 
- Branding: Our website has a growing resource section on it that has more documents being added to it 


weekly. With our legacy files being digitized, there will be a LOT of data going up in the coming months.   
 


- Agri-food: SouthGrow will be at Ag Expo along with our RINSA partners, promoting the sector. The PPAA and 
PIC will also be in attendance with us.    
 


- Newsletters are rolling every two-weeks. Thank you to Marilou Dupray for her work to produce these for us.  
 


Economic Development & Innovation 
 


- Broadband: Our broadband report for Villages and Towns has now been sent out along with the details of our 
next project. SouthGrow is offering up to $3000 per member to assist with the work of driving forward 
connectivity. Your CAO will have the details, or you can call our office directly. If you haven’t read our Cost 
Benefit Analysis for Alberta Rural Broadband, you need to.   
 







 


 


3 


 


 


 


- We are pushing forward a pilot project in partnership with the Highway 4 communities to get an EV handibus 
in operation. If the model and grant funding comes together, it can be replicated along each of the ‘spoke’ 
highways in southern Alberta. (3, 5, 23, 2, etc..) 
 
 


Administration 
 


- Our legacy records from 2002 to the present will be fully digitized this month! What a project! 
 


- Don’t forget to email info@southgrow.com if you would like to get signed up for our economic development 
newsletter. This newsletter has been called ‘The Best Economic Development Newsletter in the West’ (mostly 
by us, but that doesn’t make it less true.) It comes packed with great resources for you and your people.  


 
 


 


 


 


southgrow.com 


Economic Development | Government Relations  


All content copyright © 1999 - 2018 SouthGrow Regional Initiative. All rights 


reserved. Corporate Access Number: 5111053608 


About SouthGrow Regional Initiate  


SouthGrow is an economic development alliance of twenty-six south central Alberta 


communities committed to working together to achieve prosperity for the region. 


Representing over 170,000 people, SouthGrow is committed to assisting 


communities, organizations, businesses, and people in the region to further their 


economic development goals and to maintain the high quality of life. 



mailto:info@southgrow.com
































MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD JANUARY 9, 
2020 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING 


Board Members Present:  
Royce Leavitt – Cardston County   Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston    
Tim Court – Town of Cardston    Tom Nish – Cardston County 
Don Shideler – Village of Hill Spring       
 
Others Present: 
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief    Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
  
Commenced at 4:59 p.m. 
 
Gerry Selk in the chair.                                                             
 
Opening Prayer: Don Shideler 
 
AGENDA 
 
Royce Leavitt moved to approve the agenda.          Carried 
 
MINUTES 


The minutes of the December 5, 2019, meeting was discussed.   


Don Shideler moved to accept the minutes of the December 5, 2019 meeting.       Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the December Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 2 MVC’s, 1 false 
alarm and 2 structure fires (Outpost Motel and Chimney Fire in Mountain View).   


 
Danny Melvin advised that he has spoken with the bank regarding the bank fees. 
 
20-01 Tim Court moved to remove the line-of-credit at the Royal Bank.     Carried 
 
Danny Melvin inquired whether the 2020 budget was approved by the municipalities.  Danny will wait to 
hear from the municipalities.  
 
Danny Melvin presented a current list of the Fleet for information for the board. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that he received six applicants for the officer posting in December.  Danny 
suggested that all six be used in officer positions (4 captains & 2 lieutenants). 
 







MINUTES CCES MEETING JANUARY 9, 2020 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin is waiting to hear from the engineer what the water pressure is out in Glenwood and Hill 
Spring.  Danny recommends a six-inch line be installed. 
 
Royce Leavitt moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.        Carried 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
A letter from Amber Weasel Fat regarding the false alarm during December.    Carried 
 
ADJOURNMENT 


Tom Nish moved to adjourn.             Carried 


Adjournment at 5:18 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 5, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.  


 


       
Chairman 








 


2019 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 34 


 
 
 


MINUTES - 8  (2019) 


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING 
Thursday, November 21, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. 


ORRSC Boardroom (3105 - 16 Avenue North, Lethbridge) 
 


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE: 


 Gordon Wolstenholme - Chair  Ian Sundquist (absent) 
 Jim Bester - Vice-Chair Jennifer Crowson 
 Don Anderberg (absent) Margaret Plumtree  
 Doug MacPherson  


STAFF: 


 Lenze Kuiper – Director Barb Johnson – Executive Secretary 
 


AGENDA: 


1. Approval of Agenda – November 21, 2019 ..........................................................................................  


2. Approval of Minutes – October 10, 2019 ............................................................................ (attachment) 


3. Business Arising from the Minutes 


4. New Business 
(a) Draft 2020 Budget ......................................................................................................... (attachment) 
(b) Subdivision Fee Review ................................................................................................ (attachment) 
(c) Vehicle .............................................................................................................................................  
(d) Subdivision Activity 2019 ............................................................................................... (attachment) 
(e) Fee For Service Update .................................................................................................... (handout) 


5. Accounts 
(a) Office Accounts –  


(i) September 2019 .................................................................................................... (attachment) 
(ii) October 2019 ............................................................................................................. (handout) 


(b) Financial Statements –  
(i) January 1 - September 30, 2019 ........................................................................... (attachment) 
(ii) January 1 - October 31, 2019 .................................................................................... (handout) 


6. Director’s Report ...................................................................................................................................  


7. Executive Report ...................................................................................................................................  


8. Adjournment ..........................................................................................................................................  
  


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION







 


2019 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 35 


CHAIR GORDON WOLSTENHOLME CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER AT 5:55 P.M. 


1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 


Moved by:  Doug MacPherson 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the agenda, as presented. CARRIED 


2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 


Moved by:  Jim Bester 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the minutes of October 10, 2019, as presented. 
   CARRIED 


3. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 


 None. 


4. NEW BUSINESS 


(a) Draft 2020 Budget 


 The Director prepared a revised budget which incorporated changes discussed at the last 
meeting as follows: 


REVENUE: 
 For Service (Member) - $400,000 
 Subdivision Approval Fees - $270,000 
 Carry over from 2019 - $53,000 


EXPENDITURES: 
 Permanent Employees - $1,748,848.00 
 Total Staff Benefits - $355,901.00 


 Committee consensus was to not carry over revenue from 2019; therefore, other options to 
balance the budget were discussed.  Two budgets will be presented to the Board for 
consideration—one with a staff salary increase of 1.5% and one with a 2% increase.   


Moved by:  Jim Bester 


THAT the Director incorporate changes to the 2019 Budget as discussed and prepare two 
options—one with a staff salary increase of 1.5% and one with a 2% increase—for 
consideration by the Board at the December 5, 2019 meeting. CARRIED 


(b) Subdivision Fee Review 


 ORRSC currently charges the following subdivision fees: 


Application Fee – $700 
Per Lot Fee – $325 
Per Lot Endorsement – $200 


1st Extension – $325 
2nd Extension – $425 
3rd Extension – $525 







 


2019 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 36 


 A comparison with nine other Alberta municipalities was conducted, and ORRSC’s fees were 
found to be neither the highest or lowest of the group.  The Committee agreed that small 
increases to keep up with the cost of living is preferred to avoid large increases in the future.  
The Director will calculate a minimal increase which will be incorporated into the 2019 
Budget and presented to the Board for consideration at the December 5, 2019 Board of 
Directors’ meeting. 


(c) Vehicle 


 An office vehicle was involved in a collision with a deer causing approximately $11,000 in 
damage to the vehicle and the driver sustained a fractured wrist.  We have use of a rental for 
the next few weeks while this vehicle is being repaired. 


(d) Subdivision Activity 


 Total subdivision revenue for the first 10 months of 2019 is $245,617.50 and we are hoping 
to reach $270,00 by the end of the year. 


(e) Fee For Service Update 


 The updated Fee For Service - Current Projects was reviewed.  A tally of total MDPs, IDPs, 
etc. completed and in progress will be presented at the Board of Directors’ meeting on 
December 5. 


5. ACCOUNTS 


(a) Office Accounts –  


(i) September 2019 
 
 5150  Staff Mileage  ...........................................  M. Burla  ............................................. $     253.50
 5280  Janitorial Services  ...................................  Madison Ave Business Services  ....... 475.00
 5285  Building Maintenance  ..............................  Cam Air Refrigeration  ....................... 499.00
 5310  Telephone  ...............................................  Bell Mobility  ....................................... 611.44
 5320  General Office Supplies  ..........................  Desjardin Card Services  ................... 270.43
 5380  Printing & Printing Supplies  .....................  Desjardin Card Services  ................... 277.16
 5320  General Office Supplies  ..........................  Desjardin Card Services  ................... 23.98
 5500  Subdivision Notification  ...........................  Desjardin Card Services  ................... 60.08
 5330  Dues & Subscriptions  ..............................  The Macleod Gazette  ....................... 52.50
 5380  Printing & Printing Supplies  .....................  Lethbridge Mobile Shredding  ............ 23.00
 5440  Land Titles Office  ....................................  Minister of Finance  ........................... 162.00
 5500  Subdivision Notification  ...........................  Lethbridge Herald  ............................. 204.12
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  ALTIS MSP  ....................................... 209.00
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  Digitex  ............................................... 680.00
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  Whipcord  ........................................... 1,262.80
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  Xerox  ................................................. 738.73
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  Digitex  ............................................... 90.00
 5580  Equipment & Furniture Rental  .................  Pitney Bowes  .................................... 297.12
  







 


2019 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 37 


 5590  Equipment & Furniture Purchases  ..........  Cam Air Refrigeration  ....................... 4,365.00
 1160  GST Receivable  ......................................  GST Receivable  ................................ 505.96
 


    TOTAL $11,060.82
 
 


Moved by:  Doug MacPherson 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the Office Accounts of September 2019 ($11,060.82), 
as presented. CARRIED 


(ii) October 2019 
 
 5280  Janitorial Services  ...................................  Madison Ave Business Services  ....... $    425.00
 5285  Building Maintenance  ..............................  Wild Rose Horticultural  ..................... 600.00
 5285  Building Maintenance  ..............................  Weings Sprinkler  ............................... 100.00
 5285  Building Maintenance  ..............................  Yueu Majok  ....................................... 200.00
 5310  Telephone  ...............................................  Bell Mobility  ....................................... 675.64
 5310  Telephone  ...............................................  Bell Mobility  ....................................... 595.48
 5310  Telephone  ...............................................  Shaw Business  ................................. 180.91
 5320  General Office Supplies  ..........................  Desjardin Card Services  ................... 162.97
 5380  Printing & Printing Supplies  .....................  Desjardin Card Services  ................... 307.99
 5330  Dues & Subscriptions  ..............................  Bassano Publishers  .......................... 25.50
 5330  Dues & Subscriptions  ..............................  Sunny South News  ........................... 26.00
 5380  Printing & Printing Supplies  .....................  Lethbridge Mobile Shredding  ............ 23.00
 5440  Land Titles Office  ....................................  Minister of Finance  ........................... 169.00
 5470  Computer Software  .................................  ESRI Canada  .................................... 6,637.50
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  Xerox  ................................................. 757.84
 5570  Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  .........  Digitex  ............................................... 700.00
 1160  GST Receivable  ......................................  GST Receivable  ................................ 560.83
 


    TOTAL $12,147.66
 


Moved by:  Margaret Plumtree 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the Office Accounts of October 2019 ($12,147.66), as 
presented. CARRIED 


(b) Financial Statements –  


(i) January 1 - September 30, 2019 
(ii) January 1 - October 31, 2019 


Moved by: Jennifer Crowson 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the following unaudited Financial Statements, as 
presented:  


January 1 - September 30, 2019 
January 1 - October 31, 2019 CARRIED 


6. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 


 The Director reported on his activities since the last Executive Committee meeting. 







 


2019 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 38 


7. EXECUTIVE REPORT 


 Committee members reported on various projects and activities in their respective municipalities. 


8. ADJOURNMENT 


Moved by:  Gordon Wolstenholme 


THAT we adjourn the regular meeting of the Executive Committee of the Oldman River Regional 
Services Commission at 7:40 p.m. until Thursday, December 12, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. CARRIED 


 
 
 
 
 
/bj  CHAIR:  _________________________________________  
 








 


Phase 2 of Cannabis Legalization – Edibles, Extracts and Topicals 


PUBLIC HEALTH INFORMATION FOR MUNICIPALITIES 


Alberta Health Services (AHS) recognizes that municipalities have options for their cannabis-related bylaws now that Edibles, 


Extracts and Topicals are included in the federal Cannabis Act. To assist in making these complex decisions, AHS encourages 


municipalities to consider social and health harms. Overall, because we know so little about the impacts of cannabis on the health 


of communities and Albertans, we support a more restrictive environment until a larger body of research can tell us more. In this 


document you will find information about the public health approach to public consumption that addresses multi-unit 


housing, vaping, medical exemptions, and festivals. 


PUBLIC CONSUMPTION 


Restricting consumption of cannabis in public places sets up a regulatory environment that can help achieve the federal and 


provincial objectives of legalization, which include: protecting public health, restricting youth access, and protecting safety on 


roads, and in workplaces and public spaces. 


ALBERTA HEALTH SERVICES ADVISES 


MUNICIPALITITIES TO RESTRICT CONSUMPTION IN 


PUBLIC PLACES (INDOORS AND OUTDOORS) 


COMPLETELY  


What does a complete restriction mean? 


 It means cannabis consumption is prohibited in public 


places, limiting use to private residences only, for: 


o Combustibles (smoking/vaping/dabbing) 


o Edibles (beverages/food) 


o Extracts (sprays/capsules/ high potency 


concentrates) 


 It means the protective measures that society has 


worked diligently for years to put in place for alcohol 


and tobacco will be the minimum for cannabis. This 


approach recognizes the decades of lessons learned 


from other intoxicating substances.  


 


AHS recognizes there are special considerations 


related to multi-unit housing, medical users and 


festivals. We have provided additional information 


about these issues on the following page. 


Why restrict public consumption? 


 Restricting public consumption helps to limit public 


intoxication and reduce health and social harms in the 


community.  This is best achieved through policy. 


o The Netherlands found less restrictive regulations caused 


health and social issues and are now implementing more 


restrictive regulations, including closing “coffee shops”.2 


 Occupational Health & Safety regulates both alcohol and 


cannabis (intoxicating substances) in the workplace to 


prevent workplace harms.3,4  In addition, public policies 


regulate alcohol consumption in public places to prevent 


harms. Restricting cannabis consumption in public places 


aligns with alcohol restrictions and mirrors the Occupational 


Health and Safety approach.   


 It aligns with alcohol regulations. This means open 


bottles/cans of either cannabis or alcoholic beverages would 


not be allowed in public spaces.5 This helps to prevent an 


increase of cannabis and alcohol-related harms and 


associated costs.  


o While there may be practical challenges to regulation 


enforcement (e.g., proof edibles contain cannabis), having 


regulations in place supports public health and safety.    


 It prevents harm from second-hand cannabis 


smoke/vapour.6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 


 Children tend to copy what they observe and are influenced 


by the normality of any type of smoking behavior around 


them. Thus public consumption risks increasing cannabis 


use and associated harms.11 


 All jurisdictions that have legalized cannabis advise starting 


with stricter regulations.12  


 In all U.S. legalized states, decision makers banned public 


consumption at onset.  


SUBSTANCE USE COSTS 


ALBERTANS $5.5 BILLION PER 


YEAR OR $1,332 PER PERSON 


PER YEAR REGARDLESS OF AGE.1 


Best practices in substance use help to reduce these 


costs and harms. 







 


 


SPECIFIC CONSIDERATIONS IMPACTING PUBLIC CONSUMPTION DECISIONS 


MULTI-UNIT HOUSING RESIDENTS 


If cannabis consumption is only allowed in private units/ 


residences, some of which have no-smoking/vaping 


rules, does this disadvantage multi-unit housing 


residents’ ability to consume cannabis?   


 All residents have the option of consuming other forms of 


cannabis in their private units, such as: edibles, drinks, 


capsules, sprays, or tinctures.  


 As with tobacco, multi-unit housing complexes are advised 


to have smoke-free and vape-free indoor spaces and 


provide outdoor designated areas on common property for 


smoked or vaped products, five or more meters away from 


doors, windows and fresh-air intakes. If the complex is not 


smoke free, residents can request designated outdoor 


smoking and vaping areas to ensure the health and safety 


of all residents.   


What if residents want the fast-acting effects that 


smoking/vaping cannabis provides? 


 There are alternative products that have similar effects 


without the harmful effects of second-hand smoke or 


vapour. 


 Residents can use outdoor designated consumption areas 


as recommended above. 


VAPING 


Is vaping a safer form of consumption? 


 Vaping is not without risks and the health impacts are 


not fully understood. Vaping may also result in more 


frequent use and use of higher THC products.13 


 Harms related to vaping may include severe lung 


disease, however at the time of this writing not enough 


is known about these emerging cases to understand 


the cause or full extent of the risks and harm.    


 There is no evidence that second-hand exposure to 


vapour is safe, thus a precautionary approach is 


advised.  


MEDICAL EXEMPTIONS ARE REQUIRED 


 There are many different forms of cannabis products 


that medical users can choose from, particularly that 


do not involve smoking or vaping of the product. 


 The Canadian Medical Association does not support 


combustible products as initial prescribed product for 


medical purposes, as alternative forms are available 


that minimize health risks to the patient and second 


hand exposure risks to those around them.15 


FESTIVALS 


Should festivals allow public consumption in the form of “cannabis gardens” (similar to beer gardens)? 


 The most protective option and best way to reduce short and long-term health and social harms is to not allow  


cannabis gardens, because: 


o It normalizes consumption.  Normalization means that a behavior or activity becomes a ‘normal part’ of leisure and 


lifestyle and is no longer considered potentially harmful. The more often use is normalized and permitted, particularly in 


public spaces, the greater the risk of health and social harms to communities.  


o Children tend to copy what they observe and normalizing smoking behaviour is of particular concern.  As seen with 


alcohol and tobacco, normalization leads to increases in rates of use, including associated harms.   


o Of potential noise and nuisance complaints.  For example, the City of Hague, Netherlands now restricts public 


consumption because of the many complaints from residents and visitors regarding smell and noise.2 The Calgary 


Stampede has designated their event as family friendly, by banning on-site consumption.16 The Vancouver Park Board 


has banned 4/20 events because of the negative impact on residents, parks and facilities.17  


 There may be liability for festival organizers due to risk of harm related to intoxication.   


Since people will smoke/vape in the general festival space anyway, wouldn’t having a designated space for 


smoking/vaping be a better option? 


 The most protective option for the public is to prohibit public consumption.  


 AHS, in collaboration with municipalities, will review and monitor harms over time. Recommendations and practices  


could shift as we learn more. 


 







 


WHAT IS A PUBLIC HEALTH APPROACH TO CANNABIS LEGALIZATION? 


 


A public health approach strives to maximize benefits and 


minimize harms of substances, promote the health of all 


individuals of a population, decrease negative impacts on 


vulnerable populations, and ensure harms from 


interventions and legislation are not disproportionate to 


harms from the substances themselves.7
 Key considerations 


when developing bylaws and the practices that support 


them include:   


 Taking a precautionary approach with stricter regulations 


to reduce health and social problems over time.   


 Begin with a more restrictive framework and ease 


restrictions as evidence becomes available. 


 Regulations allow for enforcement when needed and are 


not intended to shift burden of legalization to marginalized 


groups. Controls and education can be put in place to 


ensure an equitable approach to enforcement.   


FOR MORE INFORMATION PLEASE CONTACT YOUR LOCAL MEDICAL OFFICER OF HEALTH. 
MOH.SOUTH@AHS.CA 


 
 
REFERENCES 


1 Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. 
(2018). Canadian substance use costs and harms in the provinces and 


territories (2007-2014). Prepared by the Canadian Institute for Substance 
Use Research and the Canadian Centre on Substance Use and 


Addiction. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and 
Addiction. 


2 The Hague, Ban on Smoking Cannabis, available online 
https://www.denhaag.nl/en/general/ban-on-smoking-cannabis.htm  


3 Government of Alberta, (2019). Impairment in the workplace. Information 
for employers and workers on how to recognize and respond to 
impairment in the workplace. Available online: 
https://www.alberta.ca/impairment-workplace.aspx.  


4 Occupational and Environmental Medical Association of Canada. (2018), 
Position Statement on the Implications of Cannabis Use for Safety-
Sensitive Work. Available from: https://oemac.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/09/Position-Statement-on-the-Implications-of-
cannabis-use.pdf  


5 Giesbrecht, N., Wettlaufer, A., April, N., Asbridge, M., Cukier, S., Mann, 
R., McAllister, J., Murie, A., Plamondon, L., Stockwell, T., Thomas, G., 
Thompson, K., & Vallance, K. (2013). Strategies to Reduce Alcohol-
Related Harms and Costs in Canada: A Comparison of Provincial 


Policies. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. 


6 Chief Medical Officers of Health of Canada & Urban Public Health 
Network. (2016). Public health perspectives on cannabis policy and 


regulation. Available from http://uphn.ca/wp-
content/uploads/2016/10/Chief-MOH-UPHN-Cannabis-Perspectives-
Final-Sept-26-2016.pdf 


7 Cone E., Bigelow G., and Herrmann E., et al. (2011) Non Smoker 


exposure to Secondhand cannabis Smoke. III Oral Fluid and Blood Drug 
Concentrations and Corresponding Subjective Effects. Journal of 


Analytical Toxicology, 39(7), 497-509  


8 Marrtens R., White P., Willams A., and Yauk C. (2013) A global 
toxicogenomic analysis investigating the mechanistic differences 
between tobacco and marijuana smoke condensates in vitro. Toxicology, 


308, 60-73  


9 The Health Technology Assessment Unit, University of Calgary, 
University of Calgary. (2017) Cannabis Evidence Series: An Evidence 


Synthesis. Available from https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/cannabis-
evidence-series-an-evidence-synthesis  


10 Holitzki et al. (2017). Health effects of exposure to second- and third-
hand marijuana smoke: a systematic review. CMAJ Open, 5(4), E814-


E822. 


11 D’Amico, E. J., Miles, J. N., & Tucker, J. S. (2015). Gateway to curiosity: 
Medical marijuana ads and intention and use during middle school. 
Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 29(3), 613. 


12 Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse, (2015). Cannabis Regulations: 


Lessons Learned in Colorado and Washington State. Available from: 
https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Cannabis-
Regulation-Lessons-Learned-Report-2015-en.pdf  


13 Budney, A.J., Sargent, J.D., Dee, D.C. (2015). Confirmation of the Trials 
and Tribulations of Vaping. Addiction, 110, 1705–1711 


14 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2019). Outbreak of Severe 
Pulmonary Disease Associated with Using E-cigarette Products. August 
30, 2019. Available online: 


https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-
disease.html 


15 Allan, G.M., Ramji, J., Perry, D., et al. (2018). Simplified guidelines for 
prescribing medical cannabinoids in primary care. Canadian Family 
Physician. 64 (2) 111-120 


16 Nickel, R., Williams, N., (2019). Cannabis banned at first Calgary 
Stampede since legalization. Global News, July 5, 2019. Available 
online: https://globalnews.ca/news/5466568/calgary-stampede-cannabis-
ban/ 


17 Vancouver Parks Board, April 17, 2018 Available online: 
http://vancouver.ca/news-calendar/park-board-message-on-420-
marijuana-event-at-sunset-beach-park.aspx  



https://www.denhaag.nl/en/general/ban-on-smoking-cannabis.htm

https://www.alberta.ca/impairment-workplace.aspx

https://oemac.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Position-Statement-on-the-Implications-of-cannabis-use.pdf

https://oemac.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Position-Statement-on-the-Implications-of-cannabis-use.pdf

https://oemac.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Position-Statement-on-the-Implications-of-cannabis-use.pdf

http://uphn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Chief-MOH-UPHN-Cannabis-Perspectives-Final-Sept-26-2016.pdf

http://uphn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Chief-MOH-UPHN-Cannabis-Perspectives-Final-Sept-26-2016.pdf

http://uphn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Chief-MOH-UPHN-Cannabis-Perspectives-Final-Sept-26-2016.pdf

https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/cannabis-evidence-series-an-evidence-synthesis

https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/cannabis-evidence-series-an-evidence-synthesis

https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Cannabis-Regulation-Lessons-Learned-Report-2015-en.pdf

https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Cannabis-Regulation-Lessons-Learned-Report-2015-en.pdf

https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html

https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html

https://globalnews.ca/news/5466568/calgary-stampede-cannabis-ban/

https://globalnews.ca/news/5466568/calgary-stampede-cannabis-ban/

http://vancouver.ca/news-calendar/park-board-message-on-420-marijuana-event-at-sunset-beach-park.aspx

http://vancouver.ca/news-calendar/park-board-message-on-420-marijuana-event-at-sunset-beach-park.aspx






 


 
  


 


 


Monthly Update for 


 RMA Districts 
February 2020 


 







2 


RMA Update for Districts – February 2020 


Police Costing Model Implementation 


In early December, the Government of Alberta (GOA) released details of a new police costing model for 
municipalities that currently receive policing from the RCMP under the Provincial Police Services 
Agreement. The model will be implemented April 1, 2020, with a formula based on 50 per cent 
population and 50 per cent equalized assessment with some subsidies available for all municipalities 
related to the crime severity index and shadow populations, and for urban municipalities based on 
detachment locations.  


RMA has continued to advocate to the Government of Alberta for changes to the model. Among the 
aspects of the model most concerning to RMA are the following: 


• Implementation as of April 2020 provides municipalities with a very short timeframe to prepare 
for the financial impacts of model, and also raises questions as to the extent to which 
municipalities and municipal associations will have a voice in how the resources are deployed 
prior to implementation. The Government of Alberta has indicated that they are committed to 
implementing the model in April 2020, but to alleviate municipal budgeting pressures, will not 
invoice municipalities for the costs of the model until 2021.  


• The Government of Alberta is in the process of creating the Alberta Police Advisory Board, which 
will include input from an RMA and AUMA representative from each of Alberta’s four RCMP 
districts, as well as one representative from the Alberta Association of Police Governance. The 
intent of the Board is to provide municipal input into province-wide policing priorities. RMA is 
concerned that the Board is not the proper approach to supporting individual municipalities with 
enhanced input into policing that reflects their new financial commitments, and RMA will 
continue to advocate for improved local collaboration between municipalities and detachments. 


• The model’s detachment subsidy is intended to reduce costs for municipalities not near a 
detachment by allowing for a 5% reduction in formula costs for municipalities without a 
detachment in their boundaries. This subsidy does not currently apply to rural municipalities. The 
reasoning given by Alberta Justice for excluding rural municipalities from the subsidy is that few 
rural municipalities would qualify. RMA disputes this reasoning, as an estimated 10 rural 
municipalities (approximately 15% of RMA’s membership) would apply for the subsidy. 


• Unanswered questions remain about how municipalities with community peace officers and 
other municipal staff dedicated to crime prevention (such as crime analysts) will be 
accommodated in the model. Additionally, it is unclear how the Government of Alberta’s decision 
to take on payments for existing enhanced policing agreements will impact the control that 
municipalities have over how enhanced positions are used.   


Assessment Model Review 


The Government of Alberta has been undertaking a robust review of assessment models for wells, 
pipelines and machinery and equipment, which included technical input from working groups comprised 
of subject matter expects over the past year.  RMA has expressed ongoing concern about the lack of 
consultation on this matter with municipalities and municipal associations given the significant financial 
and viability impacts that changes to the assessment model may have on municipalities. 



https://rmalberta.com/news/government-of-alberta-releases-police-costing-model/





3 


RMA Update for Districts – February 2020 


In December 2019, the Government of Alberta informed RMA that they would be re-launching a more 
inclusive assessment model review through the formation of a committee comprised of municipal 
representatives (including four from RMA) and industry representatives. The committee would look at 
and develop options related to all aspects of the current assessment model of linear and machinery and 
equipment properties, which would then be forwarded to provincial decision-makers for consideration. 
The consultation is expected to conclude in March. RMA is unable to provide members with detailed 
updates due to confidentiality requirements but will provide as much information as possible as the 
consultation progresses. 


RMA Survey on Unpaid Property Taxes 


In October 2019, RMA released a member survey to gather updated statistics on the amount of unpaid 
property taxes RMA members are currently facing from the oil and gas industry. The survey, which closed 
in January 2020, has shown that Alberta’s rural municipalities are collectively facing an estimated $173 
million in unpaid property taxes from oil and gas companies, which is an average of over $2.5 million in 
unpaid taxes per rural municipality. 


The survey results have garnered significant media attention and have thrust the unpaid property tax 
issue onto the Government of Alberta’s radar. It has also resulted in support for reform from the AUMA 
and Alberta’s two large cities in solidarity with RMA. Based on the survey, RMA is hoping to work with 
the Government of Alberta in the coming months to investigate changes to the MGA and other 
legislation, as well as AER policies, to better prevent oil and gas companies from forgoing payment of 
municipal taxes, as well as strengthening the tools municipalities have to recover taxes.  


Resolutions Update – Spring 2020 Resolution Deadline 


Resolutions form an integral part of RMA’s advocacy efforts. In late December, RMA released the Fall 


2019 Advocacy Report Card, which provides an update on RMA’s advocacy efforts and statuses of all 


active resolutions, including initial statuses and RMA reactions to the spring 2019 resolutions.  


In advance of RMA’s upcoming Spring 2020 Convention, the resolution deadline has been set as February 


21, 2020. This means that all resolutions must be submitted to RMA by that date, unless they are 


submitted as an emergent resolution. To submit resolutions or for any resolution-related questions, 


contact RMA Senior Policy Advisor Wyatt Skovron at wyatt@RMAlberta.com. 


Asset Management Update 


RMA, in collaboration with AUMA and Infrastructure Asset Management Alberta (IAMA) have received 
a third round of funding from the FCM’s Municipal Asset Management Program (MAMP). The funding 
will allow for the delivery of three introductory group learning cohorts that will be delivered around the 
province over the next year. Each cohort will include approximately 12 municipalities in different regions 
of the province. The cohorts will allow participants to develop and asset management policy, strategy 
and team terms of reference, as well as an approach to implement asset management in their 
municipalities following the cohorts. The funding will also allow for the development and delivery of an 



https://rmalberta.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/FINAL-RMA-Fall-2019-Advocacy-Report-Card.pdf

https://rmalberta.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/FINAL-RMA-Fall-2019-Advocacy-Report-Card.pdf

mailto:wyatt@RMAlberta.com





4 


RMA Update for Districts – February 2020 


advanced group learning cohort that will be offered to some municipalities that already completed the 
introductory cohort in 2019.  


At this point, RMA, AUMA and IAMA are working on details related to timing, locations and the 
application process. Stay tuned to each association’s newsletter in the upcoming weeks and months for 
information on how to apply.  


RMA Spring 2020 Convention & Resolutions Deadline 


The RMA 2020 Spring Convention and Trade Show is taking place in Edmonton on March 16 to 18 at the 
Edmonton Convention Centre. Online registration is open until February 28. This convention will be a 
great opportunity to engage with the provincial government and your municipal colleagues. Convention 
programming with include educational sessions, plenary speakers, and the resolution session. RMA staff 
will update members as the agenda is finalized.  


RMA’s resolution deadline for the Spring 2020 convention is February 21, 2020. All resolutions must be 
submitted to RMA in a Word document on or prior to this date. Check out the RMA’s Resolutions 
Resources for tips on resolution writing and to access a resolutions template.   


Municipal Funding Update 


RMA is looking forward to engaging with Municipal Affairs on the details of the Local Government Fiscal 
Framework, which is set to replace Municipal Sustainability Initiative (MSI) funding when MSI expires in 
2022. It is anticipated this engagement will commence in spring 2020 and RMA will apprise members of 
details when they are available.  


Federal Advocacy 


The association is currently in the process of formalizing increased federal advocacy efforts to 
complement actions directed through resolutions, to optimize participation in consultation 
opportunities, and to continue to bring the rural Alberta message forward.  


RMA also continues to be  actively involved on the FCM Board of Directors, with recent discussions 
focused on the Western Economic Solutions Taskforce (WEST), advocacy post-election, a governance 
review that is currently underway, and participation on FCM’s 2019 Advocacy Days. WEST is meeting in 
the Edmonton-region in early February to continue discussions in advance of the March FCM board 
meeting.   


Municipal Climate Change Action Centre (MCCAC) Program Updates 


The Municipal Climate Change Action Centre (MCCAC) has exciting programs that can help municipalities 
take action with addressing climate change and reducing greenhouse gas emissions which result in cost 
savings. One program being offered is the Municipal Energy Manager Program which provides funding 
to municipalities to hire an energy manager to lead energy and emissions reducing projects and find 
cost-saving opportunities for your municipality.  Visit www.mccac.ca to learn more about the Municipal 



https://rmalberta.com/events-programs/rma-conventions/spring-convention/

https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/resolutions/

https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/resolutions/

https://rmalberta.com/news/fcm-report-for-rma-members-2/

http://www.mccac.ca/





5 


RMA Update for Districts – February 2020 


Energy Manager program and make sure to check out RMA’s Contact newsletter every week to learn 
about MCCAC program updates.  


For more information about future webinars or programs offered by the MCCAC, please visit the MCCAC 
website or email contact@mccac.ca.  


Upcoming EOEP Courses 


The Elected Officials Education Program (EOEP) will be offering two full day courses on March 16th as 
part of RMA’s Spring 2020 Convention. These courses are designed specifically to equip municipal 
elected officials with tools to help them succeed in their role. The courses being offered at RMA’s spring 
convention are: 


• Regional Partnerships and Collaboration – This course provides participants with an opportunity 
to learn about required collaborative tools such as intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, as 
well as other approaches municipalities can take to build meaningful partnerships with their 
municipal neighbours in a way that is fair and mutually beneficial. 


• Council’s Role in Public Engagement – This course provides an overview of the various ways 
municipalities can engage with citizens, how public input can be integrated into decision-making, 
the dangers and limits of involving the public in municipal decisions, and the importance of 
engagement in supporting sustainable community development. 


Those interested in registering for either course should do so as part of their registration for the 
convention. Online registration is now open and will close on February 28th. 


RMA Business Services 


RMA Business Services continues to work hard to provide you with the best value on goods and services 
through four business units: RMA Insurance, RMA Trade, RMA Fuel, and RMA Benefits. 


RMA Business Services develops municipality-focused procurement programs that reduce expenses and 
cut red tape so that you can focus efforts on what’s truly important. This ‘made-in-Alberta’ approach 
continues to attract a huge base of quality and brand-name suppliers to support you with the complex 
task of serving your communities. 


To provide increased value to you, the RMA Trade team has continued to expand by offering programs 
across Canada.  Now municipalities and other associate municipal organizations from British Columbia 
to Newfoundland leverage the RMA cooperative procurement offerings, adding increased strength and 
stability for all of our members.  


To stay up to date on RMA Business Services programs and opportunities, please subscribe to the 
Advantage newsletter.  


RMA Communications 


Communicating with members is an essential role of the RMA, both to share information and to obtain 
member input.  To ensure that you are receiving the most up to date information, please subscribe to 



mailto:contact@mccac.ca

https://eoep.ca/

https://rmalberta.com/business-services/

https://rmalberta.com/trade/advantage-newsletter/

https://rmalberta.com/trade/advantage-newsletter/

https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/contact-newsletter/





6 


RMA Update for Districts – February 2020 


the Contact newsletter.  Contact is distributed weekly and includes important member bulletins, 
announcements, and links to news articles that may be of interest to Alberta’s municipalities.  


RMA is also active on social media so follow us on Twitter @RuralMA, check us out on LinkedIn, and find 
us on Facebook.  


 



https://rmalberta.com/advocacy/contact-newsletter/

https://twitter.com/ruralma?lang=en

https://ca.linkedin.com/company/rmalberta

https://www.facebook.com/rmalberta/






a
7RFCVG�VQ�/C[QTU�	�4GGXGU�^�)GDTWCT[��������a


a
4WTCN�/'U�CPF�&QWPVKGU�UGCV�QP�19&�%QCTF�QH�'KTGEVQTU�KU�UVKNN�XCECPV���RNGCUG�GNGEVa
UQOGQPG�CU�UQQP�CU�RQUUKDNG�aa


a


���Ƚ$RRN[�D[�)GDTWCT[����aa
19& KU PQY CEEGRVKPI CRRNKECVKQPU VQ VJG 9CVGTUJGFa a a a a a a a
.GICE[ 2TQITCO HQT QP�VJG�ITQWPF UVGYCTFUJKRa a a a a
RTQLGEVU� NKMG YKNNQY RNCPVKPI� TKRCTKCP HGPEKPI� QHHa a a a a a a
UVTGCO YCVGTKPI VTQWIJU� YGGF RWNNU CPF JCPFU QPa a a a a a a a
YQTMUJQRU� ͲH [QW JCXG C RTQLGEV VJCV YKNN KORTQXG VJGa a a a a a a a a a
YCVGTUJGF NGV WU MPQY CPF YG YKNN CUUKUV [QW VJTQWIJa a a a a a a a a a
VJG�RTQEGUU��/WPKEKRCNKVKGU�CTG�GPEQWTCIGF�VQ�CRRN[�a
a
&CNN�5JCPPQP�CV�������������a
a
6JG�CRRNKECVKQP�HQTO�ECP�DG�HQWPF�CV�VJG�HQNNQYKPIa
NKPM�a
JVVRU���QNFOCPYCVGTUJGF�EC�YNR�YJCVU�DGKPI�FQPGa
a
0GY�2TQLGEV���7PKVKPI�4WTCN�2TQFWEGTU�CPF�7TDCP�&QPUWOGTUaa
19& YKNN DG NGCFKPI C PGY� VJTGG [GCT CITKEWNVWTCN NKVGTCE[ RTQLGEV UVCTVKPI KP $RTKN� 'WTKPIa a a a a a a a a a a a a a a
QWT ���� Ǻ8QKEGU QH VJG 1NFOCP� $ITKEWNVWTG /CVVGTUǻ QWVTGCEJ GXGPVU� RTQFWEGTU KP QWTa a a a a a a a a a a a a
YCVGTUJGF GZRTGUUGF EQPEGTP VJCV QTFKPCT[ RGQRNG NCEM HWPFCOGPVCN MPQYNGFIG CPF VTWUVa a a a a a a a a a a
CDQWV HQQF RTQFWEVKQP� VJG PCVWTCN GPXKTQPOGPV� CPF JQY DQVJ YQTM VQIGVJGT VQ UWUVCKP WUa a a a a a a a a a a a a a


CPF QWT KPFWUVT[� 6JG ETKVKECN PGGF KP QWT CTGC KU VQa a a a a a a a a a a
IGV WTDCP EQPUWOGTU CPF TWTCN RTQFWEGTU YQTMKPIa a a a a a a
VQIGVJGT CPF UWRRQTVKPI GCEJ QVJGTǷU GHHQTVU� 6JKUa a a a a a a
YKNN QPN[ JCRRGP QPEG VJGTG KU C UQNKF DCUG NGXGN QHa a a a a a a a a a a
VTWUV� MPQYNGFIG� CPF WPFGTUVCPFKPI DGVYGGPa a a a a
ITQWRU� 9QTMKPI VQIGVJGT VQ CFFTGUU VJG NCTIGTa a a a a a a
EJCNNGPIGU YG HCEG TGICTFKPI NCPF JGCNVJ� KPFWUVT[a a a a a a a
FGXGNQROGPV� CPF TGUQWTEG UGEWTKV[� KU ETWEKCN VQ VJGa a a a a a a a
UWEEGUU CPF UVCDKNKV[ QH QWT TGIKQP� DQVJ UQEKCNN[ CPFa a a a a a a a a
GEQPQOKECNN[� 5VC[ VWPGF � [QW YKNN DG KPXKVGF VQa a a a a a a a a
RCTVKEKRCVG�a



https://oldmanwatershed.ca/wlp-whats-being-done






VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
January 9, 2020 Minutes 


 
The Regular Village of Glenwood Council meeting and Land Use Bylaw Public 
Hearing was held at the Glenwood Community Hall on January 9, 2020 
scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance:  Mayor Albert Elias, Deputy Mayor David Rolfson, Councillors 
Gerald Carter, Barton Lybbert and Myron Lybbert were in attendance. 
 
Officials:  CAO Marilee Campbell was in attendance. 


 
 


 


 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes January 9, 2020 Initials: Page 1 of 2 
 


 


Called to Order 
 
 
Prayer 
 
Agenda Adoption 
2020.01.001 
 
Minutes Adoption 
2020.01.002 
 
 
Delegations: 
 
Items for Discussion: 
Appointment to 
Municipal Planning 
Commission 
2020.01.003 
 
 
 
 
Request for Viability 
Review 
2020.01.004 
 
 
 
 
Municipal 
Accountability Program  
2020.01.005 
 
 
 
 
 
Council & CAO Reports 
Councillor Carter 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert 
 
Councillor B. Lybbert 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
 
 
 
Mayor Elias 
 


Mayor Elias called the January 9, 2020 Regular Council Meeting to 
order at 7:03 PM 
 
Glen Goetz 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to adopt the agenda as presented. 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 
2019.12.12 Regular Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
Mayor Elias MOVED to appoint Wayne Smith to the Municipal 
Planning Commission for a shortened one year term to expire at the 
next Village of Glenwood Organizational Meeting. 


Carried 
 
 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to instruct administration to 
complete the required paperwork and request a Viability Review 
from Alberta Municipal Affairs. 


Defeated 
 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to sub-delegate to the Chief 
Administrative Officer for the Village of Glenwood the authority to 
appoint a clerk(s) of the Chinook Intermunicipal Subdivision and 
Development Appeal Board. 


Carried 
 
 


 Attended Mayors & Reeves 
 


 No meetings this month 
 


 No meetings this month 
 


 Attended Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Authority 
(CMRSWA) meeting 


 No Glenwood Municipal Library meeting this month 
 


 Attended the Alberta SouthWest Alliance (ABSW) meeting – 
Travel Alberta is experiencing budget cutbacks 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes January 9, 2020 Initials: Page 2 of 2 
 


CAO Marilee Campbell 
 
2020.01.006 
 
 
 
Financial Reports 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2020.01.007 
 
 
 
Correspondence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2020.01.008 
 
Closed Meeting 
2020.01.009 
 
 
 
 
 
2020.01.010 
 
 
 
 
 
2020.01.011 
 
 
Adjournment 
2020.01.012 


 CAO Report presented as outlined in the agenda 
  
Councillor Carter MOVED to accept the councillor and CAO reports 
as information. 


Carried 
 
 Council reviewed the Accounts Payable Cheques for 


December (20190516 - 20190559) 
 Council reviewed the Budget VS Actual report as of 


December 31, 2019 
 Council reviewed the bank reconciliation for December 31, 


2019 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to accept the financial reports as 
information. 


Carried 
 


a) 2019.12.05 CCES minutes 
b) 2019.12.06 M&R minutes 
c) 2019.12.11 CMRSWA minutes 
d) 2019.12.18 AHS EMS Notification of Helicopter HEMS 


Review 
e) 2020 Seniors Week EOI 
f) 2020.01 RMA District Update 
g) CMRSWA III-D 2020 Budget & 2019 Fin. Stmt 


Working Budget 
h) CMRSWA III-D requisition20 
i) DRAFT Joint Fire Services Agreement 2019.11.25 
j) Viability Review Request 


 
Mayor Elias MOVED to accept the correspondence as information. 


Carried 
 
Mayor Elias MOVED to close the meeting to the public at 8:10 PM to 
discuss 1) Employee Matters – CAO Evaluation and 2) Contractual 
Negotiations – County Water Agreement; as per Section 24 of the 
FOIP Act. 


Carried 
 
Mayor Elias MOVED to open the meeting to the public at 8:44 PM. 


Carried 
 
The Regular Council Meeting resumed at 8:50 PM allowing for the 
public to rejoin the meeting. 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED that the Chief Administrative Officer 
Annual Review is complete. 


Carried 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 8:55 PM. 


Carried 
 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Chief Administrative Officer 


  
 








 


Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 
FINAL DRAFT 


January 2020 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


Prepared by 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | i 


TA
B
LE
 O
F 
C
O
N
TE
N
TS
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 


ADMINISTRATION  Page 


GENERAL 


Section 1  Title  ..........................................................................................................................  1 


Section 2  Purpose  ...................................................................................................................  1 


Section 3  Effective Date  ..........................................................................................................  1 


Section 4  Repeal of Former Bylaw  ..........................................................................................  1 


Section 5  Severability  ..............................................................................................................  1 


Section 6  Compliance with the Land Use Bylaw  .....................................................................  1 


Section 7  Compliance with Other Legislation  .........................................................................  2 


Section 8  Rules of Interpretation  ............................................................................................  2 


Section 9  Measurements and Standards  ................................................................................  2 


Section 10  Forms, Fees and Notices  .........................................................................................  2 


Section 11  Appendices  ..............................................................................................................  3 


APPROVING AUTHORITIES 


Section 12  Development Authority  ..........................................................................................  3 


Section 13  Development Officer – Powers and Duties  .............................................................  3 


Section 14  Municipal Planning Commission  .............................................................................  4 


Section 15  Council  .....................................................................................................................  5 


Section 16  Subdivision and Development Appeal Board (SDAB)  ..............................................  5 


DEVELOPMENT IN GENERAL 


Section 17  Land Use Districts  ....................................................................................................  5 


Section 18  Suitability of Sites  ....................................................................................................  6 


Section 19  Number of Dwelling Units on a Parcel  ....................................................................  7 


Section 20  Non‐Conforming Buildings and Uses  ......................................................................  7 


Section 21  Development on Non‐Conforming Sized Lots  .........................................................  7 


Section 22  Non‐Conforming Variances  .....................................................................................  7 


Section 23  Development Agreements  ......................................................................................  7 


DEVELOPMENT PERMIT RULES AND PROCEDURES 


Section 24  Development Permit – When Required  ..................................................................  8 


Section 25  Development Not Requiring a Permit  .....................................................................  8 


Section 26  Development Permit Application  ............................................................................  9 


Section 27  Determination of Complete Development Permit Application  ..............................  9 


Section 28  Permitted Use Applications  ...................................................................................  10 


Section 29  Discretionary Use Applications  .............................................................................  12 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


ii | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


TA
B
LE
 O
F 
C
O
N
TE
N
TS
  Section 30  Similar Use  .............................................................................................................  12 


Section 31  Temporary Use  ......................................................................................................  13 


Section 32  Applications Requesting Variance of Bylaw Provisions  .........................................  14 


Section 33  Notification of Adjacent Landowners and Persons  
Likely Affected  .......................................................................................................  14 


Section 34  Notice of Decision  .................................................................................................  15 


Section 35  Commencement of Development  .........................................................................  15 


Section 36  Development Permit Validity  ................................................................................  16 


Section 37  Transferability of Development Permit  ................................................................  16 


Section 38  Failure to Make a Decision – Deemed Refusal  ......................................................  17 


Section 39  Reapplication for a Development Permit  ..............................................................  17 


Section 40  Suspension or Cancellation of a Permit  ................................................................  17 


Section 41  Development Appeals  ...........................................................................................  18 


ENFORCEMENT 


Section 42  Notice of Violation  ................................................................................................  18 


Section 43  Stop Orders  ...........................................................................................................  19 


Section 44  Enforcement of Stop Orders  .................................................................................  19 


Section 45  Penalties and Right of Entry  ..................................................................................  19 


AMENDMENTS 


Section 46  Amendments to the Land Use Bylaw  ....................................................................  20 


Section 47  Land Use Redesignation Application Requirements  .............................................  20 


Section 48  Redesignation Criteria  ...........................................................................................  22 


SUBDIVISION 


Section 49  Application and Decision  .......................................................................................  22 


Section 50  Lot Design  ..............................................................................................................  23 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLES 


Section 51  Recreational Vehicle Requirements .......................................................................  23 


ADMINISTRATION DEFINITIONS 


Section 52  Administration Definitions  ....................................................................................  24 


Schedule 1  LAND USE DISTRICTS 


Section 1  Division of Municipality  .........................................................................................  35 


Section 2  Intent of Land Use Districts  ...................................................................................  35 


Schedule 2  USE REGULATION 


Section 1  Use Categories and Specific Uses  ..........................................................................  37 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | iii 


TA
B
LE
 O
F 
C
O
N
TE
N
TS
 Section 2  Use Table  ...............................................................................................................  38 


Section 3  Land Use Definitions  .............................................................................................  41 


Schedule 3  DIMENSION STANDARDS AND SETBACKS 


Section 1  Dimension Standards and Minimum Setbacks  .....................................................  55 


Section 2  Minimum Lot Size  ..................................................................................................  55 


Section 3  Minimum Setbacks  ................................................................................................  56 


Section 4  Floor Area and Building Height  .............................................................................  58 


Schedule 4  DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


Section 1  Development Not Requiring A Permit  ..................................................................  61 


Schedule 5  GENERAL AND USE SPECIFIC STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


Section 1  Statutory Plans  ......................................................................................................  63 


Section 2  Approval of Access  ................................................................................................  63 


Section 3  Design and Orientation of Buildings, Structures and Signs  ...................................  63 


Section 4  Development of Lands Subject to Subsidence, Undermining  
or Flooding  ............................................................................................................  63 


Section 5  Grading and Stormwater Management  ................................................................  63 


Section 6  Shipping Containers  ..............................................................................................  64 


Section 7  Telecommunication Antenna Siting Protocols  ......................................................  65 


Schedule 6  RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


Section 1  Accessory Buildings  ...............................................................................................  67 


Section 2  Apartments and Multi‐Unit Dwellings  ..................................................................  67 


Section 3  Easements  .............................................................................................................  67 


Section 4  Corner Visibility  .....................................................................................................  68 


Section 5  Driveways, Off‐Street Parking Requirements and Design Standards  ...................  68 


Section 6  Fences ....................................................................................................................  69 


Section 7  Retaining Walls, Grading and Drainage .................................................................  69 


Section 8  Site Lighting  ...........................................................................................................  69 


Section 9  Refuse Collection and Storage  ..............................................................................  69 


Section 10  Servicing  ................................................................................................................  70 


Section 11  Development and Servicing Agreements  ..............................................................  70 


Section 12  Private Swimming Pools  ........................................................................................  71 


Section 13  Manufactured Homes  ...........................................................................................  71 


Section 14  Moved‐in Buildings ................................................................................................  72 


Schedule 7  COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIAL STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


Section 1  Easements  .............................................................................................................  73 


Section 2  Corner Visibility  .....................................................................................................  73 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


iv | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


TA
B
LE
 O
F 
C
O
N
TE
N
TS
  Section 3  Fencing  ..................................................................................................................  73 


Section 4  Retaining Walls, Grading and Drainage .................................................................  74 


Section 5  Outdoor Display and Storage  ................................................................................  74 


Section 6  Mitigation of Impacts for Noise, Odors, Vibration, and Air Quality  ......................  74 


Section 7  Accessory Buildings  ...............................................................................................  75 


Section 8  Moved‐in Buildings ................................................................................................  75 


Section 9  Gas Bars, Service Stations and Bulk Fuel Stations  .................................................  76 


Section 10  Horticulture or Greenhouses  ................................................................................  76 


Schedule 8  ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


Section 1  Alternative Energy  .................................................................................................  77 


Schedule 9  CANNABIS REGULATION 


Section 1  Definitions  .............................................................................................................  79 


Section 2  Cannabis Retail Store  ............................................................................................  79 


Section 3  Cannabis Production Facility  .................................................................................  80 


APPENDIX A  FORMS AND NOTICES 


Form A  Application for Development Permit 


Form B  Notice of Decision on Application for a Development Permit 


Form C  Development Permit – Permitted 


  Development Permit – Discretionary 


Form D  Notice of Municipal Planning Commission Meeting 


Form E  Application for Time Extension 


Form F  Stop Order 


Form G  Application for a Land Use Bylaw Amendment 


APPENDIX B  TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA SITING PROTOCOL EXCLUSION LIST 


APPENDIX C  FEE SCHEDULE 


APPENDIX D  LAND USE DISTRICTS MAP 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


ADMINISTRATION 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 1 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD  


Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


 ADMINISTRATION 


GENERAL 


SECTION 1  TITLE 


1.1  This bylaw may be cited as the “Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw.” 


SECTION 2  PURPOSE 


2.1  The purpose of this bylaw is to, amongst other things: 


(a)  divide the municipality into districts; 


(b)  prescribe and regulate the use(s) for each district; 


(c)  establish a method  for making decisions on applications  for development permits 
and issuing development permits for a development; and 


(d)  provide the manner  in which notice of the  issuance of a development permit  is to 
be given. 


SECTION 3  EFFECTIVE DATE 


3.1  This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading thereof. 


SECTION 4  REPEAL OF FORMER BYLAW 


4.1  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 218‐2006 and amendments thereto are hereby 
repealed. 


SECTION 5  SEVERABILITY 


5.1  If any provision of this bylaw is held to be invalid by a decision of a court of competent 
jurisdiction, that decision will not affect the validity of the remaining portions. 


SECTION 6  COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAND USE BYLAW  


6.1  No development, other than those designated in Schedule 4 of this bylaw (Development 
Not Requiring a Permit),  shall be undertaken within  the Village unless a development 
application has been approved and a development permit has been issued. 


6.2  Notwithstanding  subsection  6.1,  while  a  development  permit  may  not  be  required 
pursuant to Schedule 4, development shall comply with all regulations of this bylaw.  


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


2 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 7  COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER LEGISLATION 


7.1  Compliance  with  the  requirements  of  this  bylaw  does  not  exempt  any  person 
undertaking a development from complying with all applicable municipal, provincial or 
federal  legislation,  and  respecting  any  easements,  covenants,  agreements  or  other 
contracts affecting the land or the development. 


SECTION 8  RULES OF INTERPRETATION 


8.1  Unless otherwise required by the context, words used  in the present tense  include the 
future  tense;  words  used  in  the  singular  include  the  plural;  and  the  word  person 
includes a corporation as well as an individual.  The Interpretation Act, Chapter I‐8, RSA 
2000 as amended,  shall be used  in  the  interpretation of  this bylaw.   Words have  the 
same meaning whether they are capitalized or not. 


8.2  The written  regulations of  this bylaw  take precedence over any graphic or diagram  if 
there is a perceived conflict. 


8.3  The Land Use Districts Map takes precedence over any graphic or diagram in the district 
regulations if there is a perceived conflict. 


8.4  All references to engineering requirements shall be prepared by an engineer registered 
with The Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Alberta (APEGA). 


SECTION 9  MEASURMENTS AND STANDARDS 


9.1  All  units  of measure  contained within  this  bylaw  are metric  (SI)  standards.    Imperial 
measurements and conversions are provided for information only. 


SECTION 10  FORMS, FEES AND NOTICES 


10.1  For the purposes of administering the provisions of this bylaw, Council may authorize by 
separate resolution or bylaw as may be applicable, the preparation and use of such fee 
schedules,  forms or notices as  in  its discretion  it may deem necessary.   Any  such  fee 
schedules, forms or notices are deemed to have the full force and effect of this bylaw in 
execution of the purpose for which they are designed, authorized and issued. 


10.2  Application forms and notices are included in Appendix A. 


10.3  Application fees are found in the Village of Glenwood Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw. 


10.4  Refund of application fees requires approval of the Village Council. 


10.5  In any case, where the required fee is not listed in the current Rates, Fees and Charges 
Bylaw, such fee shall be determined by the Development Officer or Municipal Planning 
Commission  and  shall be  consistent with  those  fees  listed  in  the  schedule  for  similar 
developments. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 3 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


10.6  If development is commenced without a valid development permit, a stop order will be 
issued and an additional fee, in the amount prescribed under the fee schedule, shall be 
payable upon application for the development permit.  


SECTION 11  APPENDICES 


11.1  Appendices A through C attached hereto are for  informational purposes only and may 
be amended from time to time as they do not form part of the Village of Glenwood Land 
Use Bylaw. 


APPROVING AUTHORITIES 


SECTION 12  DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 


12.1  The  Development  Authority  is  established  in  accordance  with  Village  of  Glenwood 
Subdivision and Development Authority and Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw No. 
234‐2012. 


12.2  In  the absence of  the Development Officer,  the  following are authorized  to act  in  the 
capacity of Development Officer: 


(a)  Municipal Planning Commission; 


(b)  Chief Administrative Officer; or 


(c)  a designate(s) in accordance with the Municipal Government Act (MGA). 


12.4  The Development Officer is an authorized person in accordance with section 624 of the 
Municipal Government Act. 


12.5  The Development Authority shall perform such powers and duties as are specified: 


(a)  in the Village of Glenwood Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw; 


(b)  in this bylaw; 


(c)  in the Municipal Government Act;  


(d)  where applicable, by resolution of Council. 


SECTION 13  DEVELOPMENT OFFICER – POWERS AND DUTIES 


13.1  The  office  of  the Development Officer  is  hereby  established  and  such  office  shall  be 
filled by one or more persons as appointed by resolution of Council. 


13.2  The Development Officer: 


(a)  shall receive and process all applications for development permits; 


(b)  shall maintain  for  the  inspection of  the public during office hours, a  copy of  this 
bylaw  and  all  amendments  thereto  and  ensure  that  copies  of  the  same  are 
available  for public purchase, as outlined  in  the  current Rates, Fees and Charges 
Bylaw. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


4 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(c)  shall  also  establish  and  maintain  a  register  in  which  shall  be  recorded  the 
application  made  for  a  development  permit  and  the  decision  made  on  the 
application,  and  contain  any  such  other  information  as  the Municipal  Planning 
Commission considers necessary; 


(d)  shall consider and decide on applications for a development permit for: 


(i)  permitted uses that comply with this Land Use Bylaw; 


(ii)  permitted uses that request one (1) variance of a measurable standard not to 
exceed 10 percent;  


(iii)  permitted  uses  on  existing  registered  lots  where  the  Municipal  Planning 
Commission granted a variance(s)  to  the minimum  lot width,  length and/or 
area requirements as part of a subdivision approval (see Section 16);  


(iv)  landscaping; 


(v)  fences, walls or other types of enclosures; and 


(vi)  demolition;  


(e)  shall  refer  to  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  all  development  permit 
applications  for  which  decision making  authority  has  not  been  assigned  to  the 
Development Officer; 


(f)  may refer any development application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a 
decision and may refer any other planning or development matter to the Municipal 
Planning Commission for its review, comment or advice; 


(g)  shall notify adjacent landowners and any persons who are likely to be affected by a 
proposed development in accordance with Section 33 of this bylaw; 


(h)  shall receive, review, and refer any applications to amend this bylaw to Council; 


(i)  shall  issue  the  written  notice  of  decision  and/or  development  permit  on  all 
development  permit  applications  and  any  other  notices,  decisions  or  orders  in 
accordance with Section 34 of this bylaw; 


(j)  may  receive  and  consider  and  decide  on  requests  for  time  extensions  for 
development permits which the Development Officer has approved and shall refer 
to  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  those  requests  which  the  Municipal 
Planning Commission has approved; 


(k)  shall provide a regular report to the Municipal Planning Commission summarizing 
the  applications made  for  a  development  permit  and  the  decision made  on  the 
applications,  and  any  other  information  as  the Municipal  Planning  Commission 
considers necessary; and 


(l)  shall  perform  any  other  powers  and  duties  as  are  specified  in  this  bylaw,  the 
Municipal  Planning  Commission  Bylaw,  the  Municipal  Government  Act  or  by 
resolution of Council. 


SECTION 14  MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION  


14.1  The Municipal Planning Commission may exercise only  such powers and duties as are 
specified  in the Municipal Government Act, the Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw, 
this bylaw, or by resolution of Council. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 5 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


14.2  The Municipal Planning Commission shall be responsible for: 


(a)  considering and deciding upon development permit applications  referred  to  it by 
the Development Officer; 


(b)  providing recommendations on planning and development matters referred to it by 
the Development Officer or Council; 


(c)  considering  and  deciding  upon  requests  for  time  extensions  on  development 
permit applications referred to it by the Development Officer;  


(d)  considering and deciding upon applications for subdivision approval; 


(e)  processing condominium certificates; and 


(f)  time extensions for subdivision; 


(g)  any other powers and duties as are specified in this bylaw, the Municipal Planning 
Commission Bylaw, the Municipal Government Act or by resolution of Council. 


SECTION 15  COUNCIL 


15.1  Council  may  be  responsible  for  considering  and  deciding  upon  requests  for  time 
extensions on  subdivision  approvals  in  accordance with  section  657 of  the Municipal 
Government Act.  


SECTION 16  SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD (SDAB) 


16.1  The Subdivision and Development Appeal Board (SDAB) is established by separate bylaw 
pursuant to the Municipal Government Act, and may exercise such powers and duties as 
are specified in this bylaw, the MGA and the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board 
Bylaw. 


DEVELOPMENT IN GENERAL  


SECTION 17   LAND USE DISTRICTS  


17.1  The Village of Glenwood is divided into those land use districts shown in Schedule 1 on 
the Land Use Districts Map.  


17.2  The one or more uses of land or buildings that are:  


(a)  permitted uses in each district, with or without conditions; and/or  


(b)  discretionary uses in each district, with or without conditions;  


are described in Schedule 2 – Use Table 2.2.1.  


17.3  A land use that is not listed as a permitted or discretionary use but which is reasonably 
similar in character and purpose to a permitted or discretionary use in that district may 
be deemed a similar use by the Development Authority  in accordance with Section 30 
Similar Use.  


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


6 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


17.4  A land use not listed as a permitted or discretionary use or not deemed a similar use, in 
a district is a prohibited use and shall be refused.  


SECTION 18  SUITABILITY OF SITES 


18.1  Notwithstanding  that  a  use  of  land may  be  permitted  or  discretionary  or  considered 
similar  in  nature  to  a  permitted  or  discretionary  use  in  a  land  use  district,  the 
Development Authority, as applicable, may  refuse  to approve a  subdivision or  issue a 
development  permit  if  the  Development  Authority  is  made  aware  of  or  if  in  their 
opinion,  the  site of  the proposed building or use  is not  safe or  suitable based on  the 
following:  


(a)  does not have  safe  legal and physical access  to a maintained  road  in accordance 
with  the  Land  Use  Bylaw,  other  municipal  requirements  or  those  of  Alberta 
Transportation  if within 300 m (984 ft) of a provincial highway or 800 m (2,625 ft) 
from the centre point of an intersection of a controlled highway and a public road; 


(b)  has  a  high  water  table  or  soil  conditions  which  make  the  site  unsuitable  for 
foundations  and/or  sewage  disposal  systems  in  accordance  with  the  provincial 
regulations; 


(c)  is situated on an unstable slope; 


(d)  consists of unconsolidated material unsuitable for building; 


(e)  does  not  comply  with  the  requirements  of  the  Provincial  Land  Use  Policies, 
Regional  Plan,  Subdivision  and  Development  Regulation  or  any  other  applicable 
Statutory Plans; 


(f)  is situated over an active or abandoned coal mine or oil or gas well or pipeline; 


(g)  is unsafe due to contamination by previous land uses; 


(h)  does not meet  the minimum  setback  requirements  from  a  sour gas well or bulk 
ammonia storage facility; 


(i)  does not have adequate water and sewer provisions; 


(j)  does not meet  the  lot  size  and/or  setback  requirements or  any other  applicable 
standards or requirements of the Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw; 


(k)  is  subject  to  any  easement,  caveat,  restrictive  covenant  or  other  registered 
encumbrance which makes it impossible to build on the site. 


18.2  Nothing  in  this  section  shall  prevent  the Development Officer  or Municipal  Planning 
Commission,  as  applicable,  from  issuing  a  development  permit  if  the  Development 
Officer or Municipal Planning Commission is satisfied that there is no risk to persons or 
property or  that  these  concerns will be met by  appropriate  engineering measures or 
other mitigating measures and approvals from provincial and/or federal agencies have 
been obtained, as applicable. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 7 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 19  NUMBER OF DWELLING UNITS ON A PARCEL  


19.1  No  more  than  one  dwelling  unit  shall  be  constructed  or  located  or  caused  to  be 
constructed or  located on  a parcel except  as provided  for  in  the  land use district  for 
which the application is made (e.g. duplex dwellings, multi‐unit dwellings, manufactured 
home park, secondary suite, as permitted in the applicable land use district). 


19.2  Two or more dwellings are discretionary. 


SECTION 20  NON‐CONFORMING BUILDINGS AND USES 


20.1  A  non‐conforming  building  or  use  may  only  be  continued  in  accordance  with  the 
conditions detailed in section 643 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SECTION 21  DEVELOPMENT ON NON‐CONFORMING SIZED LOTS 


21.1  Development on an existing registered non‐conforming sized lot that does not meet the 
minimum requirements for lot length, width or area specified in the applicable land use 
district  in  Schedule  2 may  be  permitted  at  the  discretion  of  the Municipal  Planning 
Commission. 


21.2  The Development Officer  is  authorized  to  permit  development  on  existing  registered 
non‐conforming sized lots for permitted uses where the Municipal Planning Commission 
issued a variance(s) to the minimum requirements for  lot  length, width and/or area as 
part of a subdivision approval. 


SECTION 22  NON‐CONFORMING VARIANCES 


22.1  The Municipal  Planning  Commission  is  authorized  to  exercise minor  variance  powers 
with respect to non‐conforming buildings pursuant to section 643(5)(c) of the Municipal 
Government Act.  


SECTION 23  DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS 


23.1  The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a development, as a 
condition of issuing a development permit, the applicant enter into an agreement with 
the municipality, pursuant to section 650(1) of the Municipal Government Act, to do any 
or all of the following:  


(a)  to  construct or pay  for  the  construction of a  road  required  to give access  to  the 
development: including culverts and other drainage; 


(b)  to install or pay for the installation of public utilities, that are necessary to serve the 
development;  


(c)  to  construct  or  pay  for  the  construction  of  off‐street,  or  other  parking  facilities 
and/or loading and unloading facilities;  


(d)  to pay an off‐site levy or redevelopment levy; 


(e)  to give security to ensure that the terms of the agreement under this section are 
carried out. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


8 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


23.2 The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a subdivision that as a 


condition of issuing an approval for a subdivision, the applicant enter into an agreement 


with the municipality, pursuant to section 655(1)(b) of the Municipal Government Act.  


23.3 An agreement referred to  in this section may require the applicant  for a development 


permit  or  subdivision  approval  to  oversize  improvements  in  accordance with  section 


651 of the Municipal Government Act.   


23.4 A  municipality  may  register  a  caveat  under  the  Land  Titles  Act  with  respect  to  an 


agreement  under  this  section  against  the  certificate  of  title  for  the  land  that  is  the 


subject  of  the  development,  or  for  the  parcel  of  land  that  is  the  subject  of  the 


subdivision.  


23.5 If a municipality  registers a caveat under  this section,  the municipality must discharge 


the caveat when the agreement has been complied with.  


23.6 As a condition of subdivision approval, all development agreements may be registered 


concurrently by caveat onto individual lots being created.  


DEVELOPMENT PERMIT RULES AND PROCEDURES  


SECTION 24  DEVELOPMENT PERMIT – WHEN REQUIRED 


24.1  Except as otherwise provided for  in Schedule 4 (Development Not Requiring a Permit), 
all development shall be required to obtain a development permit. 


24.2  In  addition  to meeting  the  requirements  of  this  bylaw,  it  is  the  responsibility  of  the 
applicant to ascertain, obtain and comply with all other approvals and licenses that may 
be  required  by  other  federal,  provincial  or  municipal  regulatory  departments  or 
agencies. 


SECTION 25  DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


25.1  This  section  does  not  negate  the  requirement  of  obtaining  all  required  permits,  as 
applicable,  under  the  Safety  Codes  Act  and  any  other  Provincial  or  Federal  statute.  
Applicants shall provide copies of the required permits to the municipality. 


25.2  This  section  does  not  negate  the  requirement  of  obtaining  a  business  license where 
required. 


25.3  Developments not requiring a permit are listed in Schedule 4. 


25.4  If  there  is a question as  to whether a development permit  is  required  for a particular 
use,  the  matter  shall  be  referred  to  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  for  a 
determination. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 9 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 26  DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 


26.1  An application for a development permit shall be made to the Development Officer by 
submitting:  


(a)  a  completed development permit  application,  signed by  the  registered owner or 
authorized by the owner pursuant to subsection 26.2; 


(b)  the prescribed  fee, as  set by Council  in  the Village of Glenwood Rates, Fees and 
Charges Bylaw; 


(c)  a  description  of  the  existing  and  proposed  use  of  the  land,  building(s)  and/or 
structures and whether it is a new development, an alteration/addition, relocation 
or change of use and whether the use is temporary in nature; 


(d)  a site plan acceptable to the Development Officer indicating: 


(i)  the  location  of  all  existing  and  proposed  buildings  and  structures  and 
registered  easements  or  rights‐of‐way,  dimensioned  to  property  lines  and 
drawn to a satisfactory scale; 


(ii)  existing and proposed parking and loading areas, driveways, abutting streets, 
avenues and lanes, and surface drainage patterns; 


(iii)  where applicable,  the  location of existing wells, septic  tanks, disposal  fields, 
culverts and crossings; 


(iv)  any  additional  information  as  may  be  stipulated  in  the  standards  of 
development; 


(v)  any such other information as may be required by the Development Officer or 
Municipal Planning Commission  to evaluate an application  including but not 
limited  to:  conceptual  design  schemes,  landscaping  plans,  building  plans, 
drainage plans, servicing and  infrastructure plans,  soil analysis, geotechnical 
reports and/or other reports regarding site suitability, Real Property Report, 
or a surveyors sketch. 


26.2  An application for a development permit must be made by the registered owner of the 
land on which the development is proposed.  An application may be made by a person 
who is not the registered owner of the land only with written consent of the owner.  The 
Development Officer may request a current title documenting ownership and copies of 
any registered encumbrance, lien or interest registered on title. 


SECTION 27  DETERMINATION OF COMPLETE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 


27.1  Where  the  Development  Officer  or  Municipal  Planning  Commission  finds  that  a 
development  or  use  of  land  or  buildings  is  not  in  accordance  with  the  Municipal 
Government Act,  the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a development permit 
or  subdivision approval, or  this bylaw,  the Development Officer may  issue a notice of 
violation to the registered owner or the person in possession of the land or buildings or 
to the person responsible for the contravention. 


27.2  A  Development  Officer  shall,  within  20  days  after  the  receipt  of  an  application, 
determine whether the application is complete. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


10 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


27.3  An application is complete if, in the opinion of the Development Officer, the application 
contains the documents and other information necessary to review the application. 


27.4  The  time period  referred  to  in  subsection 27.1 may be extended by an agreement  in 
writing between the applicant and the Development Officer. 


27.5  If  the Development Officer does not make  a determination  referred  to  in  subsection 
27.1 within  the  time  required under subsection 27.1,  the application  is deemed  to be 
complete. 


27.6  If a Development Officer determines that the application is complete, the Development 
Officer shall issue to the applicant a written Notice of Completeness acknowledging that 
the application is complete, delivered by hand, mail or electronic means. 


27.7  If  the  Development  Officer  determines  that  the  application  is  incomplete,  the 
Development Officer  shall  issue  to  the  applicant  a written  notice  indicating  that  the 
application is incomplete and specifying the outstanding documents and information to 
be provided.  A submittal deadline for the outstanding documents and information shall 
be set out in the notice.  A later date may be agreed on between the applicant and the 
Development Officer in writing to extend the deadline. 


27.8  When  the  Development  Officer  determines  that  the  information  and  documents 
required to be submitted under subsection 26.1 are complete, the Development Officer 
shall  issue  to  the applicant a written Notice of Completeness acknowledging  that  the 
application is complete, delivered by hand, mail or electronic means. 


27.9  If  the  required  documents  and  information  under  subsection  26.1  have  not  been 
submitted  to  the Development Officer within  the  timeframe prescribed  in  the notice 
issued under  subsection 27.8,  the Development Officer  shall  return  the application  to 
the  applicant  accompanied  by  a  written  Notice  of  Refusal  stating  the  application  is 
deemed refused and the reasons for refusal. 


27.10  Despite  issuance of a Notice of Completeness under subsection 27.8, the Development 
Officer in the course of reviewing the application may request additional information or 
documentation from the applicant that the Development Officer considers necessary to 
review the application. 


27.11  The Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may refuse to accept a 
development  permit  application  where  the  information  required  by  subsection  26.1 
(Development Permit Application)  is  incomplete or where,  in  its opinion, the quality of 
the material supplied is inadequate to properly evaluate the application. 


SECTION 28  PERMITTED USE APPLICATIONS 


28.1  Upon receipt of a completed application for a development permit for a permitted use 
that conforms with this bylaw, the Development Officer:  


(a)  shall approve a development permit with or without conditions; or  


(b)  may refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 11 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


28.2  Upon  receipt  of  a  completed  application  for  a  permitted  use  that  requests  a  limited 
variance  not  to  exceed  10  percent  of  one  measurable  standard  of  this  bylaw,  the 
Development Officer:  


(a)  may  grant  the  limited  variance  not  to  exceed  10  percent  of  one  measurable 
standard  of  this  bylaw  and  approve  the  development  permit  with  or  without 
conditions  if,  in  the opinion of  the Development Officer,  the  variance would not 
unduly  interfere with  the amenities of  the neighbourhood or materially  interfere 
with or affect the use, enjoyment or value of neighbouring parcels of land; or 


(b)  may  refer  the development application  involving a  request  for a  limited variance 
not  to  exceed  10  percent  of  one  measurable  standard  of  this  bylaw  to  the 
Municipal Planning Commission for a decision; 


(c)  is required to notify adjacent  landowners or persons  likely to be affected prior to 
issuance of a decision on a development permit granting a  limited variance under 
this section. 


28.3  Upon  receipt of a completed application  for a permitted use  that  requests more  than 
one limited variance, a variance(s) exceeding 10 percent of any measurable standard of 
this bylaw, or  a  variance of  any other bylaw provision  the Development Officer  shall 
refer  the application  to  the Municipal Planning Commission  for a decision pursuant  to 
Section 32 (Applications Requesting Variance of Bylaw Provisions). 


28.4  The Development Officer or  the Municipal Planning Commission may place any of  the 
following conditions on a development permit for a permitted use:  


(a)  requirement for applicant to enter into a development agreement;  


(b)  payment of any applicable off‐site levy or redevelopment levy;  


(c)  geotechnical investigation to ensure that the site is suitable in terms of topography, 
soil characteristics, flooding,  subsidence, mass wasting and erosion;  


(d)  alteration  of  a  structure  or  building  size  or  location  to  ensure  any  setback 
requirements  of  this  land  use  bylaw  or  the  Subdivision  and  Development 
Regulation can be met;  


(e)  any measures to ensure compliance with the requirements of this  land use bylaw 
or any other statutory plan adopted by the Village of Glenwood;  


(f)  easements and/or encroachment agreements;  


(g)  provision of public utilities, other than telecommunications systems or works, and 
vehicular and pedestrian access;  


(h)  repairs  or  reinstatement  of  original  condition  of  any  street  furniture,  curbing, 
sidewalk,  boulevard  landscaping  and  tree  planting  which  may  be  damaged  or 
destroyed or otherwise  altered by development or building operations upon  the 
site,  to  the  satisfaction  of  the  Development  Officer  or  the  Municipal  Planning 
Commission;  


(i)  to give security to ensure the terms of the permit approval under this section are 
carried out; As outlined in the Rate, Fees and Charges Bylaw. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


12 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(j)  time periods stipulating completion of development;  


(k)  requirement  for  a  lot  and/or  construction  stakeout  conducted  by  an  approved 
surveyor or agent;  


(l)  any measures to ensure compliance with applicable federal, provincial and/or other 
municipal legislation and approvals. 


SECTION 29  DISCRETIONARY USE APPLICATIONS 


29.1  Upon  receipt of a completed application  for a development permit  for a discretionary 
use or a permitted use that requests more than one variance, a variance(s) exceeding 10 
percent  of  any measurable  standard  of  this  bylaw,  or  a  variance  of  any  other  bylaw 
provision, the Development Officer shall:  


(a)  refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision pursuant 
to Section 32 (Applications Requesting Variance of Bylaw Provisions);  


(b)  notify adjacent  landowners and other persons  likely  to be affected  in accordance 
with Section 33 (Notification of Adjacent Landowners and Persons Likely Affected). 


29.2  After  consideration  of  any  response  to  the  notifications  of  adjacent  landowners  and 
other  persons  likely  to  be  affected,  including  Cardston  County,  government 
departments  and  referral  agencies  as  applicable,  compatibility  and  suitability  of  the 
proposed use, and any other matters, the Municipal Planning Commission may:  


(a)  approve a development permit with or without conditions; or 


(b)  refuse to approve the development permit, stating reasons. 


29.3  The  Municipal  Planning  Commission  may  place  any  of  the  conditions  stipulated  in 
subsection  28.4  (Permitted  Use  Applications)  on  a  development  permit  for  a 
discretionary use  in any  land use district,  in addition to any other conditions necessary 
to ensure the quality, suitability and compatibility of a development with other existing 
and approved uses in the area.  


SECTION 30  SIMILAR USE 


30.1  Upon receipt of an application for a development permit for a use that is not specifically 
listed  in  any  land use district, but which may be  similar  in  character  and  purpose  to 
other uses of land and structures in the land use district in which such use is proposed, 
the Development Officer may  classify  the use  as either  similar  to  a permitted use or 
similar to a discretionary use. 


30.2  Where a use has been  classified  similar  to a permitted use,  the Development Officer 
may process  the application accordingly as a permitted use or refer the application to 
the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision.   The notice of the decision shall be 
subject to subsection 34.2. 


30.3  Where a use has been classified similar to a permitted use and requests more than one 
limited variance, a variance(s) exceeding 10 percent of any measurable standard of this 
bylaw, or a variance of any other bylaw provision, the Development Officer shall: 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 13 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(a)  refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision; and 


(b)  notify adjacent  landowners and other persons  likely  to be affected  in accordance 
with Section 33 (Notification of Adjacent Landowners and Persons Likely Affected). 


30.4  Where a use has been classified similar to a discretionary use the Development Officer 
shall:  


(a)  refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision; and 


(b)  notify adjacent  landowners and other persons  likely  to be affected  in accordance 
with Section 33 (Notification of Adjacent Landowners and Persons Likely Affected). 


30.5  Upon referral of an application by the Development Officer for a use that may be similar 
in  character and purpose  to a permitted or discretionary use,  the Municipal Planning 
Commission: 


(a)  shall rule whether or not the proposed use is similar to a use in the land use district 
in which it is proposed; 


(b)  if the proposed use is deemed similar to a use in the land use district in which it is 
proposed, the application shall be reviewed as a discretionary use application; 


(c)  if the proposed use is not deemed similar to a use in the land use district in which it 
is proposed, the development permit shall be refused. 


SECTION 31  TEMPORARY USE 


31.1  Where  in  the  opinion  of  the Municipal  Planning  Commission,  a  proposed  use  is  of  a 
temporary nature, it may approve a temporary development permit valid for a period of 
up to one year for a use, provided the use is listed as a permitted use, discretionary use 
or deemed similar to a permitted or discretionary use in the applicable land use district. 


31.2  Temporary use applications shall be subject to the following conditions: 


(a)  the  applicant  or  developer  is  liable  for  any  costs  involved  in  the  cessation  or 
removal of any development at the expiration of the permitted period; 


(b)  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  may  require  the  applicant  to  submit  an 
irrevocable letter of credit, performance bond or other acceptable form of security 
guaranteeing the cessation or removal of the temporary use; and 


(c)  any other conditions as deemed necessary. 


31.3  A  use  deemed  temporary  in  nature  shall  be  processed  in  accordance  with  the 
corresponding  Sections 29‐32 of  this bylaw.   Notification of adjacent  landowners and 
other  persons  likely  to  be  affected,  including  Cardston  County,  government 
departments and referral agencies shall be in accordance with Section 33 of this bylaw. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


14 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 32  APPLICATIONS REQUESTING VARIANCE OF BYLAW PROVISIONS 


32.1  Upon receipt of an application for a development permit that does not comply with this 
bylaw  but  in  respect  of  which  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  is  requested  to 
exercise discretion under subsection 32.3, the Development Officer shall:  


(a)  refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision; and 


(b)  notify  adjacent  landowners  and  other  persons  likely  to  be  affected,  including 
Cardston  County,  government  departments  and  any  other  referral  agency  in 
accordance with Section 33. 


32.2  The Municipal Planning Commission  is authorized  to decide upon an application  for a 
development permit notwithstanding that the proposed development does not comply 
with this bylaw,  if  in the opinion of the Municipal Planning Commission, the proposed 
development would not: 


(a)  unduly interfere with the amenities of the neighbourhood; or 


(b)  materially  interfere with  or  affect  the  use,  enjoyment  or  value  of  neighbouring 
properties; 


(c)  and the proposed development conforms with the use prescribed for that  land or 
building within Schedule 2 – Use Regulation. 


32.3  Notify all who originally showed concern. 


SECTION 33  NOTIFICATION OF ADJACENT LANDOWNERS AND PERSONS LIKELY AFFECTED 


33.1  Where notification of  adjacent  landowners  and other persons  likely  to be  affected  is 
required under Sections 29 to 32, and 49, the Development Officer shall: 


(a)  mail (postal service or electronic) written notice of the application at least ten (10) 
days before the meeting of the Municipal Planning Commission to: 


(i)  adjacent  landowners and other persons  likely to be affected by the  issuance 
of a development permit;  


(ii)  Cardston  County  if,  in  the  opinion  of  the  Development  Officer  or  the 
Municipal  Planning  Commission,  the  proposed  development  could  have  an 
impact upon  land uses  in the County or  is adjacent to the County boundary; 
and 


(iii)  any  other  persons,  government  departments  or  referral  agency  that  is 
deemed to be affected; or 


(b)  hand  deliver  written  notice  of  the  application  at  least  five  (5)  days  before  the 
meeting  of  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  to  the  persons  and  agencies 
specified in subsection 33.1(a); or 


(c)  publish a notice of the application in a newspaper circulating in the municipality or 
the Village newsletter at  least  ten  (10) days before  the meeting of  the Municipal 
Planning Commission to  the persons and agencies specified  in subsection 33.1(a); 
or 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 15 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(d)  post a notice of the application in a conspicuous place on the property at least five 
(5) days before the meeting of the Municipal Planning Commission to the persons 
and agencies specified in subsection 33.1(a); or 


(e)  any combination of the above. 


33.2  In all cases, notification shall: 


(a)  describe the nature and location of the proposed use or development; 


(b)  state  the place and  time where  the Municipal Planning Commission will meet  to 
consider  the application, and state how and when written or oral submissions on 
the application will be received and considered; 


(c)  specify the location at which the application can be inspected. 


SECTION 34  NOTICE OF DECISION 


34.1  A decision of  the Development Authority on an application  for a development permit 
must be issued: 


(a)  in writing to the applicant in accordance with subsection 34.2; and 


(b)  a copy of the decision posted in a prominent place in the Village office for 21 days 
or posted  in  a newspaper  circulated within  the municipality or published on  the 
official municipal website; and/or 


(c)  a  copy  of  the  decision  sent  by mail  (postal  service  or  electronic mail  to  those 
originally  notified  of  the  development  permit  application  and  any  other  person, 
government department or  agency  that may  in  the opinion of  the Development 
Officer, likely be affected. 


34.2  The Development Officer will give or send by mail  (postal service or electronic mail) a 
copy of the decision, which specifies the date on which the decision was made, to the 
applicant on the same day the decision is made. 


34.3  For the purpose of subsection 34.2, the “date on which the decision was made” means: 


(a)  the date  the Development Officer  signed  the notice of decision or development 
permit; or 


(b)  the date the decision is posted in the newspaper, whichever occurs later.  


SECTION 35  COMMENCEMENT OF DEVELOPMENT 


35.1  Despite  the  issuance  of  a  development  permit,  no  development  is  authorized  to 
commence until the appeal period has expired in compliance with the following:  


Permitted Uses 


(a)  where the notice of decision  is posted  in the Village Office, development shall not 
commence until 21 days after the date on which the written decision is given under 
section 642 of the Municipal Government Act; 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


16 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(b)  where the notice of decision is published in the newspaper, development shall not 
commence until at least 21 days from the date of publication; 


Discretionary Uses or Applications for Waivers 


(c)  where  the notice of decision  is mailed  to adjacent  landowners and other persons 
likely to be affected, development shall not commence until at  least 21 days after 
the date on which the written decision is given under section 642 of the Municipal 
Government Act; 


(d)  where the notice of decision is published in the newspaper, development shall not 
commence until at least 21 days from the date of publication. 


35.2  If an appeal is made, no development is authorized pending the outcome of the appeal. 


35.3  Any development occurring prior  to  the dates determined under  subsection 35.1 and 
35.2 is at the risk of the applicant. 


SECTION 36  DEVELOPMENT PERMIT VALIDITY 


36.1  Unless  a  development  permit  is  suspended  or  cancelled,  the  development must  be 
commenced  and  carried  out  with  reasonable  diligence  in  the  opinion  of  the 
Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission within 12 months from the 
date of issuance of the permit, otherwise the permit is no longer valid. 


36.2  An application to extend the validity of a development permit may be made at any time 
prior  to  the  expiration  of  the  approved  permit  in  accordance  with  subsection  36.3, 
except for a permit for a temporary use which shall not be extended. 


36.3  Upon receipt of a request to extend the validity of a development permit, the validity of 
a development permit may be extended for up to a period of one year by: 


(a)  the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission  if the permit was 
issued by the Development Officer; 


(b)  the Municipal  Planning  Commission  if  the  permit  was  issued  by  the Municipal 
Planning Commission or approved on appeal by the Subdivision and Development 
Appeal Board. 


36.4  When  any  use  has  been  discontinued  for  a  period  of  12  months  or  more,  any 
development permit that may have been issued is no longer valid and said use may not 
be recommenced until a new application for a development permit has been made and 
a new development permit issued.  This time period does not apply to non‐conforming 
uses which are regulated under section 643 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SECTION 37  TRANSFERABILITY OF DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 


37.1  A valid development permit  is transferable where the use remains unchanged and the 
development is affected only by a change of ownership, tenancy, or occupancy. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 17 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 38  FAILURE TO MAKE A DECISION – DEEMED REFUSAL 


38.1  In accordance with section 684 of  the Municipal Government Act, an application  for a 
development  permit  shall,  at  the  option  of  the  applicant,  be  deemed  to  be  refused 
when the decision of the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission, as 
the  case may be,  is not made within 40 days of  receipt of  the  completed application 
unless the applicant has entered into an agreement with the Development Officer or the 
Municipal Planning Commission to extend the 40‐day decision period. 


SECTION 39  REAPPLICATION FOR A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 


39.1  If an application  for a development permit  is refused by the Development Officer, the 
Municipal Planning Commission or, on appeal the Subdivision and Development Appeal 
Board,  the  submission of  another  application  for  a development permit on  the  same 
parcel of land for the same or for a similar use of the land may not be accepted by the 
Development Officer for at least six months after the date of refusal. 


39.2  If an application was refused solely because it did not comply with the standards of this 
bylaw, the Development Officer may accept another application on the same parcel of 
land  for the same or similar use before the  time period referred to  in subsection 40.1 
has lapsed, provided the application has been modified to comply with this bylaw. 


SECTION 40  SUSPENSION OR CANCELLATION OF A PERMIT 


40.1  If  after  a  development  permit  has  been  issued,  the  Development  Officer  or  the 
Municipal Planning Commission determines that: 


(a)  the application contained a misrepresentation; 


(b)  facts were not disclosed which  should have been at  the  time of consideration of 
the application for the development permit; 


(c)  the development permit was issued in error; or 


(d)  the applicant withdrew the application by way of written notice; 


the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may suspend or cancel 
the development permit by notice  in writing to the holder of  it stating the reasons for 
any suspension or cancellation. 


40.2  Upon  receipt  of  the written  notification  of  suspension  or  cancellation,  the  applicant 
must cease all development and activities to which the development permit relates. 


40.3  A person whose development permit  is suspended or cancelled under this section may 
appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board within 21 days after written 
notice is provided in respect of the suspension or cancellation. 


40.4  If a development permit  is  suspended or cancelled,  the Subdivision and Development 
Appeal  Board  shall  review  the  application  if  an  appeal  is  filed  by  the  applicant  and 
either:  


(a)  reinstate the development permit; or 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


18 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(b)  cancel  the  development  permit  if  the  Development  Officer  or  the  Municipal 
Planning Commission would not have  issued  the development permit  if  the  facts 
subsequently  disclosed  had  been  known  during  the  consideration  of  the 
application; or 


(c)  reinstate  the development permit  and may  impose  such other  conditions  as  are 
considered necessary to ensure that the development is compliant with this bylaw 
or any statutory plan. 


40.5  The applicant or developer is liable for any costs involved in the cessation or removal of 
any development when development permit is canceled or suspended. 


SECTION 41  DEVELOPMENT APPEALS 


41.1  Any  person  applying  for  a  development  permit  or  any  other  person  affected  by  an 
order, decision or development permit made or  issued by  the Development Officer or 
the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  may  appeal  such  an  order  or  decision  to  the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board within 21 days after the date written notice 
is  provided  in  accordance  with  the  procedures  described  in  section  678.2  of  the 
Municipal Government Act. 


41.2  An appeal  to  the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board  shall be commenced by 
serving a written notice of the appeal with reasons to the Subdivision and Development 
Appeal Board and shall be accompanied by the applicable fees. 


41.3  The applicant or developer is liable for any costs involved in the cessation or removal of 
any development when the appeal is denied. 


ENFORCEMENT  


SECTION 42  NOTICE OF VIOLATION 


42.1  Where  the  Development  Officer  or  Municipal  Planning  Commission  finds  that  a 
development  or  use  of  land  or  buildings  is  not  in  accordance  with  the  Municipal 
Government Act,  the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a development permit 
or  subdivision approval, or  this bylaw,  the Development Officer may  issue a notice of 
violation to the registered owner or the person in possession of the land or buildings or 
to the person responsible for the contravention. 


42.2  Such notice shall state the following: 


(a)  nature of the violation; 


(b)  corrective measures required to comply; and 


(c)  time period within which such corrective measures must be performed. 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 19 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 43  STOP ORDERS 


43.1  As  set  forth  in  the Municipal Government Act,  the Municipal  Planning Commission  is 
authorized to issue an Order under section 645 of the MGA if a development,  land use 
or  use  of  a  building  is  not  in  accordance  with  the  MGA,  the  Subdivision  and 
Development Regulation, a development permit or subdivision approval, or this bylaw. 


43.2  A person who receives notice pursuant to subsection 43.1 may appeal the order to the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board within 21 days  in accordance with section 
686 of the MGA. 


SECTION 44  ENFORCEMENT OF STOP ORDERS 


44.1  Pursuant  to  the Municipal Government Act  section 645,  if a person  fails or  refuses  to 
comply  with  an  order  directed  to  the  person  under  section  645,  or  an  order  of  a 
subdivision  and development  appeal board under  section 687,  the designated officer 
may, in accordance with section 542, enter on the land or building and take any action 
necessary to carry out the order. 


44.2  The Development Officer may register a caveat under the Land Titles Act in respect of an 
order referred to in subsection 44.1 against the certificate of title for the land that is the 
subject of an order. 


44.3  If a caveat is registered under subsection 44.2, the Development Officer must discharge 
the caveat when the order has been complied with.  


44.4  If compliance with a stop order is not voluntarily effected, the Development Officer may 
undertake  legal action,  including but not  limited  to,  seeking  injunctive  relief  from  the 
Alberta Court of Queen’s Bench pursuant to section 554 of the Municipal Government 
Act.  In accordance with section 553 of the MGA, the expenses and costs of carrying out 
an order under section 646 of  the MGA may be added  to  the  tax  roll of  the parcel of 
land. 


SECTION 45  PENALTIES AND RIGHT OF ENTRY 


45.1  Any  person  who  contravenes  any  provision  of  this  bylaw  is  guilty  of  an  offence  in 
accordance  with  Part  13,  Division  5,  Offences  and  Penalties  of  the  Municipal 
Government Act and is liable to a fine of not more than $10,000 or to imprisonment for 
not more than one year or to both fine and imprisonment. 


45.2  In accordance with section 542 of  the Municipal Government Act, a designated officer 
may,  after  giving  reasonable  notice  to  and  obtaining  consent  from  the  owner  or 
occupier of  land upon which  this bylaw or MGA authorizes anything  to be  inspected, 
remedied or enforced or done by a municipality: 


(a)  enter on that  land at a reasonable time and carry out  inspection, enforcement, or 
action authorized or required by the enactment or bylaw; 


(b)  request anything to be produced to assist  in the  inspection, remedy, enforcement 
or action; and 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


20 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(c)  make copies of anything related to the inspection, remedy, enforcement or action. 


45.3  If  a  person  refuses  to  grant  consent  or  refuses  to  produce  anything  to  assist  in  the 
inspection, remedy, enforcement or action referred to  in section 542 of the Municipal 
Government Act,  the municipality under  the authority of section 543 of  the MGA may 
obtain a court order. 


AMENDMENTS 


SECTION 46  AMENDMENTS TO THE LAND USE BYLAW 


46.1  Any person or the Village may initiate amendments to the Village of Glenwood Land Use 
Bylaw by submitting an application to the Development Officer. 


46.2  All  applications  for  amendment  shall  be  submitted  using  the  applicable  form  in 
Appendix A, and be accompanied by any additional  information, as deemed necessary 
by the Development Officer to process the application. 


46.3  The  Development  Officer  may  refuse  to  accept  an  application  if  the  information 
supplied is not sufficient to make a proper evaluation of the proposed amendment. 


46.4  Council or the Development Officer may refer the application to the Municipal Planning 
Commission for their recommendation. 


46.5  The Development Officer shall forward an application to Council for consideration when 
satisfied that sufficient information has been provided with the application. 


46.6  Public hearing and notification requirements shall be in accordance with section 692 of 
the Municipal Government Act. 


46.7  Where an application for an amendment to the Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw has 
been refused by Council, another application that  is the same or similar  in nature shall 
not be accepted until at least 12 months after the date of refusal. 


46.8  Where  an  application  has  been  significantly  changed,  Village  Council may  accept  an 
application prior to the end of the 12‐month period specified in subsection 46.7. 


SECTION 47  LAND USE REDESIGNATION APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS  


47.1  A request for redesignation from one land use district to another shall be accompanied 
by:  


(a)  a completed application form and the applicable fee; 


(b)  a copy of the Certificate of Title for the lands, dated not more than 60 days prior to 
the date on which the application was made; 


(c)  a narrative describing the: 


(i)  proposed designation and future uses(s); 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 21 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(ii)  consistency with the applicable statutory plans; 


(iii)  compatibility of the proposal with surrounding uses and zoning; development 
potential/suitability  of  the  site,  including  identification  of  any  constraints 
and/or hazard areas  (e.g. easements,  soil  conditions,  topography, drainage, 
floodplain, steep slopes, etc.); 


(iv)  availability  of  facilities  and  services  (sewage  disposal,  domestic water,  gas, 
electricity,  fire  and  police  protection,  schools,  etc.)  to  serve  the  subject 
property  while  maintaining  adequate  levels  of  service  to  existing 
development; 


(v)  any potential impacts on public roads; and 


(vi)  any  other  information  deemed  necessary  by  the  Development  Officer, 
Municipal Planning Commission, or Council to properly evaluate the proposal. 


(d)  conceptual lot design, if applicable; 


(e)  a geotechnical report as deemed necessary by the Development Officer, Municipal 
Planning Commission, or Council addressing the following but not limited to:  


(i)  slope stability,  


(ii)  groundwater,  


(iii)  sewage,  


(iv)  water table, and 


(v)  flood plain analysis,  


(vi)  an evaluation of surface drainage which may include adjacent properties; and 


(f)  any other  information deemed necessary by  the Development Officer, Municipal 
Planning Commission, or Council to properly evaluate the application.  


47.2  An Area Structure Plan or Conceptual Design Scheme  shall be  required  in conjunction 
with a redesignation application when re‐designating annexed land to a district, except 
where an approved Area Structure Plan or Conceptual Design Scheme defines  land use 
designation(s) for the proposed development area, or unless determined otherwise by 
Council. 


47.3  An Area Structure Plan or Conceptual Design Scheme  shall be  required  in conjunction 
with a redesignation application involving: 


(a)  industrial development; 


(b)  large‐scale commercial development; 


(c)  manufactured home park; 


(d)  multi‐lot residential development resulting in the creation of more than five lots or 
which has the potential to trigger capacity upgrades or expansion of infrastructure; 
or 


(e)  as required by Council. 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


22 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 48  REDESIGNATION CRITERIA 


48.1  When  re‐designating  land  from  one  land  use  district  to  another,  considerations  shall 
include the following: 


(a)  compliance with  applicable  standards  and  provisions  of  the Village  of Glenwood 
Land Use Bylaw; 


(b)  consistency with any adopted statutory plans; 


(c)  compatibility with adjacent uses; 


(d)  development potential/suitability of the site; 


(e)  availability  of  facilities  and  services  (sewage  disposal,  domestic  water,  gas, 
electricity, police and  fire protection,  schools, etc.)  to  serve  the  subject property 
and any potential impacts to levels of service to existing and future developments; 


(f)  cumulative impact to the Village; 


(g)  potential impacts on public roads; 


(h)  setback distances contained in the Subdivision and Development Regulation; 


(i)  supply of suitably designated land; 


(j)  public comment and any applicable review agency comments; and 


(k)  any other matters deemed pertinent. 


(l)  Public notice shall be issued as stated in Section 33.1. 


SUBDIVISION 


SECTION 49  APPLICATION AND DECISION 


49.1  All applications  for  subdivision approval  shall be evaluated by  the Municipal Planning 
Commission in accordance with the following criteria: 


(a)  compliance with statutory plans, bylaws, and regulations; 


(b)  adequacy of road access; 


(c)  provision of municipal services and utilities, including a storm water drainage plan; 


(d)  compatibility with adjacent land uses; 


(e)  accessibility to emergency services; 


(f)  site  suitability  in  terms of minimum dimensional  standards  for  lots  and  all other 
criterion in this bylaw as specified in the applicable land use district in Schedule 3; 


(g)  any other matters the MPC may consider necessary. 


49.2  For  the purpose of  infill development, an application which proposes  to  subdivide an 
accessory  structure onto a  separate  lot may be  considered by  the Municipal Planning 
Commission where: 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 23 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


(a)  the  proposed  lots meet  the  provisions  of  Schedule  3  (Dimension  Standards  and 
Setbacks); 


(b)  the existing and proposed buildings meet the provisions of Schedule 3 (Dimension 
Standards and Setbacks) based on the lot proposed layout; 


(c)  the access of each lot is provided from a public roadway, not a lane or laneway. 


SECTION 50  LOT DESIGN 


50.1  Through  lots  or  double  frontage  lots,  shall  be  avoided  except  where  essential  to 
separate  residential  development  from  traffic  arteries  or  to  overcome  specific 
disadvantages of topography and orientation.  In such cases, access will be allowed only 
on the lower classification street. 


50.2  No  lot or parcel shall be created which does not meet  the minimum standards of  the 
applicable  land use district, except pursuant  to an Area Structure Plan which provides 
for the perpetual maintenance of such remnants. 


50.3  The  length and width of blocks shall be sufficient to accommodate two (2) tiers of  lots 
with minimum  standards  specified  by  the  applicable  zoning  district  and  this  chapter, 
except  where  a  single  row  of  lots  back  up  to  an  arterial  street.    When  reviewing 
proposed  lot  and  block  arrangements,  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  shall 
consider the following factors: 


(a)  Adequate Building Sites Required:  Provisions of adequate building sites suitable to 
the  special  needs  of  the  type  of  land  use  (residential,  commercial  or  other) 
proposed  for  development  shall  be  provided,  taking  into  consideration 
topographical and drainage features. 


(b)  Minimum Lot Sizes Established:   Minimum  land use district and  lot  requirements 
defining  lot  sizes  and  dimensions  shall  be  accommodated  without  creating 
unusable lot remnants. 


(c)  Safe Access Required:   Block  layout  shall enable development  to meet all Village 
engineering requirements  for convenient access, circulation, control and safety of 
street traffic. 


50.4  At the time of subdivision, all corner lots and interior laneway corner lots shall dedicate 
clear vision triangles as right‐of‐way. 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLES 


SECTION 51  RECREATIONAL VEHICLE REQUIREMENTS 


51.1  Recreational  vehicles,  including  but  not  limited  to,  travel  trailers, motor  homes,  tent 
trailers, fifth wheels, bus conversions or campers, shall not be considered a permanent 
residence. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


24 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


51.2  Where a development permit  for a  single‐unit dwelling has been  issued, a  landowner 
seeking to temporarily occupy a recreational vehicle on the subject property while the 
development  is carried out shall be required to obtain a separate development permit 
for this purpose. 


ADMINISTRATION DEFINITIONS  


SECTION 52  ADMINISTRATION DEFINITIONS 


In this bylaw, words used in the singular include the plural.  
 
The following definitions shall apply to the entire bylaw.  


A 


ADDITION means construction  that  increases  the  footprint of an existing building or  structure on  the 
parcel of  land.   Typically there will be a common connection from the existing building to the addition 
that includes a foundation of some type beneath the addition. 


ADJACENT  LAND  OR  ADJACENT  means  land  that  is  contiguous  to  a  parcel  of  land  proposed  for 
development, subdivision or redesignation and includes land that would be contiguous if not for a road, 
railway,  walkway,  watercourse,  water  body,  utility  lot,  right‐of‐way,  reserve  land  or  other  similar 
feature. 


ALTER or ALTERATION means any structural change to a building that results in an increase or decrease 
in the area or the volume of the building; any change in the area frontage, depth, or width of a lot that 
affects  the  required  yard,  landscaped  open  space,  or  parking  requirements  of  this  bylaw;  structural 
change to a sign; and to discontinue or change the principal use of the site or building with a use defined 
as being distinct from the discontinued use. 


AMENITY AREA means  an  area(s) within  the boundaries of  a development  intended  for  recreational 
purposes.   These may  include  landscaped areas, patios, balconies,  swimming pools, and other  similar 
items that are intended for public use. 


APPROVED USE means a use of land and/or building for which a development permit has been issued by 
the Municipal Planning Commission or the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board. 


AREA REDEVELOPMENT PLAN means a statutory plan, prepared  in accordance with sections 634 and 
635 of the Municipal Government Act for the purpose of all or any of the following: 


(a) preserving or improving land and buildings in the area;  


(b) rehabilitating buildings in the area;  


(c) removing buildings from the area;  


(d) constructing or replacing buildings in the area;  


(e) establishing, improving or relocating public roadways, public utilities or other services in the area;  


(f) any other development in the area.  


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 25 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


AREA STRUCTURE PLAN means a statutory plan prepared for the purpose of providing a framework for 
subsequent subdivision and development of an area of  land  (Municipal Government Act, section 633) 
and that may be adopted by a Council by bylaw.  


B 


BALCONY means a platform, attached  to and projecting  from  the  face of a principal building with or 
without  a  supporting  structure  above  the  first  storey, normally  surrounded  by  a baluster  railing  and 
used as an outdoor porch or sundeck with access only from within the building. 


BASEMENT means the portion of a building or structure, which  is partially or wholly below grade and 
having its floor below grade by a distance greater than one‐half the distance from floor to ceiling. 


BERM means a barrier,  typically constructed of mounded earth, used  to separate  incompatible areas, 
uses, or functions, or to protect a site or development from noise. 


BUFFER means  open  spaces,  landscaped  areas,  fences, walls,  hedges,  trees,  shrubs,  berms  or  other 
similar  features used  to physically  and/or  visually  separate  incompatible uses,  areas,  functions,  sites, 
buildings, roadways, districts, etc. 


BUILDING has the meaning defined in the Municipal Government Act and includes anything constructed 
or placed on, in, over or under land, but does not include a highway or road or a bridge that forms part 
of a highway or road. 


BUILDING  ENVELOPE means  the  space  created  on  a  lot  or  parcel  within  which  a  building may  be 
constructed once the setback requirements for a specific zoning district have been considered. 


BUILDING  GRADE  (as  applied  to  the  determination  of  building  height) means  the  average  level  of 
finished ground adjoining  the main  front wall of a building  (not  including an attached garage), except 
that  localized depressions  such as  for vehicle or pedestrian entrances need not be  considered  in  the 
determination of average levels of finished ground. 


BUILDING  HEIGHT means  the  vertical  distance  between  grade  and  the  highest  point  of  a  building 
excluding a roof stairway entrance, elevator housing, a ventilating fan, a skylight, a steeple, a chimney, a 
smoke stack, a fire wall or a parapet wall and a flagpole or similar device not structurally essential to the 
building. 


BUILDING INSPECTOR means the person or persons hired to be the chief building inspector or building 
inspectors in and for the Village of Glenwood. 


BUILDING  PERMIT means  a  certificate  or  document  issued  by  the  Safety  Codes Officer  pursuant  to 
provincial legislation authorizing commencement of construction. 


BUILDING SETBACK means the shortest distance between the exterior  foundation wall of the building 
and the nearest lot line.  Depending on the zoning district, the minimum setback will vary. 


BUILDING WIDTH, MINIMUM means  the minimum  horizontal  distance  of  the  building’s  living  space 
measured parallel to the shortest exterior wall of the building and perpendicular to the longest exterior 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


26 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


wall of the building and excludes porches, decks, patios, balconies, carports, garages, unheated storage 
space, porte‐cochere and other similar architectural features. 


BUSINESS means any lawful commercial endeavor to engage in the manufacturing, purchase, sale, lease, 
or exchange of goods and/or the provision of services. 


BYLAW means the Land Use Bylaw of the Village of Glenwood. 


C 


CERTIFICATE  OF  COMPLIANCE  means  a  document  signed  by  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission, 
certifying that a development complies with this bylaw with respect to yard requirements and insofar as 
represented on an Alberta Land Surveyors’ Real Property Report. 


CHANGE OF USE means the conversion of land or building, or portion thereof from one land use activity 
to another in accordance with the Permitted or Discretionary Uses as listed in each land use district. 


COMMON WALL means  a  vertical  separation  completely  dividing  a  portion  of  a  building  from  the 
remainder of  the building and  creating  in effect a building which,  from  its  roof  to  its  lowest  level,  is 
separate and  complete unto  itself  for  its  intended purpose,  such wall being owned by one party but 
jointly used by two parties, one or both of whom is entitled to such use by prior arrangement. 


CONCEPTUAL DESIGN  SCHEME means  a detailed  site  layout plan  for  a parcel of  land which  typically 
addresses the same requirements of an Area Structure Plan but which is not adopted by bylaw which: 


(a) shows the location of any existing or proposed buildings; and 


(b) describes the potential effect and/or relationship of the proposed development on the surrounding 
area and the municipality as a whole; and 


(c) provides  for  access  roads,  water,  sewer,  power  and  other  services  to  the  satisfaction  of  the 
Municipal Planning Commission or Council. 


CONDOMINIUM means  a  building  or  structure where  there  exists  a  type  of  ownership  of  individual 
units,  generally  in  a multi‐unit  development  or  project where  the  owner  possesses  an  interest  as  a 
tenant  in common with other owners  in accordance with the provisions of the Condominium Property 
Act. 


CONDOMINIUM PLAN means a plan of survey registered at a Land Titles Office prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the Condominium Property Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000, Chapter C‐22, as 
amended. 


CORNER  VISIBILITY  OR  CLEAR  VISION  TRIANGLES  means  a  triangular  area  on  a  corner  lot  that  is 
comprised of two sides which are measured from the intersection corner for a distance specified in this 
bylaw.  The third side of the triangle is a line joining the ends of the other two sides.  Where the lot lines 
at  intersections  have  rounded  corners,  the  lot  lines will  be  extended  in  a  straight  line  to  a  point  of 
intersection. 


COUNCIL means Council of the Village of Glenwood.   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 27 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


D 


DEMOLITION means the pulling down, tearing down or razing of a building or structure. 


DEVELOPER means a person or an owner of  land  in accordance with  the  Statutes of  the Province of 
Alberta who wishes to alter the title to the property and change the use of the property from its existing 
use. 


DEVELOPMENT in accordance with the Municipal Government Act means: 


(a) an excavation or stockpile and the creation of either of them; 


(b) a building or an addition to or replacement or repair of a building and the construction or placing of 
any of them in, on, over or under land; 


(c) a change of use of land or a building or an act done in relation to land or a building that results in or 
is likely to result in a change in the use of the land or building; or 


(d) a change in the intensity of use of land or a building or an act done in relation to land or a building 
that results in or is likely to result in a change in the intensity of use of the land or building. 


DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT means a contractual agreement completed between the municipality and 
an applicant for a development permit or subdivision approval which specifies the roadways, walkways, 
public  utilities,  and  other  services  to  be  provided  by  the  applicant  as  a  condition  of  a  development 
permit or subdivision approval, in accordance with the Municipal Government Act. 


DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY means the body established by Bylaw to act as the Development Authority 
in accordance with Sections 623(b) or (c) and 624 of the Municipal Government Act. 


DEVELOPMENT OFFICER means  a person(s)  authorized by Council  to  act  as  a development  authority 
pursuant  to  Section  624  of  the  Municipal  Government  Act  and  in  accordance  with  the  Municipal 
Planning Commission Bylaw. 


DEVELOPMENT  PERMIT means  a  permit  issued  with  or  without  conditions  pursuant  to  this  bylaw 
authorizing a development.  A development permit does not constitute a building permit. 


DISCRETIONARY USE means the use of land or building(s) provided for in the Land Use Bylaw for which a 
development  permit may  be  issued,  following  receipt  by  the  Development  Officer  of  a  completed 
application with appropriate details and fees. 


DISTRICT – see LAND USE DISTRICT  


E 


EASEMENT means a right held by one party on land owned by another. 


EAVE means the overhang or extension of a roof line beyond the vertical wall of a building. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


28 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


EXCAVATION means  the  process  of  altering  the  natural  elevation  of  the  ground  by  grading,  cutting, 
stripping, filling or breaking of ground, but does not include common household gardening and ground 
care, excavation made  for  the building of basements,  structures,  landscaping, or parking  for which a 
development permit has been  issued, or extensive agriculture.   Gravel pit, mineral extraction and any 
other similar extractive use are not classified as excavation and are a separate use. 


F 


FLOOD ELEVATION, 1:100 YEAR means the water level reached during a 1:100 year flood as determined 
in accordance with the technical criteria established by Alberta Environment. 


FLOOD  RISK  AREA means  the  area  of  land  bordering  a water  course  or water  body  that would  be 
inundated  by  1:100  year  flood  (i.e.  a  flood  that  has  a  1  percent  chance  of  occurring  every  year)  as 
determined by Alberta Environment  in consultation with the Village and may  include both flood fringe 
and floodway. 


FLOOR AREA means  the  sum of  the gross horizontal area of  the  several  floors and passageways of a 
building, but not including cellars, attached garages and open porches.  All dimensions shall be outside 
dimensions.  Basement floor areas shall be included only where the building contains a basement suite. 


FLOOR AREA RATIO means the net floor area divided by the gross lot area. 


FOUNDATION means the supporting base structure of a building. 


FULLY SERVICED LOT means a lot that is provided both water and sewer serviced by either: 


(a) a municipal water line and a municipal sewer line; or 


(b) an  incorporated organization or co‐operative,  recognized by  the municipality,  that  is operating a 
provincially approved water and sewer system. 


G 


GEOTECHNICAL REPORT means a comprehensive site analysis and  report prepared by a qualified and 
registered  professional  with  The  Association  of  Professional  Engineers  and  Geoscientists  of  Alberta 
(APEGA). 


GRADE, LANDSCAPED  (as applied to the determination of height of balconies, decks and architectural 
features and  landscape  structures) means  the average  level of  finished  landscaped ground under  the 
four principal corners of the balcony, deck, architectural feature or  landscape structure.   For buildings 
see BUILDING GRADE. 


L 


LANDOWNER – see REGISTERED OWNER 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 29 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


LANDSCAPING  means  the  modification,  beautification  and  enhancement  of  a  site  or  development 
through the use of the following elements: 


(c) natural landscaping consisting of vegetation such as trees, shrubs, hedges, grass, flowers and other 
ground cover or materials; 


(d) hard  landscaping  consisting  of  non‐vegetative materials  such  as  brick,  stone,  concrete,  tile  and 
wood, excluding monolithic concrete and asphalt; and 


(e) excludes all areas utilized for driveways and parking. 


LAND  USE  DISTRICT  means  a  specifically  delineated  area  or  zone  within  which  the  development 
standards of this bylaw govern the use, placement, spacing, and size of land and buildings.  All land use 
districts referred to  in this bylaw are shown on the Land Use Districts Map found  in Schedule 1 to this 
bylaw. 


LANE or LANEWAY means a public thoroughfare, which provides a secondary means of access to a lot or 
lots. 


LOT means a lot as defined in the Municipal Government Act and shall include a bare land condominium 
unit. 


M 


MAINTENANCE means the upkeep of a building or property that does not involve structural change, the 
change of use, or the change of intensity of use. 


MASS WASTING means a general  term describing a variety of processes,  including but not  limited  to 
slumping, sloughing, fall and flow, by which earth materials are moved by gravity. 


MGA  means  the  Municipal  Government  Act,  Revised  Statutes  of  Alberta,  2000,  Chapter  M‐26,  as 
amended. 


MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN means a Statutory Plan, formerly known as a General Municipal Plan, 
adopted by bylaw in accordance with section 632 of the Municipal Government Act. 


MUNICIPAL  GOVERNMENT  ACT  (MGA)  means  the  Municipal  Government  Act,  Revised  Statutes  of 
Alberta, 2000, Chapter M‐26, as amended. 


MUNICIPAL/SCHOOL  RESERVE  means  the  land  specified  to  be  municipal  and  school  reserve  by  a 
subdivision approving authority pursuant to section 666 of the Municipal Government Act. 


MUNICIPAL  SUBDIVISION  AND  DEVELOPMENT  APPEAL  BOARD  (SDAB)  means  the  committee 
established,  by  bylaw,  to  act  as  the  municipal  appeal  body  for  subdivision  and  development 
applications. 


MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION (MPC) means the committee authorized by Council to act as the 
Subdivision  Authority  pursuant  to  section  623  of  the Municipal  Government  Act  and  Development 
Authority  pursuant  to  section  624  of  the  MGA,  and  in  accordance  with  the  Municipal  Planning 
Commission Bylaw.   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


30 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


N 


NON‐COMPLIANCE means  a  development  constructed,  or  use  undertaken  after  the  adoption  of  the 
current Land Use Bylaw and does not comply with the current Land Use Bylaw. 


NON‐CONFORMING BUILDING means a building: 


(a) that  is  lawfully constructed or  lawfully under construction at the date of a Land Use Bylaw or any 
amendment  thereof  affecting  the  building  or  land  on  which  the  building  is  situated  becomes 
effective; and 


(b) that on  the date  the Land Use Bylaw or any amendment  thereof becomes effective does not, or 
when constructed will not, comply with the Land Use Bylaw. 


NON‐CONFORMING USE means a lawful specific use: 


(a) being made of land or a building or intended to be made of a building lawfully under construction, 
at the date of a Land Use Bylaw or any amendment thereof affecting the land or building becomes 
effective; and 


(b) that on the date the Land Use Bylaw or any amendment thereof becomes effective does not, or in 
the case of a building under construction, will not comply with the Land Use Bylaw. 


NON‐SERVICED  means  in  respect  to  a  lot  or  parcel  that  neither  a  municipal  water  system  nor  a 
municipal sewage system services it. 


NUISANCE means any use, prevailing condition or activity which has a detrimental effect on  living or 
working conditions. 


O 


OCCUPANCY PERMIT means a permit  issued by the municipality that authorizes the right to occupy or 
use a building or structure for its intended use. 


OFF‐SITE LEVY means the rate established by the municipal Council that will be  imposed upon owners 
and/or  developers who  are  increasing  the  use  of  utility  services,  traffic  services,  and  other  services 
directly attributable to the changes that are proposed to the personal property.  The revenues from the 
off‐site  levies  will  be  collected  by  the municipality  and  used  to  offset  the  future  capital  costs  for 
expanding utility services, transportation network, and other services that have to be expanded in order 
to service the needs that are proposed for the change in use of the property. 


OFF‐STREET LOADING SPACE means an open area, not exceeding 9.1 m (30 ft)  in width,  located  in the 
rear yard space, designed expressly for the parking of haulage vehicles while loading or unloading. 


OFF‐STREET  PARKING means  a  lot  or  portion  thereof,  excluding  a  public  roadway which  is  used  or 
intended to be used as a parking area for motor vehicles. 


OFF‐STREET PARKING SPACE means an off‐street area available  for  the parking of one motor vehicle.  
Every off‐street parking space shall be accessible from a street, lane or other public roadway. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 31 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


ORIENTATION means the arranging or facing of a building or other structure with respect to the points 
of the compass. 


P 


PARCEL means an area of land described in a Certificate of Title either directly or by reference to a plan 
and registered with the Alberta Land Titles Office. 


PARTIALLY SERVICED LOT means a lot that is provided water or sewer serviced by either: 


(a) a municipal water line or a municipal sewer line; or 


(b) an  incorporated organization or co‐operative,  recognized by  the municipality,  that  is operating a 
provincially approved water or sewer system. 


PERMITTED  USE means  the  use  of  land  or  building(s)  which  is  permitted  in  a  district  for  which  a 
development  permit  shall  be  issued,  following  receipt  by  the  Development  Officer  of  a  completed 
application with appropriate details and fees. 


PLAN OF SUBDIVISION means a plan of survey prepared  in accordance with the relevant provisions of 
the Land Titles Act for the purpose of effecting subdivision. 


PRINCIPAL BUILDING means a building which: 


(a) occupies the major or central portion of a lot; 


(b) is the chief or main building on a lot; or 


(c) constitutes, by reason of its use, the primary purpose for which the lot is used. 


PRINCIPAL  USE means  the main  purpose,  in  the  opinion  of  the  Development  Officer  or Municipal 
Planning Commission, for which a lot is used. 


PROHIBITED  USE  means  a  development  that  is  not  listed  as  permitted  or  discretionary,  or  is  not 
considered similar within a land use district. 


PROVINCIAL  LAND  USE  POLICIES  means  policies  established  by  order  of  the  Lieutenant  Governor 
pursuant to Section 622 of the Municipal Government Act. 


PUBLIC ROADWAY means a  right‐of‐way maintained by  the Village and  is open  to  the public  for  the 
purpose of vehicular traffic. 


PUBLIC OPEN SPACE means land, which is not in private ownership and is open to use by the public. 


R 


REAL  PROPERTY  REPORT  (RPR) means  a  legal  document  that  illustrates  in  detail  the  location  of  all 
relevant,  visible  public  and  private  improvements  relative  to  property  boundaries  prepared  by  a 
registered Alberta Land Surveyor. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


32 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


REGISTERED OWNER means:  


(a) in  the case of  land owned by  the Crown  in  right of Alberta or  the Crown  in  right of Canada,  the 
Minister of the Crown having the administration of the land; or 


(b) in the case of any other land: 


(i) the  purchase  of  the  fee  simple  estate  in  the  land  under  an  agreement  for  sale  that  is  the 
subject of a caveat registered against the Certificate of Title  in the  land, and any assignee of 
the  purchaser's  interest  that  is  the  subject  of  a  caveat  registered  against  the  Certificate  of 
Title; or 


(ii) in  the absence of a person described  in paragraph  (i),  the person  registered under  the Land 
Titles Act as the owner of the fee simple estate in the land. 


RIGHT‐OF‐WAY means  an  area  of  land  not  on  a  lot  that  is  dedicated  for  public  or  private  use  to 
accommodate  a  transportation  system  and  necessary  public  utility  infrastructure  (including  but  not 
limited to water lines, sewer lines, power lines, and gas lines). 


ROAD – see PUBLIC ROADWAY 


S 


SAFETY CODES means a code, regulations, standard, or body of rules regulating things such as building, 
electrical  systems,  elevating  devices,  gas  systems,  plumbing  or  private  sewage  disposal  systems, 
pressure  equipment,  fire  protection  systems  and  equipment,  barrier  free  design  and  access  in 
accordance with the Safety Codes Act, RSA 2000, Chapter S‐1, as amended. 


SCREENING means a fence, wall, berm or hedge used to visually separate areas or functions that detract 
from the street or neighbouring land uses. 


SETBACK means the minimum distance required between a property line of a lot and the nearest part of 
any building, structure, development, excavation or use on the  lot and  is measured at a right angle to 
the lot line. 


SIMILAR  USE means  a  use  of  land  or  building(s)  for  a  purpose  that  is  not  provided  in  any  district 
designated in this bylaw, but is deemed by the Development Officer or Municipal Planning Commission 
to be similar in character and purpose to another use of land or buildings that is included within the list 
of uses prescribed for that district. 


SITE means  that  part  of  a  parcel  or  a  group  of  parcels  on which  a  development  exists  or which  an 
application for a development permit is being made. 


SITE PLAN means a plan drawn to scale illustrating the proposed and existing development prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of this bylaw. 


STOP ORDER means  an order  issued  by  the Development Officer or Municipal  Planning Commission 
pursuant to section 645 of the Municipal Government Act. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 33 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


STOREY means the space between the top of any floor and the top of the next floor above it and if there 
is no  floor above  it,  the portion between  the  top of  the  floor and  the  ceiling above  it, but does not 
include a basement. 


STREET means  a  thoroughfare which  is  used  or  intended  to  be  used  for  passage  or  travel  of motor 
vehicles and includes the sidewalks and land on each side of and contiguous to the prepared surface of 
the thoroughfare.  It does not include lanes. 


STRUCTURE means anything constructed or erected with a fixed location on the ground or attached to 
something  having  a  fixed  location  on  the  ground.   Among  other  things,  structures  include  buildings, 
walls, fences, billboards and poster panels. 


SUBDIVISION  AND  DEVELOPMENT  REGULATION  means  regulations  established  by  order  of  the 
Lieutenant Governor in Council pursuant to section 694 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SUBDIVISION AUTHORITY means  the body established by bylaw  to act as  the subdivision authority  in 
accordance with section 623 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SUBDIVISION OR SUBDIVIDE means the division of a parcel by an instrument. 


SUBSIDENCE means a localized downward settling or sinking of a land surface. 


SUCH AS means includes, but is not limited to the list of items provided. 


T 


TEMPORARY DEVELOPMENT means a development  for which a development permit has been  issued 
for a limited time period. 


U 


USE means the purposes for which land or a building is arranged or intended, or for which either land, a 
building or a structure is, or may be, occupied and maintained. 


UTILITIES means any one or more of the following: 


(a) systems for the distribution of gas, whether artificial or natural; 


(b) facilities for the storage, transmission, treatment, distribution or supply of water or electricity; 


(c) facilities for the collection, treatment, movement or disposal of sanitary sewage; 


(d)  storm water drainage facilities; 


(e)  any  other  things  prescribed  by  the  Lieutenant Governor  in  Council  by  regulation;  but  does  not 
include  those  systems or  facilities  referred  to  in  sub  clauses  (a)  to  (d)  that are exempted by  the 
Lieutenant Governor in Council by regulation. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


34 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


A
D
M
IN
IS
TR


A
TI
O
N
 


V 


VILLAGE means the Village of Glenwood. 


W 


WAIVER means the relaxation or variance of a development standard as established in this bylaw. 


Z 
ZONING – see LAND USE DISTRICT 


 


All other words and expressions not otherwise defined in this Land Use Bylaw 
have the meaning assigned to them in the Municipal Government Act. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


LA
N
D
 U
SE
 D
IS
TR


IC
TS
 


Schedule 1 


LAND USE DISTRICTS 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 35 


LA
N
D
 U
SE
 D
IS
TR


IC
TS
 


Schedule 1 


LAND USE DISTRICTS 


SECTION 1  DIVISION OF MUNICIPALITY 


1.1  The municipality  is divided  into those districts shown on the Land Use Districts Map  in 
Appendix D. 


1.2  Each district shown on the map referred to in section 1 of this schedule shall be known 
by the following identifying names and symbols: 


RESIDENTIAL  –  R 


COMMERCIAL  –  C 


INDUSTRIAL  –  I 


PUBLIC  –  P 


SECTION 2  INTENT OF LAND USE DISTRICTS 


2.1  Residential – R 


This district  is  intended  to provide  for  a  residential environment with  an  appropriate 
range of housing types that comply with standards outlined in the Schedule 6 Residential 
Standards of Development. 


2.2  Commercial – C 


This  district  is  intended  to  accommodate  a  variety  of  retail,  service,  and  office  uses, 
which primarily cater to the daily needs of the residents of the Village of Glenwood. 


2.3  Industrial – I 


This district is intended to accommodate a range of primarily industrial and warehousing 
uses while allowing uses that may require  large  lots, special sitting and/or servicing or 
which may be considered noxious or hazardous. 


2.4  Public – P 


This  district  is  intended  to  assist  in  the  development  of  government,  educational, 
medical, social and other public and institutional uses. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


Schedule 2 


USE REGULATION 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 37 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


Schedule 2 


USE REGULATION 


SECTION 1  USE CATEGORIES AND SPECIFIC USES 


1.1  The principal uses allowed within the land use districts are identified in Table 2.2.1.  The 
land use districts are referenced by their two‐letter abbreviations. 


1.2  All of the use categories listed in the second column of Table 2.2.1 are defined in Section 
3 of this schedule. 


1.3  A  “P”  indicates  that  the  listed  use  is  allowed  by  right within  the  respective  land  use 
district  after  review  and  approval  by  the  Development  Officer  in  accordance  with 
Section 28 Permitted Uses  in the Administrative section.   Permitted uses are subject to 
all other applicable standards of the Land Use Bylaw. 


1.4  A “D”  indicates  that  the  listed use  is allowed within  in  the  respective  land use district 
only after  review and approval by  the Municipal Planning Commission,  in accordance 
with Section 29 Discretionary Uses in the Administrative section.  Discretionary uses are 
subject to all other applicable standards of the Land Use Bylaw. 


1.5  A blank cell (one without a “P” or “D”)  indicates that the  listed use type  is not allowed 
within the respective land use district. 


1.6  A use  that  is not specifically  listed  in  the Specific Use Type column of Table 2.2.1, but 
which may be similar  in character and purpose to other uses of  land and structures  in 
the land use district in which such use is proposed, the Development Officer may classify 
the  use  as  either  similar  to  a  permitted  use  or  similar  to  a  discretionary  use  in 
accordance with Section 30 Similar Uses in the Administrative section. 


1.7  The provisions of Schedule 3 Dimension Standards and Setbacks apply to all uses in this 
section. 


1.8  The provisions of Schedule 5 General and Use Specific Standards of Development apply 
to the uses in this section. 


1.9  Prohibited uses have been identified individually. 
 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


38 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
– 
R
1
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 2  USE TABLE 
Table 2.2.1: Use Table 


 
   


Use Category  Specific Use Type  Land Use Districts  Development Standard 


General    R  C  I  P   


  Accessory building  P  P  P  P  Schedule 6 Section 1 


  Accessory structure  P  P  P  P   


  Accessory use  P  P  P  P   


  Moved‐in building  D  D  D  D  Sch 6 Sec 17, Sch 7 Sec 8 


  Shipping container, permanent   D  D  D  D  Schedule 5 Section 8 


  Shipping container, temporary  D  D  D  D  Schedule 5 Section 8 


Residential    R  C  I  P   


Household 
Living  


Apartment Building  D        Schedule 6 


Assisted Living  D      D   


  Dwelling Single‐unit  P        Schedule 6 


  Dwelling 2‐unit, 3‐unit, 4‐unit  D        Schedule 6 


  Manufactured home  D        Schedule 6 Section 16 


  Moved‐in dwelling  D        Schedule 6 Section 17 


  Senior citizen housing  D         


Commercial    R  C  I  P   


Lodging  Bed and breakfast  D         


  Boarding or lodging house  D         


  Hotel/motel    P       


  Mixed use building  D  D  D     


Offices  Business support service    P  P     


  Financial institutions    P       


  Office    P  D     


Recreation & 
Entertainment 


Amusement facility    D       


Campgrounds    D    D  See definition 


  Entertainment establishment    D  D     


  Public or private recreation  D  D  D  D  See definition 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 39 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


Table 2.2.1: Use Table (continued) 


   


Use Category  Specific Use Type  Land Use Districts  Development Standard 


Commercial  (continued)  R  C  I  P   


Retail Sales & 
Service 


Animal care service, small  D  P       


Convenience store    P  D     


  Eating establishment  D  P  P  P   


  Equipment sales, rental & service    P  P     


  Farmer’s market    D    D   


  Funeral home    D  D     


  Garden centre or greenhouse  D  D  D     


  Medical/health facility  D  P       


  Personal services  D  P       


  Retail  D  P       


  Service station or gas bar    D  D    Schedule 7 Section 8 


Construction  Contractor, general      P     


  Contractor, limited  P  P  P     


  Lumber yard      P     


Automotive 
Related 


Auto body and paint shop  D  D  D  D   


Auto sales and service  D  D  D  D   


  Car wash    D  D     


  Towing operation  D  D  P     


Industrial    R  C  I  P   


Manufacturing  Light industrial/manufacturing      P     


Warehousing  Bulk fuel station      D    Schedule 7 Section 8 


  General warehousing and storage      P     


  Mini storage      P     


  Outdoor storage      P     


Truck 
transport 


Transportation/delivery service    D  P     


Truck dispatch/depot    D  P     


  Truck stop    D  D     


  Truck wash    D  D     


Other  Animal care service, large    D  D     


  Auctioneering facility      D     


  Agriculture  D    D  D   


  Grain elevator      D     


  Seed cleaning plant      D     


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


40 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
– 
R
1
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


Table 2.2.1: Use Table (continued) 


* All Alternative energy are subject to approval of the Municipal Planning Commission. 
 


Use Category  Specific Use Type  Land Use Districts  Development Standard 


Public    R  C  I  P   


Community 
Service 


Club or fraternal organization    P  P  D   


Community association building    D    P   


  Government services    D    P   


  Group care facility  D  D    D   


  Institutional  D      P   


  Religious assembly  D  D  D  P   


  Schools/education facilities        P   


  Tourist information    P  P  P   


Child Care  Child care facility  D  D    P   


  Day home  P         


Utility  Public or private utility    D  P  D   


 
Waste management transfer 
station 


      D   


  Wastewater treatment plant        P   


  Water treatment plant        P   


Parks & Open 
Space 


Cemetery and interment services        P   


Golf course  D  D  D  D   


  Parks and playgrounds        P   


Other    R  C  I  P   


Alternative 
Energy* 


Large WECS  D  D  D  D  Schedule 8 


Micro WECS  D  D  D  D  Schedule 8 


  Mini WECS  D  D  D  D  Schedule 8 


  Small WECS  D  D  D  D  Schedule 8 


  Solar collector  D  D  D  D  Schedule 8 


  Solar collector, roof mounted  P  P  P  P  Schedule 8 FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 41 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 3 LAND USE DEFINITIONS 


In this bylaw, words used in the singular include the plural. 


A 


ACCESSORY BUILDING means any building that is physically separate from the principal building on the 
lot on which both are  located and which  is subordinate and  incidental to that of the principal building.  
The use  is subordinate and  incidental to that of the principal use of the site on which  it  is  located and 
examples of a  typical accessory building  is a private garage,  shed, or  storage building.   No accessory 
building  shall  be  used  for  human  habitation.    A  development  permit  must  be  approved  before 
construction of an accessory building. 


ACCESSORY STRUCTURE means a structure that  is detached from the principal building.    It  is ancillary, 
incidental,  and  subordinate  to  the  principal  building  or  use.    Typical  accessory  structures  include 
flagpoles, swimming pools, storage tanks, greenhouses.   When a structure  is attached to the principal 
building by a roof, a floor, a wall, or a foundation, either above or below grade, it is considered part of 
the principal building.  No accessory structure shall be used for human habitation.  A principal structure 
must be legally approved before an accessory structure can be approved. 


ACCESSORY USE means a use or development customarily  incidental and subordinate  to  the principal 
use or building and is located on the same parcel as such principal use or building.  A principal use must 
be legally established or approved before an accessory use can be approved. 


ALTERNATIVE  ENERGY,  INDIVIDUAL means  energy  that  is  renewable  or  sustainable  that  is  generally 
derived from natural sources (for example, the earth, sun, wind, water) and it for the sole consumption 
of the landowner, resident or occupant. 


AMUSEMENT  FACILITY  means  development  for  amusement  pastimes,  and  may  incorporate  eating 
facilities as an accessory use.  Such uses may include but are not limited to, amusement arcades, billiard 
parlours, bingo halls, bowling alleys and indoor mini‐golf. 


ANIMAL  CARE  SERVICE,  LARGE  means  any  establishment  maintained  and  operated  by  a  licensed 
veterinarian  for  the on‐site or off‐site  treatment of animals.   The development may also be used  for 
onsite boarding, breeding or  training of  animals  and  livestock.    The  facility may  also  include outside 
buildings and pens associated with  the  service and  the  supplementary  sale of associated animal  care 
products.  Typically, this use will include veterinary offices or hospitals, animal shelters, and facilities for 
impounding and quarantining animals. 


ANIMAL CARE SERVICE, SMALL means development for the on‐site treatment and/or grooming of small 
animals such as household pets, where on‐site accommodation may be provided and where all care and 
confinement  facilities  are  enclosed  within  one  particular  building.    This  use  may  also  include  the 
supplementary sale of associated animal products.  Typically, this use will include pet grooming salons, 
pet clinics and veterinary offices. 


APARTMENT BUILDING means a structure with several self‐contained dwelling units  (see definition of 
dwelling unit),  each of which occupies  a portion of  the  same building.    Such  a building will  typically 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


42 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


consist of five or more apartments for rent and include an area for tenant and visitor parking and have a 
common entrance. 


ASSISTED LIVING means a special combination of housing, supportive services, personalized assistance, 
and health care designed to respond to the  individual needs of those who need help with activities of 
daily living.  The facility may include a central or private kitchen, dining, recreational, and other facilities, 
with separate dwelling units or living quarters, where the emphasis of the facility remains residential. 


AUTO BODY AND PAINT  SHOP means  a building where motor  vehicles  are  repaired  and  also where 
motor  vehicle bodies and parts, and other metal machines,  components, or objects may be painted.  
Painting of this type shall not be done outdoors, but must be set up in a properly ventilated building. 


This use may also include an outdoor storage area and an office component. 


AUTO SALES AND SERVICE means  the  retail  sale,  lease, or  rental of new or used automobiles and/or 
recreational  vehicles and/or a  facility  for  the  repair and  servicing of automobiles and/or  recreational 
vehicles,  including but not  limited  to, mufflers, oil  changes,  transmissions,  engine  replacement,  glass 
repair, auto detailing.  Such facilities do not include the sale of gas but may include towing services as an 
accessory use. 


AUCTIONEERING  FACILITY means  any  facility where  animals  or  goods  are  regularly  bought,  sold,  or 
traded  to  the highest bidder.   The  facility may also  include holding pens and viewing areas,  transport 
facilities, spectator seating, and administrative offices.  This definition does not apply to individual sales 
of animals or goods by private owners. 


AUTO WRECKAGE  AND  SALVAGE  YARD means  a  facility  or  operation  specifically  intended  for  the 
dismantling of automotive vehicles and the sale of those parts to the general public.  Such a facility may 
include  an  administrative office, work  areas,  and outdoor  storage.    The parcel of  land  on which  the 
facility exists must be completely fenced according to Village standards. 


B 


BED  AND  BREAKFAST  means  an  accessory  use  carried  out  in  an  owner‐occupied  dwelling  where 
temporary accommodation  is provided  to non‐residents of  the dwelling  for  remuneration, and where 
meals, if provided for guests, are prepared in the common kitchen of the principal building. 


BOARDING OR LODGING HOUSE means a private dwelling  in which  lodgers rent room(s) for one night 
or  even  more  extended  periods  of  weeks  or  months.    The  common  parts  of  the  house,  such  as 
bathroom(s), kitchen, and living areas, are maintained by the private owner.  Meals, laundry or cleaning 
may be provided as part of the lodging agreement. 


BUILDING AND TRADE CONTRACTORS means a facility for the provision of electrical, plumbing, heating, 
painting  and  similar  contractor  services  primarily  to  individual  households  and  the  accessory  sale  of 
goods normally associated with such contractor services where all materials are kept within an enclosed 
building, and where there are no associated manufacturing activities. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 43 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


BULK FUEL STATION means a use of land or buildings for storing and distributing petroleum products in 
bulk quantities.   This use  includes supplementary tanker vehicle storage and card  lock or key  lock fuel 
distribution facilities. 


BUSINESS means a commercial, merchandising, or industrial activity or undertaking, a profession, trade, 
occupation, calling or employment or an activity providing goods or services, whether or not for profit 
and however organized or formed, including a cooperative or association of persons. 


BUSINESS SUPPORT SERVICE means an establishment primarily engaged in providing services for other 
business  establishments  such  as  advertising,  copying,  equipment,  financial  services,  employment 
services, and other similar services. 


C 
CAMPGROUND means a use of  land or buildings  intended  for  seasonal occupancy by holiday or  tent 
trailers,  recreation  vehicles,  tents  and  similar  equipment  and  which  may  include  supplementary 
bathroom and recreational  facilities, eating shelters, convenience retail,  laundry  facilities and dwelling 
accommodations for the operator. 


CAR WASH means the use of a structure or area providing for the cleaning of motor vehicles but does 
not include SERVICE STATIONS/ GAS BARS. 


CEMETERY AND  INTERNMENT SERVICES means a development  for  the entombment of  the deceased 
and may include such facilities as crematories, cinerarium, columbarium, mausoleums, memorial parks, 
burial grounds, cemeteries and gardens of remembrance. 


CHILD CARE FACILITY means a building or portion thereof used for the provision of care, maintenance 
and supervision of seven or more children, by persons unrelated to the children by blood or marriage, 
for periods not exceeding 24 consecutive hours and includes all child‐care centres, day cares, nurseries 
and after‐school or baby‐sitting programs which meet  the conditions of  this definition.   Group homes 
and day homes are separate uses. 


CHURCH means  a  building  or  facility whose  primary  purpose  is  to  facilitate meetings  of  a  group  of 
people for public worship or religious services.  See RELIGIOUS ASSEMBLY. 


CLUB OR FRATERNAL ORGANIZATION means a development for the assembly of members of non‐profit 
clubs  or  organizations,  including  charitable,  social  service,  ethnic,  athletic,  business  or  fraternal 
organizations.  This use may include eating, drinking, entertainment, sports, recreation and amusement 
facilities as accessory uses but “Campground” is a separate use. 


COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION BUILDING or COMMUNITY HALL means a facility or building whose primary 
purpose  is  to accommodate use by community group(s).   The  structure may  include  such  features as 
meeting rooms, kitchen, stage and open floor area, bar/liquor area, multi‐purpose rooms, washrooms, 
coat room, storage room(s) and administrative offices.   Exterior uses may  include parking, playground 
areas, outdoor shelters, and sitting areas. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


44 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


CONTRACTOR,  GENERAL  means  development  used  for  industrial  service  support  and  construction.  
Typical uses include cleaning and maintenance contractors, building construction, landscaping, concrete, 
electrical, excavation, drilling, heating, plumbing, paving, road construction, sewer or similar services of 
a  construction  nature which  require  on‐site  storage  space  for materials,  construction  equipment  or 
vehicles normally associated with the contractor service.  Any sales, display, office or technical support 
service areas shall be accessory to the principal general contractor use. 


CONTRACTOR, LIMITED means a development used  for  the provision of electrical, plumbing, heating, 
painting,  catering and  similar  contractor  services primarily  to  individual household and  the accessory 
sales of goods normally associated with  the contractor  services where all material are kept within an 
enclosed building, and there are no accessory manufacture activities or fleet storage of more than four 
vehicles. 


CONVENIENCE STORE means a retail store that sells a limited line of groceries and household goods for 
the convenience of the neighbourhood.  This use does not include cannabis retail store. 


D 
DAY HOME means  a private  residence where  care, development  and  supervision  are provided  for  a 
maximum of six children between the ages of 0‐12 years, by persons unrelated to the children by blood 
or marriage,  including children under the age of 12 who reside  in the home, for periods not exceeding 
24 consecutive hours. 


DECK  means  an  accessory  structure  consisting  of  a  paved,  wooden,  or  other  hard‐surfaced  area 
generally adjoining a principal building  intended for outdoor  living space that  is 0.6 m (2 ft) or greater 
above grade. 


DETACHED GARAGE means an accessory building designed and used primarily for the storage of motor 
vehicles that is not attached to the principal building. 


DRIVE‐IN/DRIVE‐THROUGH RESTAURANT means an establishment where food  is prepared and served 
on the premise for sale to the public and  includes car attendant and/or drive‐through, pick‐up service.  
See RESTAURANT. 


DWELLING means a building or portion thereof designed for human habitation and which is intended to 
be used as a residence  for one or more  individuals but does not  include  travel  trailers, motor homes, 
recreational  vehicles,  or  other mobile  living  units,  hotel, motel,  dormitory,  boarding  house,  or  other 
similar accommodation.  Dwelling includes the following: 


Single‐unit dwelling means a residential building containing only one dwelling unit which  is to be 
constructed on site and is to be placed on a basement or permanent slab foundation. 


2 unit dwelling means a residential building  that contains two separate dwelling units connected 
either by a common floor/ceiling, or by a common wall (party wall) between units. 


3 unit dwelling means a residential building comprised of three dwelling units, each unit having a 
separate, direct entrance  from grade or a  landscaped area.   Each dwelling unit will be connected 
either by a common floor/ceiling, or by a common wall (party wall) between units. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 45 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


4 unit dwelling means a  residential building comprised of  four dwelling units, each unit having a 
separate, direct entrance  from grade or a  landscaped area.   Each dwelling unit will be connected 
either by a common floor/ceiling, or by a common wall (party wall) between units. 


Row  dwelling means  development  consisting  of  a  building  containing  a  row  of  three  or more 
dwelling units each sharing a common wall extending  from  the  first  floor  to  the roof, at  the side 
only with no dwelling being place over another  in whole or  in part.   Each dwelling unit shall have 
separate, individual, and direct access to the building at grade. 


E 
EATING ESTABLISHMENT means an establishment where food and beverages are prepared and served 
on  the  premises  for  sale  to  the  public  and may  include  supplementary  on  or  off‐premises  catering 
services.    This  term  includes  restaurants,  cafes,  lunch  and  tea  rooms,  ice  cream  parlours,  banquet 
facilities, restaurants and other uses similar in character and nature. 


EDUCATIONAL  FACILITY  means  a  place  of  instruction  offering  continuing  education  or  specialized 
courses of study.  Included in the category may be public, private, and commercial institutions. 


ENTERTAINMENT ESTABLISHMENT means an establishment  such as a  theatre, auditorium,  lounge or 
cabaret  providing  dramatic,  musical  or  other  entertainment  indoors  or  outdoors  and  may  include 
facilities  for  supplementary  food  and  beverage  consumption  but  does  not  include  or  GAMING 
ESTABLISHMENT. 


EQUIPMENT  SALES,  RENTAL  AND  SERVICE  means  the  use  of  land  or  buildings  for  the  retail  sale, 
wholesale distribution, rental and/or service of:  hand tools, small construction, farming, gardening and 
automotive equipment, small machinery parts and office machinery and equipment. 


EXTENSIVE AGRICULTURE means the production of crops or livestock or both by expansive cultivation or 
open grazing only.  Barns, quonset and other similar buildings associated with extensive agriculture are 
classified as accessory  structures.   This use does not  include agricultural‐related  industry buildings or 
uses such as packaging plants, processing plants, agricultural support services or any other similar uses 
or structures. 


F 
FARMERS MARKET means the use of land or buildings where fresh farm or garden produce are sold in 
retail or wholesale  setting and where goods are  typically displayed  in bulk bins or  stalls  for customer 
selection. This use includes vendors of fruit, vegetables, meat products, baked goods, dry goods, spices 
and non‐food products  such as handicrafts, provided  that  the  sale of  fresh  food products  remain  the 
primary function. 


FEED MILL means a mill in which stock feeds are prepared. 


FENCE means an accessory structure usually made of wood, rails, bricks, or wire intended to mark parcel 
boundaries and provide yard privacy. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


46 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


FINANCIAL INSTITUTION means a development or use primarily for providing the service of banking or 
lending money, such as a bank, savings and loan institution, or credit union. 


FITNESS FACILITY means a development where space, equipment or  instruction  is provided for people 
to pursue physical  fitness or skills  relating  to physical activities and may  include  the  incidental sale of 
products relating to the service provided. 


FUNERAL HOME means a development used  for  the arrangement of  funerals,  the preparation of  the 
deceased for burial or cremation, and the holding of funeral services. 


G 
GAMING OR GAMBLING ESTABLISHMENT means a building or structure, or any portion thereof, which 
is used or  intended  for the use or purpose of dealing, operating, maintaining or conducting any game 
played with cards, dice, or any other means, or any mechanical device or machine for money, property 
or any item of value. 


GARAGE means an accessory private building or part of the principal building, designed primarily for the 
storage of motor vehicles. 


GARDEN CENTRE OR GREENHOUSE means a building  specially designed and used  for commercial   or 
private growing of vegetables,  flowers or other plants  for  transplanting or  sale. The use may  include 
accessory retail uses on the premises. 


GARDEN SHED means an accessory  structure  to  store household and garden equipment and  supplies 
that is not more than9.3 m2 (100ft2) in size. 


GENERAL STORE means a retail establishment which deals primarily with  the display and sale of  food 
and other goods  required by  the  residents of  the  immediate vicinity  to meet  their day‐to‐day needs. 
May include office and storage areas. 


GENERAL  WAREHOUSING  AND  STORAGE  means  a  building  used  for  the  storage  of  goods  and 
merchandise.    The  building may  include  administrative  offices,  loading  areas,  parking  areas,  storage 
rooms and the retail sale of goods stored  in the warehouse.   No outside storage  is permitted with this 
use. 


GOLF  COURSE  means  an  outdoor  use/establishment  of  varying  size  where  the  land  is  developed 
primarily  to accommodate  the game of golf.   Accessory uses  include a pro shop, driving range and/or 
proactive  facility,  food  service,  and  other  commercial  uses  typically  associated  with  a  golf  course 
clubhouse facility. 


GOVERNMENT  SERVICES means development  providing municipal, provincial, or  federal  government 
services directly  to  the public or  the  community at  large, and  includes development  required  for  the 
public protection of persons or property. 


GRAIN  ELEVATOR/SEED  CLEANING means  a  facility  for  the  collection,  grading,  sorting,  storage,  and 
transshipment of grains. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 47 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


GROUP  CARE  FACILITY  means  a  development  which  provides  residential  accommodation  and 
rehabilitative services  to persons who are handicapped, disabled or undergoing  rehabilitation and are 
provided care to meet their needs.   Persons are typically referred to a group care facility by hospitals, 
courts, government agencies or recognized social service agencies or health professionals but may also 
voluntarily request care.  This use includes supervised uses such as group homes, half‐way houses, and 
convalescent homes.  This use does not include senior housing or assisted living which are separate uses 
in this bylaw. 


H 
HOME OCCUPATION means an occupation,  trade, profession or  craft  carried on by an occupant of a 
dwelling  unit  as  a  use  secondary  to  the  residential  use  of  the  lot,  and which  does  not  change  the 
character thereof. 


HOTEL means  the use of a building  for  sleeping accommodations provided  for a  fee on a daily basis, 
accessible only  through  a  central  lobby with onsite parking;  the building may  also  contain  accessory 
commercial, and food and beverage service uses. 


I 
INSTITUTIONAL means  a  use  by  or  for  an  organization  or  society  for  public  or  social  purposes  and, 
without restricting the generality of the term. 


K 
KENNEL means  a  commercial  operation  or  facility  where  dogs  or  cats  or  other  domestic  pets  are 
maintained, boarded, bred, trained or cared for or kept for the purposes of sale but excludes an animal 
care service. 


L 
LIGHT  FABRICATION  SHOPS means  the  assembly  of metal  parts,  including  blacksmith  and  welding 
shops,  sheet metal  shops, machine  shops,  and  boiler  shops,  that  produce metal  duct  work,  tanks, 
towers, cabinets and enclosures, metal doors and gates, and similar products (APA dictionary). 


LIGHT  INDUSTRIAL/MANUFACTURING  means  development  used  for  manufacturing,  fabricating, 
processing, assembly, production or packaging of goods or products, as well as administrative offices 
and warehousing and wholesale distribution uses which are accessory uses to the above, provided that 
the use does not generate any detrimental  impact, potential health or  safety hazard or any nuisance 
beyond the boundaries of the developed portion of the site or lot upon which it is situated. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


48 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


LUMBER YARD means a commercial operation where lumber, building materials and supplies, and other 
building‐related goods are stored, displayed and sold. 


M 
MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT SALES, RENTAL AND SERVICE means a commercial operation where the 
land and buildings are used for the sale, service and rental of machinery, vehicles and heavy machinery 
used  in the operation, construction or maintenance of buildings, roadways, pipelines, oil fields, mining 
or  forestry  operations,  and  in  freight  hauling  operations.  Cleaning,  repairing  and  sale  of  parts  and 
accessories may be allowed as part of the principal use.   Such a facility may  include an administrative 
office, ancillary structures, outdoor work areas, parking, and outdoor storage areas. 


MANUFACTURED HOME means  a  completely  self‐contained  dwelling unit,  designed  and  constructed 
entirely off‐site, and transported in one or more pieces. 


MANUFACTURING AND FABRICATION OPERATION means a commercial operation where the land and 
buildings are used  for  the manufacture or  fabrication of products or parts, and also  the  retail  sale of 
such  products  or  parts  to  the  general  public.    Such  a  facility may  include  an  administrative  office, 
ancillary structures, outdoor work areas, parking, and outdoor storage areas. 


MARKET GARDEN means the growing of vegetables or fruit for commercial purposes.  This use includes 
an area for the display and sale of goods or produce grown or raised on site. 


MEDICAL/HEALTH  FACILITY  means  a  facility  for  the  provision  of  human  health  services  without 
overnight accommodation  for patients and may  include associated office  space.   Typical uses  include 
physiotherapy, registered massage therapy, doctor, dentist, optometrist, and chiropractic offices. 


MINI STORAGE   means the use of land with compartmentalized buildings or a designated site set up for 
the  storage  of  equipment,  household  or  business  materials,  or  vehicles,  but  excludes  storage  of 
hazardous goods or materials.   Accessory  to  this use  is  the exterior  screened  storage of  recreational 
vehicles, boats, trailers and similar items. 


MIXED USE BUILDING means a building used partly for residential and partly for commercial use. 


MOBILE HOME   means any structure, whether ordinarily equipped with wheels or not, that is designed, 
constructed, or manufactured to be moved from one place to another by being towed or carried. 


MOTEL means a building or group of buildings on a site designed and operated  to provide  temporary 
accommodation for transient motorists and contains separate sleeping units, each of which is provided 
with an adjoining conveniently located parking stall.  The building may also include accessory eating and 
drinking establishments and personal service shops. 


MOVED‐IN BUILDING means a previously used or existing, established and working building, which  is 
removed from a site, and then transported and re‐established on another site. 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 49 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


MOVED‐IN DWELLING means a previously existing, established and occupied dwelling, which is removed 
from one site and then transported and re‐established on another site.  For the purposes of this bylaw, a 
moved‐in building does not include a “manufactured home”, “modular home”, “ready‐to‐move home”, 
motor  home,  travel  trailer,  recreation  vehicle  and  any  similar  vehicles  that  are  neither  intended  for 
permanent residential habitation nor subject to the current provincial building requirements. 


MUSEUM means  a  building  or  site  used  for  the  preservation,  collection,  restoration,  display  and/or 
demonstration of articles of historical significance and may include archival records of a geographic area 
or of a time period.  See INSTITUTIONAL. 


O 
OFFICE means development primarily  for  the provision of professional, management,  administrative, 
consulting, or financial services in an office setting.  Typical uses include but are not limited to the offices 
of lawyers, accountants, travel agents, real estate and insurance firms, planners, clerical and secretarial 
agencies.  This excludes government services, the servicing and repair of goods, the sale of goods to the 
customer on the site, and the manufacturing or handling of a product. 


OUTDOOR STORAGE means the use of  land with or without attendant buildings for the open, outdoor 
storage of equipment, materials or vehicles, or processed or unprocessed resources or materials.   For 
the  purposes  of  this  bylaw,  this  definition  is  limited  to  those  uses  that  require  minimal  on‐site 
improvements, service and public amenities or facilities and does not  include those goods or materials 
which are hazardous. 


P 
PANELLIZED DWELLING means a prefabricated dwelling unit consisting of factory built wall panels which 
are assembled on site.  All service systems and connections must comply with Alberta Safety Codes. 


PARK MODEL TRAILER means a recreational vehicle that is either:  


(a) built on a single chassis mounted on wheels designed  for  infrequent  towing by a heavy‐duty tow 
vehicle but is restricted in size and weight so that it does not require a special highway movement 
permit and conforms to the CSA‐Z‐240 standard for recreational vehicles; or 


(b) a  recreational vehicle  intended  for  temporary  residence or  seasonal use built on a  single chassis 
mounted on wheels, which may be removed and returned  to the  factory, requiring a special  tow 
vehicle  and  highway  permit  to move  on  the  road  and  conforms  to  the  CSA  Z‐241  standard  for 
recreational vehicles. 


PARKS AND PLAYGROUNDS means land developed for public recreational activities that do not require 
major  buildings  or  facilities,  and  includes  picnic  areas,  playgrounds,  pedestrian  and  bicycle  paths, 
landscaped areas and associated public washrooms.  This may include public open space, which is not in 
private ownership and is open to use by the public. 


PATIO means an outdoor area of a lot developed and used for leisure and/or recreation purposes. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


50 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


PERMANENT FOUNDATION means a foundation installed to provide structural support for a building or 
structure,  for a period of at  least 20 years  including:   concrete  slab on grade, concrete strip  footings, 
wood or concrete full basement and pile or pier footings. 


PERSONAL SERVICES means uses that provide personal services to an individual that are related to the 
care and appearance of the body or the cleaning and repair of personal effects.  Typical uses include but 
are not  limited to barber shops, beauty salons, hairdressers, manicurists, aestheticians,  fitness  facility, 
tailors, dress makers, shoe repair shops, dry cleaning establishments, and laundries but does not include 
health services. 


PORCH means a covered, open accessory  structure  (unenclosed)  that  is attached  to  the exterior of a 
building, often forming a covered entrance to a doorway.   The structure does not have solid walls, but 
may be screened. 


PUBLIC OR PRIVATE UTILITY means any one or more of the following: 


(a) systems for the distribution of gas, whether artificial or natural; 


(b) facilities for the storage, transmission, treatment, distribution or supply of water; 


(c) facilities for the collection, treatment, movement or disposal of sanitary sewage; 


(d)  storm sewage drainage facilities; 


(e) telecommunications systems; 


(f) systems for the distribution of artificial light or electric power; 


(g) facilities  used  for  the  storage  of  telephone,  cable,  remote  weather  stations  or  internet 
infrastructure; 


(h) any other things prescribed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council by regulation. 


R 
RECREATION,  PRIVATE  means  sports  or  recreational  or  retreat  activities,  use,  facilities  including 
associated eating and retail areas, provided by commercial  for‐profit and non‐profit businesses where 
the public is admitted for a fee or where admission is limited to members of an organization or limited 
group.    Such uses  include, but are not  limited  to, gymnasiums, athletic/sport  fields,  shooting  ranges, 
paint‐ball, go‐cart tracks, golf courses and ranges, outdoor mini‐golf, recreation centres, indoor/outdoor 
ice rinks, campgrounds retreats and country clubs. 


RECREATION,  PUBLIC means  sports  or  recreational  or  retreat  activities,  uses  or  facilities,  including 
associated eating and  retail areas,  for public use which are public‐owned or operated  (i.e. municipal, 
provincial, or federal including local boards, agencies or commissions of the Village).  Such uses include, 
but are not limited to, gymnasiums, athletic/sports fields shooting ranges, paint‐ball, go‐cart tracks, golf 
courses  and  ranges,  outdoor  mini‐golf,  recreation  centres  indoor/outdoor  ice  rinks,  campground, 
retreats, and country clubs. 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLE / HOLIDAY TRAILER means a transportable  living unit, designed to be moved 
on  its own wheels or by other means  (including units permanently mounted on  trucks), designed or 
constructed  to be used  for  sleeping or  living purposes on a  short‐term,  temporary basis.   Such  living 
units are subject to highway safety standards rather than housing standards.  Typical units include, but 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 51 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


are not limited to motor homes, campers, holiday trailers, travel trailers, fifth wheel trailers, tent trailers 
and park model trailers.  These units are not permitted as permanent dwellings. 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLE STORAGE – SEE OUTDOOR STORAGE 


RECYCLING FACILITY means a development  for the purchasing, receiving and/or temporary storage of 
discarded articles, provided that the use does not generate a detrimental effect or nuisance beyond the 
parcel or lot upon which it is situated.  This use may involve supplementary production of by‐products or 
materials and includes bottle, can, and paper recycling depots. 


RETAIL  means  commercial  premises  where  goods,  merchandise,  substances,  articles,  and  other 
materials,  are  offered  for  sale  to  the  general  public.    These  uses  exclude  cannabis  retail  stores, 
warehouse  sales  and  the  sale  of  gasoline,  heavy  agricultural  and  industrial  equipment,  alcoholic 
beverages,  or  retail  stores  requiring  outdoor  storage.    Minor  government  services,  such  as  postal 
services, are permitted within general retail stores. 


S 
SANDBLASTING FACILITIES means a business where the major source of activity involves the large scale 
sandblasting  of  agricultural,  industrial  or  other  equipment/items.    Sandblasting  facilities  may  also 
include welding and painting facilities on‐site. 


SCHOOL means a place of  instruction offering  courses of  study.    Included  in  the  category are public, 
private, and separate schools. 


SECONDARY  SUITE means  a  facility  containing  cooking  facilities,  food preparation  area,  sleeping  and 
sanitary facilities, which is physically separate from those of the principal dwelling within the structure.  
A  secondary  suite  shall  also  have  an  entrance  separate  from  the  entrance  to  the  principal  dwelling, 
either from a common indoor landing or directly from the exterior of the structure. 


SENIOR CITIZENS HOUSING means a dwelling unit or accommodation sponsored and administered by 
any public agency or any non‐profit organization, either of which obtains  its  financial assistance  from 
Federal, Provincial, or Municipal Governments or agencies or public  subscriptions or donation or any 
combinations  thereof.    Senior  citizen  accommodation may  include  lounge,  dining,  health  care,  and 
recreation facilities.  Also see ASSISTED LIVING. 


SERVICE STATION or GAS BAR means any  lot or building used for the retail sale of motor accessories, 
gasoline or other fuels and the supply of washing, greasing, cleaning and minor repair services for motor 
vehicles. 


SHIPPING CONTAINER means any container that is or was used for transport of goods by means of rail, 
truck or by sea.  These are generally referred to as a C‐Container, sea cargo container, sea can or cargo 
container.  Such containers are typically rectangular in shape and are generally made of metal.  For the 
purposes of this bylaw, when such a container is used for any purpose other than transporting freight, it 
will be considered as a structure, must conform to these regulations and require a development permit. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


52 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


SHOW HOME means  a  finished  dwelling  unit which  has  been  staged with  appliances,  furniture,  and 
decorations for the viewing public as a sales tool.  A show home may or may not contain a sales office 
for the development. 


SIGN means any object, structure, fixture, placard, device and components, or portion thereof, which is 
used to advertise, identify, communicate, display, direct or attract attention to an object, matter, thing, 
person, institution, organization, business, product, service, event or location by any means. 


SOLAR  PANEL means  a  panel  designed  to  absorb  the  sun  rays  as  a  source  of  energy  for  generating 
electricity or heating. 


SWIMMING  POOL means  a  structure,  basin  or  tank  containing  or  artificially  created  pool  of water 
greater  than  600 mm  in  depth  at  any  point,  and  is  used  for  swimming,  recreation,  bathing,  diving, 
wading, healing or  therapy,  religious  rituals, or other purposes and  includes all buildings, equipment, 
and facilities used in connection with it. 


T 
TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA means  a  structure  and  any  associated  system,  including  all masts, 
towers and other antenna supporting structures that is used for the transmission, emission or reception 
of television, radio, internet, or telecommunication. 


TOURIST INFORMATION means a development intended to provide information to the travelling public 
and may include washroom and picnic facilities and accessory retail sales. 


TOWING  OPERATION  means  a  business  engaged  in  transporting  vehicles  to  an  alternate 
location. 


TRANSPORTATION/DELIVERY SERVICE means development involving the use of one or more vehicles to 
transport people, mail, currency, documents, packages and articles for compensation such as a mobile 
catering service,  the rental or  lease of vans and  trucks,  taxi service,  limousine or bus service and may 
include limited storage and repair of the vehicles used.  This use does not include towing operation. 


TRANSPORTATION DISPATCH/DEPOT means  a  facility  for  the  purpose  of  storing  and/or  dispatching 
trucks, buses,  fleet vehicles, and  transport vehicles and may  include  towing operations.   The use may 
also  involve  the  transfer  of  goods  primarily  involving  the  loading  and  unloading  of  freight‐carrying 
trucks. 


TRUCK STOP means a building, premise or  land  in which or upon which a business, service or  industry 
involving  in  the  maintenance,  servicing,  storage  or  report  of  commercial  vehicles  is  conducted  or 
rendered including the dispensing of fuel products, the sale of accessories and/or equipment for trucks 
and  similar  commercial  vehicles.    A  truck  stop may  also  include  convenience  stores  and  restaurant 
facilities, and may include overnight accommodation facilities solely for the use of truck crews. 


TRUCK WASH means a commercial vehicle washing facility associated with large vehicles such as tractor 
trailers. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 53 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U
SE
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


U 


USE‐means the purposes for which land or a building is arranged or intended, or for which either land, a 
building or a structure is, or may be, occupied and maintained. 


UTILITIES – See PUBLIC OR PRIVATE UTILITY 


V 
VETERINARY CLINIC – see ANIMAL CARE SERVICE 


W 
WAREHOUSE means a facility for the storage of commercial goods, materials or equipment. 


WASTE MANAGEMENT SITES means a development  for  the  commercial  receiving of  spent materials, 
provided  that no detrimental  effects or nuisances  are  generated beyond  the parcel upon which  it  is 
situated.  This use includes a dry waste site, a hazardous waste management facility and a waste sorting 
station.  This use does not include a RECYCLING FACILITY. 


WASTE MANAGEMENT TRANSFER STATION means a facility for the collection and temporary holding of 
solid waste in a transferable storage container. 


WASTEWATER  TREATMENT  PLANT  has  the  same  meaning  as  referred  to  in  the  Subdivision  and 
Development Regulation and as  in the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act.   This definition 
also includes a wastewater treatment stabilization plant. 


WATER  TREATMENT  PLANT  means  a  facility  that  treats  raw  water  so  that  it  is  safe  for  human 
consumption and then distributes it for human use. 


 


All other words and expressions not otherwise defined in this Land Use Bylaw 
have the meaning assigned to them in the Municipal Government Act. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


D
IM


EN
SI
O
N
 S
TA


N
D
A
R
D
S 


A
N
D
 S
ET
B
A
C
K
S 


Schedule 3 


DIMENSION STANDARDS AND SETBACKS 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 55 


D
IM


EN
SI
O
N
 S
TA


N
D
A
R
D
S 


A
N
D
 S
ET
B
A
C
K
S 


Schedule 3 


DIMENSION STANDARDS AND SETBACKS 


SECTION 1  DIMENSION STANDARDS AND MINUMUM SETBACKS 


1.1  Tables 3.2.1, 3.3.1 and 3.4.1  list  the dimensional  standards and  setback  requirements 
that apply to specific uses within each of the land use districts. 


1.2  In addition to Schedule 3, Section 1.1, all development in all land use districts, including 
structure, sign and screening placement, are required to abide by the directives given in 
an Area Structure Plan. 


SECTION 2  MINIMUM LOT SIZE 


2.1  Minimum Dimensions Table  


The table  lists the dimensional requirements that apply to specific uses within each of 
the land use districts.  


Table 3.2.1: Minimum Lot Size 


Land Use District  Specific Use  Minimum Lot Size 


Residential – R  All uses 
929.4 m2 (10,000 ft2) 


or as required by the Municipal Planning Commission 


         


Land Use District  Uses  Width  Length  Area 


  m  ft  m  ft  m2  ft2 


Commercial – C  All uses  7.6  25  35.1  115  267.1  2,875 


Industrial – I  All uses  30.5  100  35.1  115  1068.4  11,500 


Public – P  All uses  As required by the MPC 


2.2  The following definitions apply: 


(a)  LOT in accordance with the Municipal Government Act, means 


(i)  a part of a parcel where the boundaries of the parcel are separately described 
in the certificate of title other than by reference to a legal subdivision; 


(ii)  a part of a parcel of land described in a certificate of title if the boundaries of 
the  part  are  described  in  a  certificate  of  title  by  reference  to  a  plan  of 
subdivision. 


(iii)  Where a certificate of  title contains one or more  lots described  in a plan of 
subdivision that was registered  in a  land titles office before  July 1, 1950,  lot 
means parcel. 


(b)  LOT WIDTH means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured at a 
point perpendicular to the front property line. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


56 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


D
IM


EN
SI
O
N
 S
TA


N
D
A
R
D
S 


A
N
D
 S
ET
B
A
C
K
S 


(c)  LOT LENGTH means the horizontal distance between the front and the rear lot lines 
measure along the median between the side lot lines. 


(d)  LOT AREA means the total area of a lot. 


(e)  CORNER LOT means a lot located at the intersection of two or more streets. 


(f)  INTERIOR LOT means a lot situated between two lots or another lot and a lane and 
having access to not more than one street. 


(g)  LOT  FRONTAGE means  the  front  lot  line  or  that  side  of  a  lot  abutting  a  public 
roadway, but does not include any side abutting a lane, unless said lane is the only 
means of physical access to a lot. 


(h)  LOT LINE means a legally defined boundary of any lot.  The term property line and 
boundary line have the corresponding meaning. 


2.3  The Municipal  Planning  Commission may  approve  a  commercial  development  on  an 
existing  registered  lot  the minimum dimensions or  area of which  are  less  than  those 
specified in 2.1 provided that the minimum area allowed is not less than 232.3 m2 (2,500 
ft2). 


SECTION 3  MINIMUM SETBACKS  


3.1  Minimum Setback Table 


The  table  lists  the setback requirements  that apply  to specific uses within each of  the 
land use districts. 


Table 3.3.1: Minimum Setbacks 


Land Use 
Districts 


Specific Use  Minimum Setbacks 


    Front  Secondary Front  Side  Rear 


Residential – R  m  ft  m  ft  m  ft  m  ft 


  Single unit, dwelling  7.6  25  3.8  12.5  1.5  5  7.6  25 


  2 unit, 3‐unit & 4‐unit, 
apartment, senior 
citizen housing 


7.6  25  3.8  12.5  3.0  10  7.6  25 


  Row  (interior unit)  7.6  25  common wall  common wall  7.6  25 


            (end unit)  7.6  25  3.8  12.5  3.0  10  7.6  25 


  Accessory building  7.6  25  3.8  12.5  1.5  5  1.5  5 


Commercial – C                 


  All uses  0  0  0  0  0  0  7.6  25 


  Where adjacent to R, P  0  0  0  0  6.1  20  7.6  25 


Industrial – I                 


  All uses  7.6  25  7.6  25  3.0  10  7.6  25 


  Where adjacent to R, P  7.6  25  7.6  25  6.1  20  7.6  25 


Public – P                 


  All uses  7.6  25  3.8  12.5  3.0  10  7.6  25 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 57 


D
IM


EN
SI
O
N
 S
TA


N
D
A
R
D
S 


A
N
D
 S
ET
B
A
C
K
S 


3.2  The following definitions apply:  


(a)  YARD means  the  area  between  a  lot  line  and  the  nearest  part  of  any  building, 
structure, development, excavation or use on the lot. 


(b)  FRONT YARD means a yard extending across  the  full width of a  lot and  situated 
between the front lot line and the nearest portion of the principal buildings. 


(c)  SIDE  YARD means  a  yard  extending  from  the  front  yard  to  the  rear  yard  and 
situated between the side lot lines and the nearest portion of the principal building.  
See figure. 


(d)  REAR  YARD means  a  yard  extending  across  the  full width  of  a  lot  and  situated 
between the rear lot lines and the nearest portion of the principal building. 


(e)  SECONDARY FRONT YARD means a yard on a corner  lot with street  frontage but 
which is not the frontage where the main entrance to the building or development 
is oriented or is the yard which is designated the secondary front by the Municipal 
Planning Commission. 


3.3  Where any  lot has more than one front yard  line, the front setback requirements shall 
apply to one yard, but only one‐half the front yard requirement may apply to the other 
front yard and that yard shall be considered a secondary front yard. 


 
 


3.4  Structures that are attached to a principal building are subject to the principal setbacks 
excepting the permitted projections in Section 3.5. 


3.5  The following features may, subject to the relevant provisions of Safety Codes, project 
into the required setbacks under this bylaw: 


(a)  unenclosed steps or unenclosed fire escapes; 


(b)  a wheelchair ramp at the discretion of the Municipal Planning Commission; 


(c)  fences  or walls  to  the  property  line  in  accordance with  the  applicable  land  use 
district; 


(d)  driveways, curbs and sidewalks; 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


58 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


D
IM


EN
SI
O
N
 S
TA


N
D
A
R
D
S 


A
N
D
 S
ET
B
A
C
K
S 


(e)  off‐street parking; 


(f)  cooling units not to exceed 0.9 m (3 ft); 


(g)  mailboxes; 


(h)  landscaping, fish ponds, ornaments, flagpoles (less than 4.6 m (15 ft) in height), or 
other similar landscaping features; 


(i)  temporary swimming pools in accordance with the applicable land use district; and 


(j)  signs. 


3.6  The  portions  of  and  attachments  to  a  principal  building  which  may  project  over  a 
setback are as follows:  


(a)  eaves,  fireplaces,  belt  courses,  bay  windows,  cornices,  sills  or  other  similar 
architectural  features may  project  over  a  side  setback  as  permitted  under  the 
relevant provisions of Safety Codes and over a front or rear setback a distance not 
to exceed 1.2 m (4 ft); 


(b)  an uncovered balcony, cantilever, or other similar feature may project over a side 
or  rear  setback  a  distance  not  to  exceed  one‐half  of  the width  of  the  smallest 
setback required for the site; 


(c)  a chimney which is not more than 1.2 m (4 ft) wide and projects not more than 0.3 
m (1 ft) into a rear or side setback. 


3.7  The Municipal  Planning  Commission may  require  increased  building  setbacks  (other 
than those listed in Table 3.3.1) if such setbacks would: 


(a)  help avoid land use conflict; 


(b)  enhance the appearance of the area. 


SECTION 4  FLOOR AREA AND BUILDING HEIGHT 


4.1  The table lists the standards for floor area and building height that apply to specific uses 
within each of the land use districts. 


 
Table 3.4.1: Floor Area and Building Height 


Land Use Districts  Specific Use  Minimum Floor Area 
Maximum Building 


Height 


Residential – R    m2  ft2  m  ft 


  Single unit, dwelling(a)  55.7  600  10.1  33 


  2 unit, 3‐unit, 4‐unit & row 
dwelling units  


55.7  600  10.1  33 


  Apartment  As required by the MPC  As required by the MPC 


  Senior citizen housing  As required by the MPC  As required by the MPC 


  Accessory building  n/a  5.0  16.4 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 59 


D
IM


EN
SI
O
N
 S
TA


N
D
A
R
D
S 


A
N
D
 S
ET
B
A
C
K
S 


 


Table 3.4.1: Floor Area and Building Height (continued) 


Commercial – C           


  All uses  n/a  10.7  35 


Land Use Districts  Specific Use  Minimum Floor Area 
Maximum Building 


Height 


Industrial – I    m2  ft2  m  ft 


  All uses  n/a  10.7  35 


Public – P           


  All uses  n/a  As required by the MPC 


4.2  Floor  area  means  the  sum  of  the  gross  horizontal  area  of  the  several  floors  and 
passageways of a building not including basements, attached garages and open porches. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 
N
O
T 


R
EQ


U
IR
IN
G
 A
 P
ER


M
IT
 


Schedule 4 


DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 61 


D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 
N
O
T 


R
EQ


U
IR
IN
G
 A
 P
ER


M
IT
 


Schedule 4 


DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


SECTION 1  DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT  


1.1  The following developments shall not require a development permit: 


(a)  any  use  or  development  exempted  under  section  618(1)  of  the  Municipal 
Government Act; 


(b)  any use or development exempted by the Lieutenant Governor in Council pursuant 
to section 618(4) of the Municipal Government Act; 


(c)  the completion of a building which was lawfully under construction at the date this 
bylaw came into effect provided that the building is completed in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of any development permit granted; 


(d)  the completion of a building that did not require a development permit under the 
previous Land Use Bylaw and which was  lawfully under construction provided the 
building is completed within 12 months from the date this bylaw came into effect. 


1.2  The  following  developments  shall  not  require  a  development  permit,  but  must 
otherwise comply with all other provisions of this bylaw: 


(a)  the maintenance or repair of any building provided that the work does not include 
structural alterations or additions; 


(b)  interior renovations to a building which do not: 
(i) create another dwelling unit, 


(ii) increase parking requirements, or 


(iii) result in the change of use of a building; 


(c)  the  temporary  placement  or  construction  of  works,  plants  or  machinery  (not 
including  shipping  containers)  needed  to  construct  a  development  for  which  a 
development permit has been issued for the period of those operations; 


(d)  the maintenance or repair of public works, services and utilities on publicly owned 
or administered land carried out by or on behalf of federal, provincial, municipal or 
public authorities; 


(e)  any structure placed on a lot which is 11.1 m2 (120 ft2) or less in area that is not on 
a permanent foundation; 


(f)  in all districts the erection, maintenance or alteration of a fence, gate, wall, hedge 
or other means of enclosure that does not exceed 0.9 m (3 ft) in height in any front 
yard and 1.8 m (6 ft) in height in any secondary front, rear or side yard; 


(g)  in  the  Industrial  land  use  district,  the  erection, maintenance  or  alteration  of  a 
fence, gate, wall hedge, or other means of enclosure; 


(h)  landscaping that was not required as part of the original development permit; 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


62 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 
N
O
T 
 


R
EQ


U
IR
IN
G
 A
 P
ER


M
IT
 


(i)  any satellite dish less than 0.9 m (3 ft) in diameter; 


(j)  temporary  outdoor  swimming  pools  and  above  ground  hot  tubs;  must  meet 
provincial safety codes; 


(k)  the installation of cement or other hard surface material that is not to be covered 
or partially covered by a roof or other shelter; 


(l)  excavation, grading, stripping, or stockpile provided it is part of a development for 
which  a  development  permit  has  been  issued  or  is  addressed  in  a  signed 
Development Agreement with the Village of Glenwood; 


(m)  the construction of uncovered decks or patios 0.6 m (2 ft) or lower to ground level 
(a covered deck shall require a development permit); and 


(n)  the replacement of any existing structures or buildings. 


 


If there is a doubt to whether a development is of a kind listed above, the matter shall 
be decided by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


G
EN


ER
A
L 
A
N
D
 U
SE
 S
P
EC


IF
IC
 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


Schedule 5 


GENERAL AND USE SPECIFIC 
STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 63 


G
EN


ER
A
L 
A
N
D
 U
SE
 S
P
EC


IF
IC
 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


Schedule 5 


GENERAL AND USE SPECIFIC STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


Except  for  more  specific,  alternative  or  contradictory  standards  as  may  be  set  forth  within  the 
Residential Standards found in Schedule 6 or the Commercial / Industrial Standards found in Schedule 7, 
the following standards apply to all uses in all districts.  


SECTION 1  STATUTORY PLANS 


1.1  Where the policies, rules or procedures  indicated  in a statutory plan vary, supplement, 
reduce,  replace  or  qualify  the  requirements  of  this  bylaw  for  a  particular  district  or 
districts,  the  policies,  rules  or  procedures  indicated  in  the  statutory  plan  shall  take 
precedence. 


SECTION 2  APPROVAL OF ACCESS 


2.1  Location of the access to each development from a public roadway should be shown on 
the plot plan submitted with the application for a development permit and is subject to 
the approval of the Development Officer or Municipal Planning Commission. 


SECTION 3  DESIGN AND ORIENTATION OF BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES AND SIGNS 


3.1  Subject  to  the  requirements of  the Safety Codes,  the Municipal Planning Commission 
may require that buildings be physically accessible to disabled persons. 


SECTION 4  DEVELOPMENT OF LANDS SUBJECT TO SUBSIDENCE, UNDERMINING OR FLOODING 


4.1  If in the opinion of the Municipal Planning Commission, land upon which development is 
proposed is subject to subsidence, mass wasting, flooding or undermining the Municipal 
Planning  Commission may  require  the  applicant  to  submit  a  structural  building  plan 
prepared  and  sealed  by  an  engineer,  and/or  a  slope  stability  analysis,  and/or 
geotechnical report, and/or flood mapping prepared by an engineer demonstrating that 
any potential hazards can be mitigated. 


SECTION 5   GRADING AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 


5.1  The  Municipal  Planning  Commission  may  require  as  a  condition  of  development 
approval: 


(a)  engineered  grading  and  drainage  plans  for  the  development  and  legal  survey 
demonstrating that engineered grades have been met; 


(b)  grading and other measures, as appropriate, to control surface drainage, reduce or 
eliminate grade difference between adjacent  lots, and minimize erosion or  slope 
instability; 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


64 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


G
EN


ER
A
L 
A
N
D
 U
SE
 S
P
EC


IF
IC
 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


(c)  the final grades of the development must be approved by the Municipal Planning 
Commission before the issuance of a building permit; 


(d)  the applicant is responsible for ensuring adherence to final grades. 


5.2  The construction of a retaining wall whenever, in the opinion of the Municipal Planning 
Commission,  significant  differences  in  grade  exist  or will  exist  between  the  lot  being 
developed  and  any  adjacent  lot or  roadway.   Where  a  retaining wall  is  required,  the 
applicant  shall  submit  to  the  Development  Officer  plans  identifying  the  design  and 
specifications of development  for review and approval by  the accredited Safety Codes 
Officer. 


5.3  Roof and  surface drainage  shall be directed either  to  the public  roadway  fronting  the 
property,  or  as  approved  by  the  Development  Officer,  to  a  rear  or  side  property 
boundary or as approved in an engineered storm water management plan. 


5.4  When discharging, storm water connections or sump hoses must be greater than 1.8 m 
(6 ft) from the front property line. 


SECTION 6  SHIPPING CONTAINERS 


6.1  Any shipping container shall be subject to the following general standards: 


(a)  An application  for a development permit  for a proposed shipping container must 
be  completed  and  submitted  to  the  Development  Officer  accompanied  by  the 
applicable  application  fee  and  a minimum  of  two  recent  colour  photographs  of 
each container (one end view and one side view). 


(b)  There shall be a legal primary use on the property where the shipping container is 
proposed. 


(c)  The  Municipal  Planning  Commission  may  regulate  the  maximum  number  of 
shipping containers permitted on a lot. 


(d)  The Municipal Planning Commission may require as a condition of approval that a 
shipping container(s) be screened from view or landscaped to make it aesthetically 
pleasing. 


(e)  The Municipal Planning Commission may  require  as  a  condition of  approval  that 
any shipping container be sandblasted and/or painted a neutral or complementary 
colour to match the existing building(s) on the property. 


(f)  The Municipal Planning Commission may require as a condition of approval that the 
exterior of the shipping container be kept clean and regularly painted  in a neutral 
or complementary colour to match the existing building(s) on the property. 


6.2  A permanent shipping container is subject to the following additional provisions: 


(a)  the maximum  lot  coverage  and  setback  requirements  for  accessory  structures  in 
the applicable land use district; 


(b)  the shipping container may only be permitted in the secondary front, rear, or side 
yard; and 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 65 


G
EN


ER
A
L 
A
N
D
 U
SE
 S
P
EC


IF
IC
 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


(c)  the shipping container shall not display advertising, company logos, names or other 
marketing without an approved sign permit. 


6.3  A shipping container may be placed temporarily on a construction site for the period of 
construction with an approved development permit, subject to the following provisions: 


(a)  temporary  shipping  containers  are  subject  to  the  standards  in  subsection  8.2 
above; 


(b)  the shipping container is needed in connection with construction of a development 
for which a development permit has been issued; 


(c)  the construction site is active (i.e., construction has commenced and is on‐going or 
is about to commence within one week); placement of a shipping container on an 
inactive construction site is prohibited; 


(d)  setbacks for a temporary shipping container shall be as required by the Municipal 
Planning Commission; 


(e)  the  shipping  container  shall  be  removed  immediately  upon  completion  of 
construction or sooner as may be required by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


SECTION 7  TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA SITING PROTOCOLS (See also APPENDIX B) 


7.1  Telecommunication, radio communication and broadcast antenna systems are regulated 
by  Industry  Canada.    An  applicant  proposing  to  locate  a  telecommunication,  radio 
communication or broadcast antenna  system within  the Village which does not meet 
the exclusion criteria in Appendix B shall be subject to the following siting protocols: 


(a)  Co‐utilization 


The  applicant  shall  be  requested  to  identify  any  other  similar  antenna  systems 
within  a  radius  of  500  m  (1,640  ft)  of  the  proposed  location  and  to  provide 
documentary evidence that co‐utilization of the existing antenna systems  is not a 
viable alternative to the proposed antenna. 


(b)  Siting Options 


The  applicant  shall  be  requested  to  identify  siting  options  and  any  alternative 
locations considered. 


(c)  Appearance 


Antenna systems which are visible from residential areas are encouraged to employ 
innovative design measures such as a monopole construction to mitigate the visual 
impact of the antenna system. 


(d)  Landscaping 


The  landscaping requirement of the  land use district  in which the development  is 
proposed  should  be  integrated  into  the  site  design,  except  where  existing  site 
vegetation  is  deemed  comparable  by  the Municipal  Planning  Commission  to  the 
land use district requirements. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


66 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


G
EN


ER
A
L 
A
N
D
 U
SE
 S
P
EC


IF
IC
 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


(e)  Lighting and Signage 


(i)  Lighting  in  addition  to  that which  is  required by  applicable  federal  agencies 
shall be avoided.   Security  lighting may be considered provided  it meets  the 
requirements of the applicable land use district. 


(ii)  Only signage that  is required by applicable federal agencies  is permitted.   No 
advertising signage shall be permitted. 


(f)  Municipal Concurrence 


(i)  The applicant shall be required  to present  the proposed development  to  the 
Municipal Planning Commission at a public meeting and submit the following 
plans at  least two weeks before the scheduled meeting:   site plan  identifying 
the  location  of  the  proposed  development,  access,  distance  from  property 
lines,  easements,  rights‐of‐way or  any other development  constraint on  the 
property, proposed fencing or other security measures, and landscaping plan; 
and antenna height, type, design, material, appearance and lighting. 


(ii)  Upon  conclusion  of  the  public  consultation  process,  the Municipal  Planning 
Commission will  issue a response to the applicant  in writing  indicating either 
concurrence of the proposed development or specific concerns or comments 
relating to the antenna system. 


(g)  Public Consultation 


(i)  The applicant shall be required to hold a public meeting before the Municipal 
Planning Commission at the Village office or another location approved by the 
Village  administration  to  explain  all  aspects  of  the  proposed  development, 
including  but  not  limited  to  siting,  technology  and  appearance  of  the 
structure. 


(ii)  The Village will notify all  land owners within a distance of 500 m (1,640 ft) of 
the proposed structure at the expense of the applicant. 


 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


Schedule 6 


RESIDENTIAL 
STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 67 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


Schedule 6 


RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


The  following standards are applicable to residential development.   Sections 1‐12 are applicable to all 


residential development types.  Sections 13‐14 are applicable to specific residential development types. 


SECTION 1  ACCESSORY BUILDINGS 


1.1  Accessory buildings shall be located at least 1.2 m (4 ft) from the principal building. 


1.2  Accessory buildings shall be constructed such that eaves shall be no closer than 0.6 m 
(2 ft) from a side lot line or rear lot line and all drainage is conducted to the appropriate 
storm drain via the applicant’s own property. 


1.3  Accessory buildings or structures shall not be located in the front yard in relation to the 
principal building. 


1.4  No principal building. accessory building,  structure and/or use  shall be allowed  in  the 
village unless a principal building, structure or use  is  in existence on the property or a 
duly issued permit has been approved by the village for the construction of the principal 
building, structure or use. 


1.5  The maximum height for an accessory building or structure shall be 5.0 m (16.4 ft). 


SECTION 2  APARTMENTS AND MULTI‐UNIT DWELLINGS 


Apartment and multi‐unit dwellings are subject to the following additional standards: 


2.1  A  development  plan  shall  be  submitted with  the  development  permit  application  as 
referred to in Section 26 of the Administration component of this Land Use Bylaw. 


2.2  A minimum 1.5 m (5 ft) wide  landscaped buffer strip  is required between a parking  lot 
and an adjacent residential lot. 


SECTION 3  EASEMENTS 


3.1  All permanent structures shall be  located a minimum of 3.1 m  (10  ft), or such greater 
distance  as  required  by  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission,  from  an  easement 
registered  for  the protection of municipal water mains and  sewer mains or any other 
infrastructure, as determined by the municipality. 


3.2  No structures shall be located within a registered easement. 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


68 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


SECTION 4  CORNER VISIBILITY 


4.1  Street Corner Visibility 


On  a  corner  lot,  nothing  shall  be  erected,  placed,  planted  or  allowed  to  grow  in  a 
manner which may restrict traffic visibility at street  intersections, between 0.9 m (3 ft) 
and 3.0 m  (10  ft) above  the  centre  line grades of  the  intersecting  streets  in  the area 
bounded by the property lines of such corner lots and a line joining points along the said 
property line 6.1 m (20 ft) from the point of intersection (see Figures 6.1 and 6.2).  
 


 
 


Figure 6.1  Figure 6.2 


SECTION 5  DRIVEWAYS, OFF‐STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS AND DESIGN STANDARDS  


5.1  Driveways shall be a minimum of 3.0 m (10 ft) from the entrance to a  lane, and 4.6 m 
(15 ft) from the intersection of two public roadways (see Figure 6.3). 


 


 
Figure 6.3 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 69 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


SECTION 6  FENCES 


6.1  Fencing on  corner  lots  are  subject  to  Schedule 6  Section 4.1  restrictions  in  regard  to 
street corner visibility, wherein nothing shall be erected, placed, planted or allowed to 
grow in a manner which may restrict traffic visibility at street intersections, between 0.9 
m (3 ft) and 3.0 m (10 ft) above the centre line grades of the intersecting streets in the 
area bounded by  the property  lines of such corner  lots and a  line  joining points along 
the said property line 6.1 m (20 ft) from the point of intersection. 


6.2  The use of razor wire is not permitted. 


6.3  The use of electric or electrified fencing is permitted only upon the condition that safety 
signage is properly and prominently placed. 


6.4  A  fence  shall  not  be  erected  or  maintained  on  a  property  or  separating  adjoining 
properties unless it is: 


(a)  upright; 


(b)  sufficiently sturdy so as to not present a hazard of toppling or collapsing; and  


(c)  made of materials of good quality and suitable for the purpose. 


SECTION 7  RETAINING WALLS, GRADING AND DRAINAGE 


7.1  The Municipal Planning Commission may require: 


(a)  the construction of a retaining wall, including submittal of an engineered design as 
a  condition  of  development  if  significant  differences  in  grade  exist  or will  exist 
between the lot to be developed and adjacent parcels; 


(b)  the provision of engineered grading and drainage plans for the development; 


(c)  special grading and/or paving to prevent drainage problems with neighbouring lots 
as a condition of a development permit. 


7.2  The  discharge  of  sump  hoses  into  the  Village’s  sanitary  sewer  system  shall  be 
prohibited. 


SECTION 8  SITE LIGHTING 


8.1  Site  lighting  may  be  required  as  a  condition  of  development  and  shall  be  located, 
oriented and shielded so that it does not adversely affect adjacent properties. 


SECTION 9  REFUSE COLLECTION AND STORAGE 


9.1  Refuse  and  garbage  shall  be  kept  in  an  enclosure  for  each  use within  each  land  use 
district. 


9.2  All refuse on any construction site shall be properly screened or placed in an approved 
enclosure until removed for disposal. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


70 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


SECTION 10  SERVICING 


10.1  All principal use development shall be required to connect to both the municipal water 
supply and sewerage system. 


10.2  Any development  that  is not  currently  connected  to  the municipal water and  sewage 
system must pay for the cost to  install those services to the specified village standards 
with the understanding that the newly installed services and associated infrastructure to 
the property line belongs to the village, or wait until a servicing project is identified as a 
capital priority of Council. 


SECTION 11  DEVELOPMENT AND SERVICING AGREEMENTS 


11.1  The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a development, that 
as a condition of issuing a development permit, the applicant enter into an agreement  
with the municipality, pursuant to section 650(1) of the Municipal Government Act, to 
do any or all of the following: 


(a)  to  construct or pay  for  the  construction of a  road  required  to give access  to  the 
development; 


(b)  to  construct  or  pay  for  the  construction  of  off‐street,  or  other  parking  facilities 
and/or loading and unloading facilities in commercial and industrial districts; 


(c)  to  install or pay for the  installations of public utilities,  including but not  limited to 
underground  electrical  and  fibre  optic  services,  that  are  necessary  to  the 
development; 


(d)  to pay an off‐site levy or redevelopment levy; 


(e)  to give security to ensure that the terms of the agreement under this section are 
carried out as outlined in the current Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw. 


11.2  The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a subdivision that as a 
condition of issuing an approval for a subdivision, the applicant enter into an agreement 
with the municipality, pursuant to section 655(1)(b) of the Municipal Government Act.  


11.3  An agreement referred to  in this section may require the applicant  for a development 
permit  or  subdivision  approval  to  oversize  improvements  in  accordance with  section 
651 of the Municipal Government Act. 


11.4  A  municipality  may  register  a  caveat  under  the  Land  Titles  Act  with  respect  to  an 
agreement  under  this  section  against  the  certificate  of  title  for  the  land  that  is  the 
subject  of  the  development,  or  for  the  parcel  of  land  that  is  the  subject  of  the 
subdivision. 


11.5  If a municipality  registers a caveat under  this section,  the municipality must discharge 
the caveat when the agreement has been complied with. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 71 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


SECTION 12  PRIVATE SWIMMING POOLS 


12.1  Private swimming pools shall be classified as an accessory structure. 


12.2  Any  private  swimming  pool  with  a  design  depth  greater  than  0.6 m  (2  ft)  shall  be 
constructed and fenced in accordance with Safety Codes requirements. 


12.3  Temporary above ground swimming pools and above ground hot tubs do not require a 
development permit, but are subject to Safety Codes and may require a building permit. 


SECTION 13  MANUFACTURED HOMES 


Single‐detached prefabricated dwelling means: 


• a dwelling unit or portions of a dwelling unit that  is built  in a factory or portions of 
dwelling units that are built in a factory or location other than on the lot intended for 
occupancy; 


• includes modular, ready‐to‐move and panellized dwellings; 


• manufactured in accordance with CSA and the Alberta Building Code, 


• is not constructed with a permanent hitch, chassis or other device allowing transport 
of the unit other than for the purpose of delivery to a permanent site. 


This  definition  does  not  include,  park model  recreational  units,  park model  trailers  or  travel 
trailers. 


 


Requirements for Manufactured Homes   


A unit that meets CSA standards and building code (CSA A‐277)    


Dwelling is securely fastened and placed on:   


    Basement    


     Concrete slab    


     Concrete strip footing    


     Pile or pier footing    


Minimum floor area shall not be less than 55.74 m2 (600 ft2)    


13.1  A  development  permit  for  a manufactured  home must  be  issued  by  the Municipal 
Planning Commission. 


13.2  As a condition of approval the Municipal Planning Commission, at their discretion, may 
place  other  conditions  on  a  development  permit  including  the  requirement  that  the 
developer provide  fencing, address drainage  issues, or other such matters  it considers 
necessary. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


72 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


R
ES
ID
EN


TI
A
L 
ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 


O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


SECTION 14  MOVED IN BUILDINGS 


Moved  in building means a previously used or existing building which  is  removed  from a site 
and transported then placed on another site. 


14.1  The building and the land upon which it is to be located shall be subject to all conditions 
and regulations specified for the particular land use district. 


14.2  The building shall comply with all provincial, municipal, health, and fire regulations.   A 
report by a building  inspector regarding each application shall be filed before any such 
application shall be considered by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


14.3  The  Requirements    of  the  building  shall  be  established  by  the  Municipal  Planning 
Commission  at  the  time  of  approval  and  shall  form  a  part  of  the  conditions  of  the 
development permit. 


14.4  A limit of the time completion and full compliance with all stipulated requirements shall 
be established by the Municipal Planning Commission at the time of the application.  


14.5  The application should be accompanied by recent colour photographs of all elevations 
of the moved in building. 


14.6  The Municipal Planning Commission may require a security bond, as referred to  in the 
current Rates,  Fees and Charges Bylaw,  to ensure  the  conditions of  the development 
permit are met.    If  the cost  to complete  the work  in  the conditions of  the approval  is 
greater  than  the  security  bond,  construction may  be  completed  by  the  Village  and 
additional costs may be charged against the property tax. 


14.7  All  moved  in  buildings  shall  obtain  any  necessary  building  inspections,  fire  code 
requirements, and/or any municipal, provincial, or federal approvals that are necessary 
for the relocation of the said structure. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


C
O
M
M
ER


C
IA
L 
/ 
IN
D
U
ST
R
IA
L 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


Schedule 7 


COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIAL 
STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 73 


C
O
M
M
ER


C
IA
L 
/ 
IN
D
U
ST
R
IA
L 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


Schedule 7 


COMMERICAL / INDUSTRIAL STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT 


The following standards are applicable to commercial and industrial development. 


SECTION 1  EASEMENTS 


1.1 All permanent structures shall be  located a minimum of 3.1 m  (10  ft), or such greater 
distance  as  required  by  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission,  from  an  easement 
registered  for  the protection of municipal water mains and  sewer mains or any other 
such infrastructure, as determined by the municipality. 


1.2  No structures shall be located within a registered easement. 


SECTION 2  CORNER VISIBILITY 


2.1  Street Corner Visibility 


On  a  corner  lot,  nothing  shall  be  erected,  placed,  planted  or  allowed  to  grow  in  a 
manner which may restrict traffic visibility at street  intersections, between 0.9 m (3 ft) 
and 3.0 m  (10  ft) above  the  centre  line grades of  the  intersecting  streets  in  the area 
bounded by the property lines of such corner lots and a line joining points along the said 
property line 6.1 m (20 ft) from the point of intersection (see Figures 7.1 and 7.2). 
 


 


  Figure 7.1   Figure 7.2  


SECTION 3  FENCING 


3.1  The use of barbed wire below a height of 1.8 m (6 ft) is not permitted. 


3.2  The use of razor wire is not permitted. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


74 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


C
O
M
M
ER


C
IA
L 
/ 
IN
D
U
ST
R
IA
L 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


3.3  Fencing shall not be permitted to be constructed within any developed or undeveloped 
roadway  or  laneway  right‐of‐way.    Removal  of  such  fencing will  be  at  the  property 
owner’s expense. 


3.4  The use of electric or electrified fencing is permitted only upon the condition that safety 
signage is properly and prominently placed. 


3.5  A  fence  shall  not  be  erected  or  maintained  on  a  property  or  separating  adjoining 
properties unless it is: 


(a)  upright; 


(b)  sufficiently sturdy so as not to present a hazard of toppling or collapse; and 


(c)  made of materials of good quality and suitable for the purpose. 


SECTION 4  RETAINING WALLS, GRADING AND DRAINAGE 


4.1  The Municipal Planning Commission may require: 


(a)  the construction of a retaining wall, including submittal of an engineered design as 
a  condition  of  development  if  significant  differences  in  grade  exist  or will  exist 
between the lot to be developed and adjacent parcels; 


(b)  the provision of engineered grading and drainage plans for the development; 


(c)  special grading and/or paving to prevent drainage problems with neighbouring lots 
as a condition of a development permit. 


4.2  The  discharge  of  sump  hoses  into  the  Village’s  sanitary  sewer  system  shall  be 
prohibited. 


SECTION 5  OUTDOOR DISPLAY AND STORAGE 


5.1  Temporary outdoor display of goods, materials, and equipment for advertising and sale 
purposes may be permitted  in  the  front yard provided  the display does not present a 
safety hazard. 


5.2  The  Municipal  Planning  Commission  may  impose  conditions  related  to  screening, 
buffering or landscaping of any outdoor display areas. 


5.3  Outdoor storage areas shall not be permitted within the front yard. 


5.4  Outdoor storage areas adjacent  to a residential  lot shall be effectively screened by an 
opaque  fence  of  at  least  1.8  m  (6  ft)  in  height  or  other  suitable  screening  to  the 
satisfaction of the Municipal Planning Commission. 


SECTION 6  MITIGATION OF IMPACTS FROM NOISE, ODOR, VIBRATION AND AIR QUALITY 


6.1  Where,  in  the opinion of  the Municipal Planning Commission, a development has  the 
potential  to  create  negative  impacts  on  adjacent  uses  and/or  nearby  residential 
development in the form of noise, odor, vibration and/or air quality, the applicant may 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 75 


C
O
M
M
ER


C
IA
L 
/ 
IN
D
U
ST
R
IA
L 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


be  required  to  submit a mitigation plan demonstrating how  impacts will be mitigated 
prior to a decision being made on the application. 


6.2  A mitigation  plan may  be  attached  as  a  condition  of  approval  as well  as  any  other 
measures deemed necessary by the Municipal Planning Commission to mitigate impacts 
pursuant to subsection 6.1 above. 


SECTION 7  ACCESORY BUILDINGS 


7.1  Accessory buildings shall be located at least 1.2 m (4 ft) from the principal building. 


7.2  Accessory buildings shall be constructed such that eaves shall be no closer than 0.6 m 
(2 ft) from a side lot line or rear lot line and all drainage is conducted to the appropriate 
storm drain via the applicant’s own property. 


7.3  Accessory buildings or structures should not to be located in the front yard in relation to 
the principal building unless authorized by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


SECTION 8  MOVED‐IN BUILDINGS 


8.1  The building and the land upon which it is to be located shall be subject to all conditions 
and regulations specified for the particular land use district. 


8.2  The building  shall comply with all provincial and municipal health and  fire  regulations 
prior  to  occupancy  and  release  of  cash  deposit.    A  report  by  a  building  inspector 
regarding each application shall be filed before any such application shall be considered 
by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


8.3  The  requirements  of  the  building  shall  be  established  by  the  Municipal  Planning 
Commission  at  the  time  of  approval  of  the  application  and  shall  form  a  part  of  the 
conditions of the development permit. 


8.4  A  limit of  the  time of completion and  full compliance with all stipulated requirements 
shall be established by the Municipal Planning Commission at the time of the approval 
of the application. 


8.5  The application should be accompanied by recent colour photographs of all elevations 
of the moved‐in building. 


8.6  The Development Officer may  require  a  security  bond,  as  referred  to  in  the  current 
Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw, to ensure the conditions of the development permit are 
met.  If the cost to complete the work in the conditions of the approval is greater than 
the  security bond, construction may be completed by  the Village and additional costs 
may be charged against the property tax. 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


76 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


C
O
M
M
ER


C
IA
L 
/ 
IN
D
U
ST
R
IA
L 


ST
A
N
D
A
R
D
S 
O
F 
D
EV


EL
O
P
M
EN


T 


SECTION 9  GAS BARS, SERVICE STATIONS AND BULK FUEL STATIONS 


9.1  Notwithstanding  the District  Regulations,  a  use  pursuant  to  this  section  shall  not  be 
located on sites, which, in the opinion of the Municipal Planning Commission, would be 
considered unsafe in terms of vehicle circulation, and access and egress from the site. 


9.2  Site Area (Minimum) 


(a)  Gas Bar:  ¼ acre (1,012 m2 / 10,890 ft2)  


(b)  Service Station:  ¼ acre (1,012 m2 / 10,890 ft2)  


(c)  Gas Bar or Service Station including Car Wash:  ½ acre (2,023 m2 / 21,780 ft2)  


(d)  Where a service station or gas bar  is combined with a convenience store:   ½ acre 
(2,023 m2 / 21,780 ft2)  


(e)  Bulk Fuel Station:  ½ acre (2,023 m2 / 21,780 ft2)  


9.3  Site and Building Requirements 


All  parts  of  the  site  to which  vehicles may  have  access  shall  be  hard‐surfaced  if  the 
property is accessed from a paved public road or lane, and drained to the satisfaction of 
the Municipal Planning Commission.  


9.4  The maximum building coverage for a use under this section shall be 25 percent of the 
site area unless authorized by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


SECTION 10  HORTICULTURE OR GREENHOUSES 


Horticulture  or  Greenhouses  may  be  permitted  if  they  meet  the  requirements  generally 
provided within this bylaw for Commercial/Industrial zones: 


10.1  Greenhouse must make up more than 50 percent of principal building use. 


10.2  Only doors that can open completely without violating the minimum setback distances 
to property lines, roadways, rights‐of‐way and easements shall be permitted. 


10.3  No outdoor storage  is permitted on  the  lot unless  it  is screened by a minimum 1.8 m 
(6 ft)  high  opaque  screening  or  to  the  satisfaction  of  the  Municipal  Planning 
Commission. 


10.4  If the  lot  is directly adjacent to a residential zone, a minimum 1.8 m (6 ft) high opaque 
screening must  be  erected  along  the  border with  the  residential  zone  unless  lesser 
requirements  are  agreed  to  by  both  the  Municipal  Planning  Commission  and  the 
adjacent residential property owner. 


10.5  Greenhouse structure drawings must be approved by a qualified engineer. 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


A
LT
ER


N
A
TI
V
E 
EN


ER
G
Y 


Schedule 8 


ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 77 


A
LT
ER


N
A
TI
V
E 
EN


ER
G
Y 


Schedule 8 


ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


SECTION 1  ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


1.1  All alternative energy sources must follow the Government regulation guidelines. 


1.2  Micro‐generation units guideline basic  summary  states alternative energy  sized  solely 
for personal consumption. 


1.3  Small  scale  generation  regulations  states must be  connected  to  a distribution  system 
and a name plate capacity that will not exceed the electric distribution system hosting 
capacity at the interconnection point, typically maximum 25 mega Watts. 


1.4  All alternative energy sources must obtain a development permit. 


1.5  Roof  mounted  solar  panels  are  permitted;  all  other  sources  are  classified  as 
discretionary and must obtain approval  from  the Municipal Planning Commission with 
the following stipulations and others as seem fit. 


(a)  site plan indicating the location of the development on the parcel and all building, 
structures,  registered  easements,  or  right  of ways,  dimensioned  to  the  property 
lines and draw to satisfactory scale; 


(b)  existing and proposed parking, loading areas, abutting streets, avenues and lanes; 


(c)  photographs and plans of the proposed project indicating: 


(i)  rated Kilo Watt output, 


(ii)  safety features, 


(iii)  estimated life span, 


(iv)  specifications on the anchor and guy wire design, 


(v)  engineer plans prepared by a professional for units mounted or attached to a 
building, demonstrating that the building can support the equipment. 


1.6  Alternative energy sources may be, but are not limited to: 


(a)  solar panels; 


(b)  bladeless wind turbine; 


(c)  blade windmill maximum  1.5 m  (5  ft)  blade  –  blades  larger  than  1.5 m  are  not 
permitted; 


(d)  geothermal conductors. 
 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


C
A
N
N
A
B
IS
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


Schedule 9 


CANNABIS REGULATION 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  Page  | 79 


C
A
N
N
A
B
IS
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


Schedule 9 


CANNABIS REGULATION 


SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS 


CANNABIS  refers  to  the plant cannabis sativa and  is as defined  in  the Government of Canada 
Cannabis Act. 


CANNABIS ACCESSORY  refers  to  the products used  in  the  consumption of  cannabis and  is as 
defined in the Government of Canada Cannabis Act. 


CANNABIS  PRODUCTION  FACILITY  means  development  where  medical  cannabis  is  grown, 
processed, packaged, tested, destroyed, stored or loaded for shipping. 


CANNABIS RETAIL  STORE means  a  development  for  the  retail  sale  of  cannabis  and  cannabis 
accessories  but  does  not  include  cannabis  production  facility.    The  use  is  defined  by  its 
separation from other uses (as defined) as follows: 


(a) 25.0  m  from  the  property  line  of  a  cannabis  retail  store  to  the  property  line  of  any
residential district;


(b) 100.0 m from the property line of a cannabis retail store to the property line of a hospital
or school.


SECTION 2  CANNABIS RETAIL STORE 


All cannabis retail stores are subject to the following requirements: 


2.1  Prior  to applying  for a municipal development permit  for a Cannabis Retail Store,  the 
applicant is required to apply to the Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission (AGLC) for a 
determination  of  eligibility  to  obtain  a  license,  and  submit  verification  of  the  AGLC 
eligibility as part of the development application. 


2.2  As  part  of  the  development  application,  the  applicant  shall  demonstrate  how  the 
building  location and design  comply with all  requirements under  the Alberta Gaming, 
Liquor and Cannabis Regulation. 


2.3  That the developer or applicant or owner provide copies of all approved Alberta Gaming 
and Liquor Commission licenses as a condition of the development permit. 


2.4  The hours of operation for the business shall be limited to 10 a.m. to 5 p.m. daily. 


2.5  All  signage  for  the Cannabis Retail  Store use  shall be  in  accordance with  the Alberta 
Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis Regulation. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


80 | Page   Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


C
A
N
N
A
B
IS
 R
EG


U
LA
TI
O
N
 


SECTION 3  CANNABIS PRODUCTION FACILITY 


All cannabis production facilities shall meet the following requirements: 


3.1  The  owner  or  applicant must  provide  as  a  condition  of  development  a  copy  of  the 
current license for all activities associated with cannabis production as issued by Health 
Canada. 


3.2  The owner or applicant must obtain any other approval, permit, authorization, consent 
or license that may be required to ensure compliance with applicable federal, provincial 
or other municipal legislation. 


3.3  The development must be done  in a manner where all of the processes and  functions 
are  fully enclosed within  a  stand‐alone building  including  all  loading  stalls  and docks, 
and garbage containers and waste material. 


3.4  The development shall not operate in conjunction with another approved use. 


3.5  The development shall not  include an outdoor area  for storage of goods, materials or 
supplies. 


3.6  The  development must  include  equipment  designed  and  intended  to  remove  odours 
from the air where it is discharged from the building as part of a ventilation system. 


3.7  The  development  must  not  be  within  75.0  metres  of  a  residential  or  a  public 
institutional district, measured  from  the building  foundation containing  the use  to  the 
nearest  property  line  of  a  parcel  designated  as  a  residential  or  a  public  institutional 
district. 


3.8  The Development Authority may  require,  as  a  condition  of  a  development  permit,  a 
public utility and waste management plan, completed by a qualified professional  that 
includes detail on: 


(a)  the incineration of waste products and airborne emissions, including smell; 


(b)  the  quantity  and  characteristics  of  liquid  and waste material  discharged  by  the 
facility; and 


(c)  the method and location of collection and disposal of liquid and waste material. 
 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


FO
R
M
S 
A
N
D
 N
O
TI
C
ES
 


FO
R
M
S 
A
N
D
 N
O
TI
C
ES
 


APPENDIX A 


FORMS AND NOTICES 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


Village of Glenwood 
PO Box 1084, 59 Main Avenue 
Glenwood, AB, T0K 2R0 


403-626-3233 (T) 
403-626-3234 (F) 


admin@glenwood.ca 
 


  Page 1 of 2 
 


 
 


Village of Glenwood 
Development Application 


FORM A 
 


OFFICE USE ONLY 


 


Application #:    Land Use Zone:    


Received By:    Required Information Attached?:  Y   N  


Application Fee:   (Non‐Refundable)    Paid?:   
 


 
 


Applicant will complete the rest of the form: 
 
I/WE hereby make application under the provisions of the LAND USE BYLAW No. 192‐2019 to develop or use land and/or 
buildings in accordance with the plans and information submitted, which form a part of this application. 
 


Applicant’s Name:     Phone:   


Street Address:   


Mailing Address:   


Email Address:   


Registered Owner’s Name:   Alt Phone:   
 


(Continue on reverse side of page) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


  Page 2 of 2 
 


Proposed Development 
(Fill out all that apply) 


 


Street Address (if different from above):   


Legal Description:    Plan     Block     Lot   
 


Proposed Development:   
 


For Principal Building:    Height     Percentage of lot occupied    


Setback from:    Front yard     Rear yard     Side Yard   
 


Square Footage:   


Main Floor     Upper Floor     Basement   
              (If developed) 


Garage     Decks     Other   
              (Specify) 


 


Accessory Building 1:    Height     Percentage of lot occupied    


Setback from:    Front yard     Rear yard     Side Yard   
 


Accessory Building 2:    Height     Percentage of lot occupied    


Setback from:    Front yard     Rear yard     Side Yard   
 


Additional Application Requirements:   


 Site Plan (two sets)     Drainage Plan     Building Plans (three sets)   


 


Note: If approved development may proceed only on that portion which has been accounted for herein. 
 
Declaration: 


I hereby apply  for permission  to  carry out  the development described above and/or on  the attached plans and 
specifications.   I agree to comply with any other bylaws that are applicable.   I am aware that I will be required to 
pay for all local improvement costs, which include drainage, sidewalks, road base preparation, street lighting, water 
& sewer main extensions, utility connection fees and installation cost at the established rate.  I further certify that 
the owner of the land described above is aware and approves of this application. 


 
 


    
Signature of Applicant    Date   


 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


Village of Glenwood 


Notice of Decision on  
Application for a Development Permit 


 


FORM B  DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION NO.  ______________  


 


NAME:  ______________________________________________________________________________   


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________   


In the matter of development of property located at __________________________________________   


  ____________________________________________________________________________________   


 


The development as specified in Application No. ____________________________ has been: 


 APPROVED 


 APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
 
 
 


 REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE:  ___________________________   SIGNED:  _________________________________________   
  Development Officer 


NOTES: 


1.  You may appeal this decision by written notice to the Secretary of the Subdivision and Development Appeal 
Board within 21 days after date on which  the written decision  is given under section 642 of  the Municipal 
Government Act. 


2.  A  development  permit  becomes  effective  21  days  after  the  date  it  is  issued,  unless  an  appeal  is  lodged 
pursuant  to  section 683 of  the Municipal Government Act.    If an appeal  is  lodged,  then a permit will only 
become effective upon a Subdivision and Development Appeal Board decision confirming it. 


3.  Approval of a development in no way removes the need to obtain any permit or approval required under any 
Federal, Provincial or Municipal legislation, order and/or regulations pertaining to the development including 
a building permit. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


  Page 1 of 2 
 


 


Village of Glenwood 
 


Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


Development Permit 


Permitted 


 


FORM C 


Permit No.:   


Applicant Permit Holder(s):   


Development Address:   


Land Description:   


Mailing Address:   


Phone No.(s):   
 


This Development Permit is hereby issued subject to the following conditions: 


1.  That any outstanding permit fees owing be paid in full before commencement of construction. 


2.  That the construction of the development be implemented as described in the site and building plans presented 
at the time of application. 


3.  The  applicant/developer must  contact  Alberta  1st  Call  (1‐800‐242‐3447)  to  locate  any  utility  lines  prior  to 
construction. 


4.  The development must be implemented in conjunction with the existing landscaping grades of neighboring lots.  
All drainage must  either be  retained on  your property or  flow  street  side.    The developer  is  responsible  for 
implementing a drainage plan  to deal with  the drainage  issues  that will or may arise  from  this development.  
NOTE: If the drainage plan fails to properly address the existing collection of storm drainage on and from this lot 
as determined by the Chief Administrative Officer, an alternate drainage solution is required to be implemented 
to the satisfaction of the Chief Administrative Officer at the developer’s expense. 


5.  If applicable and in the interest of public safety and as required by the Safety Codes Act, the applicant/developer 
is  responsible  for  obtaining  a  Building  Permit  and  any  other  applicable  safety  codes  permits  (i.e.  electrical, 
plumbing, gas).  These are processed through the Safety Code Inspection Agency of your choice. 


6.  Refuse and garbage during construction shall be kept  in appropriate containers and shall be properly screened 
and placed in an approved enclosure until removed for disposal.  The applicant/developer is responsible for all 
construction waste and garbage, and  is financially responsible for the clean‐up of the same.   Note: Those who 
fail this condition may be subject to a development fine, as well as associated clean‐up costs. 


 


IMPORTANT NOTE:  Those who are found in violation of any of these conditions risk having this permit made null and void, thereby 
causing this development to be deemed illegal.  All illegal developments may be subject to a stop work order, a development fine, 
demolition of said development at the developer's expense, or any combination thereof. 
 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


  Page 2 of 2 
 


 


You are hereby authorized to proceed with the development specified 21 days after the date on which this permit has 
been issued, provided that: 
a)  any stated conditions are complied with, 
b)  the development is in accordance with the application and plans as approved, and 
c)  any applicable safety code permits are also acquired. 
 
 


Signed:      Date:     
  Development Officer       


 
 


TERMS APPLICABLE TO DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 
 


CONDITIONS OF DECISION  The decision on this application applies only to the use and development described in the 
decision.  A  separate  application  is  required  for  the  extension  or  amendment  of  a 
development permit, or any other development (e.g. signs) not included in this application. 


PERMIT EXPIRY  A development  for which a permit has been  issued must be  commenced or  carried out 
with reasonable diligence within 12 months from the date of  its  issuance, and completed 
within 24 months. 


PERMIT NOT TRANSFERABLE  A development permit is valid only for the location and project for which it was issued. 


PERMIT AUTHORITY  A  development  permit  indicates  that  only  the  development  to  which  it  relates  is 
authorized in accordance with the provisions of the Land Use Bylaw and in no way relieves 
or excuses the applicant  from complying with  the Land Use Bylaw or any other bylaw of 
the municipality or any applicable provincial or federal legislation. 


OTHER PERMITS AND LICENCES  A  development  permit  is  not  a  building  permit,  plumbing  permit,  electrical  permit,  a 
permit  to  install  underground  or  above‐ground  fuel  tanks,  a  permit  issued  by  a  Public 
Health Inspector, or a business license. Other separate permits or licenses may be required 
by municipal, provincial or federal authorities. 


  FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


  Page 1 of 2 
 


 


Village of Glenwood 
 


Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


Development Permit 


Discretionary 


 


FORM C 


Permit No.:   


Applicant Permit Holder(s):   


Development Address:   


Land Description:   


Mailing Address:   


Phone No.(s):   
 


This Development Permit is hereby issued subject to the following conditions: 


1.  That any outstanding permit fees owing be paid in full before commencement of construction. 


2.  That the construction of the development be implemented as described in the site and building plans presented 
at the time of application. 


3.  The  applicant/developer must  contact  Alberta  1st  Call  (1‐800‐242‐3447)  to  locate  any  utility  lines  prior  to 
construction. 


4.  The development must be implemented in conjunction with the existing landscaping grades of neighboring lots.  
All drainage must  either be  retained on  your property or  flow  street  side.    The developer  is  responsible  for 
implementing a drainage plan  to deal with  the drainage  issues  that will or may arise  from  this development.  
NOTE: If the drainage plan fails to properly address the existing collection of storm drainage on and from this lot 
as determined by the Chief Administrative Officer, an alternate drainage solution is required to be implemented 
to the satisfaction of the Chief Administrative Officer at the developer’s expense. 


5.  If applicable and in the interest of public safety and as required by the Safety Codes Act, the applicant/developer 
is  responsible  for  obtaining  a  Building  Permit  and  any  other  applicable  safety  codes  permits  (i.e.  electrical, 
plumbing, gas).  These are processed through the Safety Code Inspection Agency of your choice. 


6.  Refuse and garbage during construction shall be kept  in appropriate containers and shall be properly screened 
and placed in an approved enclosure until removed for disposal.  The applicant/developer is responsible for all 
construction waste and garbage, and is financially responsible for the clean‐up of the same.   Note: Those who 
fail this condition may be subject to a development fine, as well as associated clean‐up costs. 


 
 


IMPORTANT NOTE:  Those who are found in violation of any of these conditions risk having this permit made null and void, thereby 
causing this development to be deemed illegal.  All illegal developments may be subject to a stop work order, a development fine, 
demolition of said development at the developer's expense, or any combination thereof. 
 


 


   


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


  Page 2 of 2 
 


 


There is a 21 day appeal period whereby affected individuals may appeal either the granting of this permit or conditions 
placed upon it.  Therefore, if no appeal has been made, this permit takes effect on: 
    . 
 


At that time you are hereby authorized to proceed with the development specified, provided that: 
a)  any stated conditions are complied with, 
b)  the development is in accordance with the application and plans as approved, and 
c)  any applicable safety code permits are also acquired. 
 
If such an appeal is made then this permit shall be null and void. 
 


Signed:      Date:     
  Development Officer       


 
 


TERMS APPLICABLE TO DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 
 


CONDITIONS OF DECISION  The decision on this application applies only to the use and development described in the 
decision.  A  separate  application  is  required  for  the  extension  or  amendment  of  a 
development permit, or any other development (e.g. signs) not included in this application. 


APPEALS  This  Permit  is  granted  as  a  Discretionary  Use  Permit  based  on  the  regulations 
outlined  in  the  Land  Use  Bylaw.    Therefore,  you may  appeal  this  order  to  the 
Subdivision  and  Development  Appeal  Board  according  to  section  685.2  of  the 
Municipal Government Act (Chapter M‐26).  If you wish to exercise this right, then 
written notice of appeal with reasons and the applicable fee must be served to the 
Secretary of the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board, Village of Glenwood 
Office,  PO  Box  1084,  59 Main  Avenue, Glenwood,  AB,  T0K  2R0 within  21  days 
following the date of issuance of this permit. 


PERMIT EXPIRY  A development  for which a permit has been  issued must be  commenced or  carried out 
with reasonable diligence within 12 months from the date of  its  issuance, and completed 
within 24 months. 


PERMIT NOT TRANSFERABLE  A development permit is valid only for the location and project for which it was issued. 


PERMIT AUTHORITY  A  development  permit  indicates  that  only  the  development  to  which  it  relates  is 
authorized in accordance with the provisions of the Land Use Bylaw and in no way relieves 
or excuses the applicant  from complying with  the Land Use Bylaw or any other bylaw of 
the municipality or any applicable provincial or federal legislation. 


OTHER PERMITS AND LICENCES  A  development  permit  is  not  a  building  permit,  plumbing  permit,  electrical  permit,  a 
permit  to  install  underground  or  above‐ground  fuel  tanks,  a  permit  issued  by  a  Public 
Health  Inspector,  or  a  business  license.    Other  separate  permits  or  licenses  may  be 
required by municipal, provincial or federal authorities. 


 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


Village of Glenwood 


Notice of Municipal Planning  
Commission Meeting 


 


FORM D  APPLICATION NO.  _____________  


 
 
Notice  is hereby given that an application  is being made for a development permit with regard to the 
following: 
 
NAME OF APPLICANT: 
 
 
TYPE OF DEVELOPMENT: 
 
 
 
 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF SITE: 
 
 
 
 
 
PLACE OF MEETING:   ___________________________________________________________________   
 
TYPE OF MEETING:   ____________________________________________________________________   
 
DATE OF MEETING:  ____________________________________________________________________   
 
 
Any person affected by  the said proposal has  the  right  to present a written brief prior  to  the hearing 
and/or to be present and be heard at the meeting. 
 
Persons requesting to be heard at the meeting shall submit a written request to be heard to the Village 
of Glenwood not later than: 
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
 
 
DATE:  ___________________________   SIGNED:  _________________________________________   
  Development Officer 
  Village of Glenwood 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


 


Village of Glenwood 


Application for Time Extension 
 


 


FORM E  APPLICATION NO.  _____________  


 
 
I/We __________________________________________________________  being the registered owner 
 
or person authorized to act on behalf of the registered owner with respect to: 
 
Application No.   _______________________________________________________________________   
 
For:  _________________________________________________________________________________   
 
Located on (legal description):  ___________________________________________________________   
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
Do hereby agree to a time extension of:   ____________  days, until  _____________________________   
 
on  the understanding  that  if a decision has not been made by  this  time,  I may deem  the application 


refused and appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board in accordance with the provisions 


of the Municipal Government Act. 


 
 
DATE:  ____________________    _____________________________________________________   
    Signature of Registered Owner/Person Acting on behalf of: 


 
 
     _____________________________________________________   
    Signature of Witness 


 
 
 
DATE:  ____________________    _____________________________________________________   
    Signature of Development Officer – Village of Glenwood 


 
 
     _____________________________________________________   
    Signature of Witness 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


Village of Glenwood 


STOP ORDER 
 
 


FORM F  APPLICATION NO.  _____________  


 
 
TO THE REGISTERED OWNER:  ____________________________________________________________   
 
ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________   
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  Lot(s) __________________  Block _____________  Plan  ___________________   
 
  Quarter  __________   Section ___________   Township  _____________  Range _____________   
 
 
PLEASE  TAKE  NOTICE  that  in  accordance with  the Municipal  Government  Act,  section  645,  you  are 
HEREBY ORDERED TO: 
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
  ____________________________________________________________________________________   
 
 
 
BE ADVISED  that pursuant  to  sections 557  and 566 of  the Municipal Government Act,  a person who 
contravenes an order under section 645,  is guilty of an offense and  is  liable to a fine of not more than 
$10,000 or  to  imprisonment  for not more  than one  year, or  to both  fine  and  imprisonment;  and be 
FURTHER ADVISED that pursuant to section 685 of the Municipal Government Act, you may appeal this 
order to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board.  If you wish to exercise this right, then written 
notice of appeal with reasons and the applicable fee must be served to the Secretary of the Subdivision 
and Appeal Board, Village of Glenwood Office, PO Box 1084, 59 Main Avenue, Glenwood, AB, T0K 2R0 
within 21 days following the date of issuance of this notice. 
 
 
 
DATE:  ___________________________   SIGNED:  _________________________________________   
  Development Officer 
  Village of Glenwood 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


Village of Glenwood 


Application for a  
Land Use Bylaw Amendment 


 


FORM G  APPLICATION NO.  _____________  


 


APPLICANT:  __________________________________________________________________________   


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________   


REGISTERED OWNER:   __________________________________________________________________   


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________   


EMAIL ADDRESS:  ______________________________________________________________________   


LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  Lot(s) ________________  Block  ______________  Plan  ___________________   


  Quarter  __________   Section ___________   Township  _____________  Range _____________   


PROPOSED AMENDMENT: 


FROM:  ______________________________________________________________________________   


TO:  _________________________________________________________________________________   


APPLICANT'S SUBMISSION: 


Please state your reasons for applying for this amendment.  Attach a separate sheet if necessary. 


  ____________________________________________________________________________________   


  ____________________________________________________________________________________   


REGISTERED OWNER OR PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF: 


I certify that  I am the registered owner or that the registered owner(s) of the  land described above  is 
aware of this application. 


Fees Submitted $   _________________  


Receipt No.  ______________________  


 


DATE:  ___________________________   SIGNED: _________________________________________   
  Applicant 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


TE
LE
C
O
M
M
U
N
IC
A
TI
O
N
 A
N
TE
N
N
A
 


SI
TI
N
G
 P
R
O
TO


C
O
L 
EX
C
LU


SI
O
N
 L
IS
T APPENDIX B 


TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA 
SITING PROTOCOL EXCLUSION LIST 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2015  APPENDIX B | 1  


APPENDIX B 


TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA  
SITING PROTOCOL EXCLUSION LIST 


Industry Canada has determined that certain antenna structures are considered to have minimal impact 
on  the  local  surroundings and do not  require consultation with  the Land Use Authority or  the public.  
The  following  excerpt  from  Industry  Canada’s  publication,  “Radiocommunication  and  Broadcasting 
Antenna Systems CPC‐2‐0‐03” lists the types of antenna installations exempted from the requirement to 
consult with the local land use authority and the public.  The installations listed are therefore excluded 
from Schedule 5 Section 7, Telecommunication Antenna Siting Protocol in the Village of Glenwood Land 
Use Bylaw. 
 
Section 6. Exclusions 
 
For the following types of  installations, proponents are excluded from the requirement to consult with 
the land use authority and the public, but must still fulfill the General Requirements outlined in section 7 
[of CPC‐2‐0‐03]: 


 maintenance of existing radio apparatus including the antenna system, transmission line, mast, 
tower or other antenna‐supporting structure; 


 addition or modification of an antenna system (including improving the structural integrity of its 
integral mast to facilitate sharing), the transmission line, antenna‐supporting structure or other 
radio apparatus to existing infrastructure, a building, water tower, etc. provided the addition or 
modification does not result in an overall height increase above the existing structure of 25% of 
the original structure’s height; 


 maintenance  of  an  antenna  system’s  painting  or  lighting  in  order  to  comply with  Transport 
Canada’s requirements; 


 installation, for a limited duration (typically not more than 3 months), of an antenna system that 
is used for a special event, or one that is used to support local, provincial, territorial or national 
emergency  operations  during  the  emergency,  and  is  removed  within  3  months  after  the 
emergency or special event; and 


 new  antenna  systems,  including masts,  towers or other  antenna‐supporting  structure, with  a 
height  of  less  than  15 metres  above  ground  level.    Individual  circumstances  vary with  each 
antenna system installation and modification, and the exclusion criteria above should be applied 
in consideration of local circumstances.  Consequently, it may be prudent for the proponents to 
consult  the  Land Use Authority  and  the public even  though  the proposal meets  an exclusion 
noted above.   Therefore, when applying the criteria for exclusion, proponents should consider 
such things as: 


o the antenna system’s physical dimensions, including the antenna, mast, and tower, 
compared to the local surroundings; 


o the  location of  the proposed antenna system on  the property and  its proximity  to 
neighbouring residents; 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


APPENDIX B | 2    Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2015 


o the likelihood of an area being a community‐sensitive location; and 


o Transport  Canada marking  and  lighting  requirements  for  the  proposed  structure.  
Proponents who are not certain if their proposed structure is excluded, or whether 
consultation may  still  be  prudent,  are  advised  to  contact  the  land‐use  authority 
and/or Industry Canada for guidance. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


FE
E 
SC
H
ED


U
LE
 


APPENDIX C 


FEE SCHEDULE 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


  Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019  APPENDIX C | 1  


 


APPENDIX C 


FEE SCHEDULE 


1.  The  following  fees  shall  accompany  all  applications  for developments made with  respect  to  this 


land use bylaw:*  
 


(a)  Residential 


 single‐family homes  ................................................................................................  $100.00 


 garages  .....................................................................................................................  $50.00 


 modular/manufactured homes  ..............................................................................  $100.00 


 residential additions  ...............................................................................................  $100.00 


 multi‐family dwellings (per unit)  ............................................................................  $100.00 


 special residential uses including half‐way houses, group homes 
day care, nursing homes, etc.  .................................................................................  $200.00 


 decks, carports, fences  .............................................................................................  $25.00 
 


(b)  Commercial, including government office buildings 


 car lots, trailer sales, parking garages, etc.  ............................................................  $200.00 


 commercial buildings: 


less than 5,000 sq. ft. (465 m2)  ...........................................................................  $200.00 


5,000 ‐ 20,000 sq. ft. (465 ‐ 1,858 m2)  ................................................................  $350.00 


20,001 ‐ 50,000 sq. ft. (1,859 ‐ 4,645 m2)  ...........................................................  $600.00 
 


(c)  Industrial 


 Industrial and warehouse buildings: 


less than 5,000 sq. ft. (465 m2)  ...........................................................................  $200.00 


5,000 ‐ 20,000 sq. ft. (465 ‐ 1,858 m2)  ................................................................  $300.00 


20,001 ‐ 50,000 sq. ft. (1,859 ‐ 4,645 m2)  ...........................................................  $400.00 


 Multi‐tenancy industrial buildings or complexes exceeding 
50,000 sq. ft. (4,645 m2)  .........................................................................................  $600.00 


   


                                                            
* See Section 4 of this Schedule. 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


APPENDIX C | 2    Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192‐2019 


(d)  Miscellaneous 


 public service buildings such as churches, schools, auditoriums, 
fire halls, police stations, etc.: 


under 10,000 sq. ft. (929 m2) ................................................................................$250.00 


10,000 sq. ft. (929 m2) and over ...........................................................................$400.00 


 sign permits for freestanding structures ..................................................................$100.00 


 sign permits ................................................................................................................ $50.00 


 sign for a home occupation ........................................................................................ $50.00 


 land use bylaw amendments (per title) ...................................................................$600.00 


 request to convene a special meeting of the Subdivision and 
Development Appeal Board or the Municipal Planning Commission ......................$400.00 


 appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board 
(of which $200.00 will be refunded if appeal is successful) .....................................$400.00 


 
2.  Where  the  permit  fees  are  on  a  graduated  scale,  as  shown  above  for  residential,  commercial, 


industrial  and miscellaneous  uses,  the  said  fees  shall  be  based  exclusively  on  the  category  into 
which the proposed development falls. 


 
3.  Whenever an application  is  received  for a development  for a use not  listed  in  this  schedule,  the 


amount  of  the  fee  shall  be  determined  by  the  development  officer  or  the Municipal  Planning 
Commission and shall be consistent with those fees listed herein for similar developments. 


 
4.  Whenever,  pursuant  to  the  provisions  of  this  bylaw,  an  application  for  a  discretionary  use will 


require notification of any persons who may be affected by  the development,  the applicant shall 
pay,  in addition to any fee specified  in this schedule, an additional fee of $50.00 to cover costs of 
notification. 


 
5.  Whenever, in the opinion of the development officer, an application is substantially revised after it 


has been submitted, the applicant shall pay a supplementary fee equal to 50 percent of the initial 
application  fee.    Such  a  supplementary  fee  shall  not  be  required  if  changes  suggested  by  the 
development officer or the Municipal Planning Commission resulted in the revisions. 


 
6.  Where a development has been commenced prior to a development application being approved, or 


where a stop order has been  issued pursuant  to  the  land use bylaw,  the  fee  for any subsequent 
application for that development shall be twice the amount specified in this schedule for that use. 


 
7.  The Municipal Planning Commission reserves the right to waive any of the above‐noted fees given 


the circumstances associated with the development application. 
 


FIN
AL D


RAFT







 


 


LA
N
D
 U
SE
 D
IS
TR


IC
TS
 M


A
P
 


APPENDIX D 


LAND USE DISTRICTS MAP 
 


 


FIN
AL D


RAFT
































 


Feb 11, 2020 


To whom it may concern 


I have just heard about the reckless decision to terminate Melissa 


Lybbert from her position as librarian. I must admit I was shocked to 


hear this news. In any of my dealings with the library, Melissa has gone 


above and beyond her job to help me. If it is a personality conflict with 


the board members, maybe they should check their own credentials 


and motivation in making such a rash decision. It seems to me that 


Melissa has run classes and activities as well as fund raising projects to 


make the library experience in this community a positive one. Although 


I am not fully aware of the details  of the situation, to relieve someone 


from their duties without any warning, written or verbal, is not only 


cruel, it is unethical and a violation of her rights, not to mention a 


violation of your  own bylaw policy for dismissal.  There are ways to 


handle these matters in a more civilized and professional manner.  


Needless to say, at this point, I am disappointed in such unprofessional 


conduct by village council and the library board.  


 


Yours truly 


Myrna Layton 


 


















2. Project Description 


The Oldman River Region GIS partnership is seeking grant funding to enhance their GIS infrastructure to 


meet the needs of evolving requirements for its 45 member municipalities. The partnership’s current 


version of GIS software is approaching the end of its lifecycle, and in that time not only has the 


landscape of GIS sophistication changed, but the amount of different types of GIS users within a 


municipality has increased exponentially. GIS information is now a key component that ties in multiple 


facets within a municipality from planning, finance, public works, and policing while at the same time, 


provides front line access to municipal rate payers.  The partnership aims to utilize a software package 


provided by ESRI, the worldwide leader in geospatial software, to build a new, highly functional and 


expandable GIS solution that will provide all users with the necessary tools to make informed decisions.  


The membership will rely on a long‐standing and successful relationship with the Oldman River Regional 


Services Commission (ORRSC) who has acted as their GIS contractor for the past 17 years to offer 


guidance throughout the enhancement process. Along with ORRSC’s guidance, the members will play 


the most important role in the enhancement project as they, in the end, are the users of the GIS system 


and will be providing constant input to help mold and shape the final project. The consultation will 


include frequent “inside looks” at the performance and layout of each member site individually as it is 


being built.  


The enhancement project will first produce a new GIS viewer for all users using Geocortex software. 


Geocortex is a Canadian GIS solution offered as part of a suite from ESRI Canada and is an award winning 


GIS viewer that is used across many municipalities in Canada and the United States. The Geocortex 


software is scalable and can be continually expanded with additional tools, reporting functions, and 


workflows to meet the needs of large municipalities while on the other hand, can be easily simplified for 


use in a small municipality. The use of Geocortex allows for never before seen customization using 


workflows to create custom operations within the GIS itself.  


Secondly, the project will allow the use of feature rich web mapping applications which have become 


very prevalent in the world of GIS in the past five years. Member municipalities will be able to have ad‐


hoc web mapping applications created in very little time that are able to serve a very specific purpose. 


These applications can be department specific and can be created for use over various periods of time 


from an app showing a parade route that will only be used for a few weeks, to a permanent application 


that takes users on a walking tour of the municipality which highlights historic buildings. The latter map, 


known as a “tour” map was voted as one of the top new features of the ESRI web map applications and 


is now being used by municipalities to aid tourism and economic development. 


This enhancement project with the assistance of renowned software solutions provided by ESRI will 


greatly increase each of the 45 members’ efficiency, accountability and service delivery to their rate 


payers. 








Alberta Community Partnership – IC Council Resolution 
 
 
 
1)  Be it resolved that we authorize the  ___________________________________________    
  (Name of Municipality) 


 
  to participate in an application for the 2020 Oldman River Region GIS Enhancement Project   


 submitted by the Town of Coaldale under the  Intermunicipal Collaboration component 
Alberta Community Partnership Grant, further 


 
 
2)  That the   _____________________________________________  , a participant, agrees to 
  (Name of Municipality) 


 
  abide by the terms of the Conditional Grant Agreement, governing the purpose and use of 
 
  the grant funds. 
 
 
 
 
 
   ________________________________   
 
  Chief Elected Official or 
  Duly Authorized Signing Officer 


 
 
   ________________________________   
 
  Date 


 








 


 


Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 176-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 1 of 6 
 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
BYLAW # 176-2020 


 


Tax Installment Payment Plan Bylaw 
 


A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA FOR THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF A TAX INSTALLMENT PAYMENT PLAN. 


 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and amendments 
thereto, permits the Council of the Village of Glenwood to provide incentives for the payment 
of taxes; 
AND WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and 
amendments thereto, permits the Council of the Village of Glenwood to provide for the 
payment of taxes by installments; 
AND WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and 
amendments thereto, specifies penalties applied to outstanding taxes become part of the tax 
imposed on a property; 
AND WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and 
amendments thereto, gives the Council of the Village of Glenwood authority to cancel taxes 
imposed on a property; 
AND WHEREAS, the Council of the Village of Glenwood desires to establish a Tax Installment 
Payment Plan for the Village of Glenwood; 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, enacts as 
follows: 
 
 
1. TITLE AND DEFINITIONS: 


 
1.1 Title – This bylaw may be cited as the “Tax Installment Payment Plan Bylaw” 


 
1.2 Tax Installment Payment Plan – There is hereby established a plan for payment of 


taxes by installments to be known as the “Tax Installment Payment Plan”. 
 


1.3 Definitions – In this bylaw unless the context otherwise requires: 
(a) Municipality – means the Village of Glenwood; 
(b) CAO – means the Chief Administrative Officer of the Village. 
(c) Council – Village council, duly assembled, serving in its legal capacity. 
(d) Plan – means the Tax Installment Payment Plan established pursuant to 


Section 1.2 of this bylaw; 
(e) Taxes – means all taxes imposed by the municipality pursuant to the 


Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 and amendments 
thereto, or any other statute of the Province of Alberta including property 







 


 


Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 176-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 2 of 6 
 


taxes and local improvement taxes and any other taxers on land or 
improvements. 


(f) Taxpayer – means a person required to pay taxes; 
(g) Year – means calendar year – January through December. 


 
 
2. APPLICATION: 


 
2.1 A taxpayer may apply to the CAO prior to December 15 of any year to pay the taxes 


payable by the taxpayer for the following year, pursuant to the Plan. 
 


2.2 An application pursuant to Subsection 2.1 shall be approved by the CAO provided 
the following conditions have been satisfied: 
(a) All outstanding taxes, tax arrears and penalties owed to the municipality by 


the taxpayer for property being included under the Plan have been paid by 
December 15 of the current year. 


(b) The taxpayer shall have completed an application form in a form prescribed 
by the CAO; 


(c) The taxpayer shall have completed such form or forms as may be required to 
enable the municipality to collect installment payments pursuant to the plan 
by way of pre-authorized transfer of funds, from an account of the taxpayer at 
a bank, treasury branch, trust company or credit union. 


 
 
3. MONTHLY INSTALLMENTS: 


 
3.1 For each year during which taxes are paid pursuant to the plan, taxes shall be paid 


as follows: 
(a) By twelve (12) monthly installments calculated pursuant to this section and 


payable on the fifteenth (15th) of each month of that year. 
 


3.2 Subject to Subsection 3.4 of this bylaw, the amount of the monthly installments to 
be paid pursuant to Subsection 3.1 shall be calculated as follows: 
(a) Subject to Subsection 3.3 of this bylaw, for the months of January to July, the 


monthly installments shall be equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the taxes by the 
taxpayer for the immediately preceding year’s taxes; 


(b) For the months August to December, the monthly installments shall be equal 
to one-fifth (1/5) of the taxes outstanding on August 1 of the current year. 


 
3.3 In the event of a change in the assessed value of land or improvements between the 


date that taxes are levied for the immediately preceding year and the end of the 
immediately preceding year, the CAO may calculate the monthly installments for 
January to July as one-twelfth (1/12) of the changed assessment multiplied by the 







 


 


Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 176-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 3 of 6 
 


applicable mill rate for the immediately preceding year, plus any applicable local 
improvement charges or other taxes on the land or improvements. 


 
3.4 Upon the written request of a taxpayer paying taxes pursuant to the plan, the CAO 


shall: 
(a) Increase the monthly installments payable by the taxpayer in equal amounts 


for the months January to July; 
(b) In the event that the total amount of the monthly installments payable for the 


months January to July exceed the taxes payable for the current year, the 
municipality shall, prior to July 31 of the current year, refund to the taxpayer 
the amount equal to the difference between the total amount of the monthly 
installments paid for the months January to July of the current year and the 
taxes payable for the current year. 


 
 


4. DISCOUNTS, INTEREST AND PENALTIES: 


 
4.1 Provided that a taxpayer paying taxes under the plan pays each monthly installment 


and makes an adjustment payment as provided in Section 3, penalties shall not be 
applied to the taxes or any portion thereof nor shall any discount or interest be 
allowed for the early payment of taxes. 


 
 


5. WITHDRAWAL FROM PLAN: 


 
5.1 A taxpayer paying taxes pursuant to the plan may withdraw from the plan at any 


time upon at least fourteen (14) days written notice to the CAO. 
 


5.2 In the event that a taxpayer withdraws from the plan by no later than July 31: 
(a) The taxes for the current year paid to the date of the withdrawal shall be 


retained by the municipality and credited towards the balance of the taxes 
payable for the current year. 


(b) The taxpayer shall be liable to penalties on all amounts of taxes remaining 
unpaid after July 31 of the current year. 


 
5.3 In the event that a taxpayer withdraws from the plan after July 31: 


(a) The taxes for the current year paid to the date of withdrawal shall be retained 
by the municipality and credited towards the balance of taxes payable for the 
current year; 


(b) The balance of the taxes payable by the taxpayer for the current year shall 
immediately become due and payable; 


(c) The taxpayer shall be liable to pay penalties on unpaid taxes accruing 
following withdrawal from the plan. 


 







 


 


Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 176-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 4 of 6 
 


6. DEFAULT: 


 
6.1 If a monthly installment of taxes remains unpaid by the twenty-fifth (25th) day of the 


month for which it is payable pursuant to this bylaw, a penalty equal to 1.5 percent 
(1.5%) of the monthly installment shall be imposed on the amount of the monthly 
installment payable to the taxpayer. 


 
6.2 In the event that a monthly installment remains unpaid as provided in Subsection 


6.1, the taxpayer responsible for payment of the monthly installment shall have the 
option to either: 
(a) Pay the monthly installment together with penalties imposed thereon by no 


later than the end of the month following the month for which the monthly 
installment is payable; or 


(b) Make a written request to the CAO by no later than the end of the month 
following the month for which the monthly installment is payable for a 
revision of the amounts of future monthly installments. 


 
6.3 Upon written request for revision of future monthly installments pursuant to 


Subsection 6.2 (b), the CAO shall revise the amounts of future monthly installments 
to provide for payment of the outstanding monthly installment, together with all 
penalties imposed thereon, in addition to the original monthly installments by the 
end of the year during which the outstanding monthly installment is payable. 
 


6.4 In the event that: 
(a) A monthly installment remains unpaid as provided for in Subsection 6.1, and 


the taxpayer responsible for payment of the monthly installment fails to 
either pay the monthly installment and penalties, or make written request for 
revision of future monthly installments as provided for in Subsection 6.3, or  


(b) Payment of any two monthly installments payable by a taxpayer during a year 
are not paid by the dates provided in Subsection 6.1; 


The participation of the taxpayer in the plan shall be automatically cancelled.  
 


6.5 In the event that the participation of a taxpayer in the plan is cancelled: 
(a) All taxes paid for the current year pursuant to the plan shall be retained and 


credited towards the balance of the taxes payable by the taxpayer for the 
current year 


(b) Subject to the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26, R.S.A. 2000 
and amendments thereto, the taxpayer shall be liable to pay all penalties: 
(i) Imposed on outstanding monthly installments pursuant to Subsection 


6.1 prior to cancellation; and 
(ii) Accruing following cancellation on the amount of taxes remaining 


unpaid. 
 
  







 


 


Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 176-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 5 of 6 
 


7. SALE OF LAND: 


 
7.1 A purchaser of property with respect to which payment of taxes is made pursuant 


to the plan may apply to the CAO to continue payment of taxes pursuant to the 
plan. 


 
7.2 An applicant pursuant to Subsection 7.1 shall be approved by the CAO provided the 


following conditions have been satisfied: 
(a) The monthly tax payment will be calculated on the outstanding balance at the 


time of application; 
(b) The purchaser shall have completed an application form in a form prescribed 


by the CAO; and 
(c) The purchaser shall have completed such form or forms provided by the CAO 


as may be required to enable the municipality to collect installment payments 
pursuant to the plan by way of pre-authorized transfer of funds from an 
account of the purchaser at a bank, treasury branch, trust company or credit 
union. 


 
 


8. ADJUSTMENT OF MONTHLY PAYMENTS: 


 
8.1 The CAO may revise the amounts of monthly installments payable under the plan: 


(a) To reflect changes to the assessed value of property or business; 
(b) To reflect the imposition or termination of local improvement charges; 
(c) To provide for payment pursuant to the plan of amounts which in the event of 


non-payment, are deemed at law to be taxes, or to be recoverable as or in the 
same manner as taxes. 


(d) Notice will be given by email or Canada Post no later than 30 days prior to any 
adjustment of monthly payment amount. 


 
 


9. SEVERABILITY: 


 
9.1 If any section, subsection or clause of this bylaw is for any reason held to be invalid 


by the decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision will not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of this bylaw. 


 
 
10. RESCINDING BYLAW: 


 
10.1 Bylaw #176-94 is hereby repealed. 


 
 







 


 


Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 176-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 6 of 6 
 


 
 
11. DATE OF COMMENCEMENT: 


 
11.1 This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 


 
Read a FIRST time this _____ day of _________, 2020. 
Read a SECOND time this _____ day of ___________, 2020. 
Read a THIRD time and finally passed this ____ day of __________, 2020. 
 
 
   


Albert Elias  Marilee Campbell 
Mayor  Chief Administrative Officer 


 
 





